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REVIEW OF 2021  
FINANCIAL YEAR

2021

Revenue  
increased by

4.2%
to R6.7 billion

Merchandise  
sales increased by 

6.7%
to R3.9 billion

Operating profit up

174.2% 

to R696 million

Total dividend of 

328 cents
per share

Headline earnings  
per share up

136.9%
to 616 cents

Gross profit 
margin at

41.8%

Earnings per share
increased by

148.3%
to 576 cents

Cash generated from 
operations

R915 million
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INTRODUCING THE 
INTEGRATED REPORT

Our 2021 Integrated Report aims to show how 
the Group preserved value for shareholders 
during the challenging months of lockdown and 
created value through a strong recovery in sales 
and profitability in the post lockdown phase.  
The impact of the pandemic and the related 
constraints on the Group’s operations, 
performance and stakeholders is addressed 
throughout the Integrated Report.

Reporting scope and boundary
The Report covers information relating to the integrated 
performance and activities of the Lewis Group, which 
includes the main operating company, Lewis Stores 
(Proprietary) Limited, and its subsidiaries (“the Group”)  
for the period 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021, except for  
the Remuneration Report which covers the period from  
28 August 2020 to 9 June 2021. The companies operate in 
South Africa, where 85.1% of the revenue is generated,  
as well as Namibia, Botswana, Eswatini and Lesotho.

The Reportable segments are:

•	 Traditional retail, comprising the credit-focused brands  
of Lewis, Best Home and Electric, and Beares; and

•	 Cash retail, comprising the United Furniture Outlets  
(UFO) chain.

There have been no changes in the Reporting scope and 
boundary over the past year.

The principle of materiality has again been applied in 
preparing the content and disclosure in this Report. 
Materiality is determined by the board. It includes internal  
and external issues that could positively or negatively affect 
the Group’s ability to create value over time and are likely to 
have a material impact on strategy, revenue and profitability.  
This excludes the disclosure of price-sensitive information  
or detail that could compromise the Group’s competitive 
position.

Lewis Group’s 2021 financial 
year commenced a few days 
after the start of the hard 
lockdown in late March 2020 
following the outbreak of the 
Covid-19 pandemic. The 
slowdown of the economy had 
a severe impact on the lives of 
many, while trading across 
several sectors was restricted 
through harsh lockdown 
regulations.

Governance and compliance
The Integrated Report reflects the Group’s commitment to 
good corporate governance, underpinned by the Reporting 
principles of accountability, transparency, balance and 
materiality.

Reporting complies with the requirements of the Companies 
Act and the JSE Listings Requirements while financial 
Reporting complies with International Financial Reporting 
Standards. The King IV Report on Corporate Governance for 
South Africa, 2016 (King lV) has been applied throughout 
the Reporting period. The Group’s application of the 16 
principles of King IV is outlined in the King lV Report 
available on lewisgroup.co.za.

The guiding principles of the Integrated Reporting 
Framework (“the Framework”) of the International 
Integrated Reporting Council have been applied in preparing 
this Report, noting the recent revisions to the Framework 
aimed at enhancing integrated Reporting.

Assurance
The Integrated Report has been reviewed by the board and 
has not been independently assured. The Group’s external 
auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers, has provided assurance 
on the annual financial statements and expressed an 
unqualified audit opinion. The auditor has also reviewed the 
accuracy of the financial information extracted from the 
annual financial statements that appears in the Integrated 
Report.

The non-financial and sustainability-related information in 
the Report has been approved by the board’s Social, ethics 
and transformation committee. Accredited service providers 
have verified selected non-financial indicators, including the 
B-BBEE rating and the measurement of carbon emissions. 
Management has verified the processes for measuring all 
other non-financial information.

Board approval
The board acknowledges its responsibility to ensure the 
integrity of the Integrated Report. The directors collectively 
confirm the Integrated Report addresses all material issues, 
the strategy, integrated performance as well as  
the Group’s prospects.

The Audit committee has oversight for the preparation of 
the Integrated Report and recommended the Report for 
approval by the board. The 2021 Integrated Report was 
unanimously approved by the board on 21 June 2021.

Hilton Saven Johan Enslin
Independent non-executive 
chairman

Chief executive officer

http://www.lewisgroup.co.za
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CHAIRMAN’S REPORT

Management’s response to the pandemic and the impact of 
the national lockdown on the business was decisive, with 
robust business continuity plans being implemented to 
manage risks, reduce costs, preserve cash and protect 
employees and other stakeholders.

The Group’s proven strategy was unchanged over the past 
year as management addressed the challenges posed by the 
lockdown trading restrictions and also capitalised on 
opportunities to innovate and change.

Rising unemployment has been an inevitable and unfortunate 
consequence of the economic restrictions imposed during 
2020 and into the early part of 2021. The national 
unemployment rate at March 2021 rose to a record level of 
32.6%. Customers in the Group’s lower to middle income 
target market are regrettably most vulnerable to these rising 
levels of unemployment.

Stellar financial performance 
Against this background the Group delivered a stellar 
all-round performance, and the board commends the 
management team under the leadership of Johan Enslin.

Solid merchandise sales growth, which was driven by strong 
cash sales, together with tight cost management, the 
improving quality of the debtors’ book and expanding 
margins, contributed to headline earnings increasing by 
126.4% to R463.0 million.

The directors declared a final dividend of 195 cents per share 
(2020: 65 cents), based on the targeted 55% payout ratio, 
which increased the total dividend for the year by 77.3% to 
328 cents per share. 

The trading and financial performance is detailed in the  
Chief executive officer’s Report (pages 30 to 31) and the  
Chief financial officer’s Report (pages 46 to 48).

After trading for a full year  
in the Covid-19 environment  
it is encouraging to Report  
to shareholders on how  
the Group has adapted to 
operating in these new 
conditions, created 
opportunities out of  
adversity and demonstrated 
the resilience of the  
business model.

Compelling investment case
The Group’s investment case remains compelling, as 
evidenced by the performance over the past year. Despite 
trading under the severe Covid-19 limitations, the Group has 
a robust balance sheet and a healthy cash balance at 
year-end.

Strong cash generation allows the Group to return funds  
to shareholders through dividend payments and share 
buy-backs, while also funding future growth through the 
investment in the debtors’ book and the store portfolio. 

The Group has an enviable track record of paying a dividend 
every year since listing on the JSE in 2004, even through 
the global financial crisis and the Covid-19 pandemic.

The share repurchase programme is an integral part of the 
capital management strategy and since the listing the Group 
has bought back 29% of all shares in issue.

During the Reporting period the Group returned a further  
R112 million to shareholders through the repurchase of 
shares, bringing the value returned to shareholders since the 
start of the current repurchase programme in 2017 to R474 
million. The commitment to the share buy-back programme 
highlights the potential that the board recognises to create 
value for shareholders. 

Operationally the business is well positioned. Certain 
debtors’ book metrics are at their highest levels in several 
years, despite us being in the midst of a financially 
devastating pandemic. Management continues to prudently 
expand the footprint of over 800 stores and ensure 
convenient access to our brands. 

Underpinning the Group’s growth story is the success of the 
diversification strategy, with the expansion of the target 
market in recent years to include higher income customers, 
enabling the Group to grow the proportion of cash sales 
and reduce its reliance on credit sales.

While trading conditions continue to be impacted by 
Covid-19, the directors believe that the business model has 
the resilience to absorb this short-term volatility. 

Our experienced management team are no strangers to 
operating in adverse conditions. Most of the executive had 
been together through the financial crisis of 2008 and 2009 
and subsequent periods of severe economic downturn with 
high levels of unemployment, so are well prepared for what 
lies ahead.

Board and governance 
The Group has a healthy mix of recently appointed and 
longer serving directors which stimulates debate and 
ensures continuity in our independent oversight. The board 
is diverse in its composition and experience which ensures 
that the interests of all stakeholder groups are addressed in 
the boardroom. 

There were no changes to the composition of the board 
during the year. Professor Fatima Abrahams, who chairs the 
Remuneration as well as the Social, ethics and 
transformation committees, was appointed as the lead 
independent non-executive director.

As a group and as a board we are committed to 
transformation and furthering the principles of broad-based 
black economic empowerment. The board has increased the 
voluntary targets for female and black director 
representation from 25% to 30%. Currently 38% of the 
directors are female and 38% are black in terms of the 
Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment Act. However, 
we consider board diversity in a broader context and also 
aim to achieve a balance in terms of age, board tenure, 
culture, skills and experience.

As a board we recognise that climate change is already  
a major risk affecting companies today, both through the 
impacts of steadily rising global temperatures and through 
policies adopted by governments across the world.  
In response to this risk, the group has appointed 
environmental and climate risk consultants to assist us 
with the formulation of a climate risk framework.

Appreciation
The performance of the past year can be attributed to  
the outstanding teamwork of our people. Thank you to  
our executive leadership, management and staff across 
South Africa and in the neighbouring countries for their 
hard work, commitment and resolve.

My highly experienced and insightful board colleagues have 
ensured that our governance practices have remained at 
their high standard in the virtual environment of the past 
year and I thank them for their continued support.

The advantages of mutually beneficial stakeholder 
relationships forged over several years have been evident 
throughout the Covid-19 pandemic and I thank our 
shareholders, customers, regulators, suppliers and business 
associates for their engagement and support during this 
time.

Hilton Saven
Independent non-executive chairman

Hilton Saven
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GROUP  
PROFILE

Founded in Cape Town in 1934, the Lewis Group 
has been listed on the JSE Limited since 2004. 
The Group employs 8 847 permanent staff and is 
a strong supporter of the local furniture 
manufacturing sector.

The Group has 681 stores across all metropolitan 
areas and in rural South Africa, as well as a 
significant footprint in neighbouring African 
countries. 

Diversification of brand portfolio
During the past 13 years the Group has expanded its portfolio 
beyond the traditional Lewis chain by developing brands 
internally and acquiring established retail chains with good 
growth prospects.

•	 Lewis is South Africa’s largest furniture chain and is 
synonymous with furniture retailing in the country. 

•	 Best Home and Electric was established in 2008, selling 
home appliances as well as furniture ranges.

•	 Beares, which was established in 1930, was acquired in 
2014 as the Group embarked on a strategy of diversifying 
across income groups, market segments and product 
offering.

•	 UFO, a luxury furniture chain targeting the higher income 
market, was acquired in 2018 and marked the Group’s 
diversification into cash retailing.

In South Africa 412 129 97 43 681

Outside South Africa 71 15 40 0 126

Stores – 31 March 2021 483 144 137 43 807

Stores – 31 March 2020 485 141 127 41 794

Lewis
Group  

Limited

14.4%

85.6%

2021

TRADITIONAL
CASH

Sales contribution  
from segments %

BRAND PROFILES
Brand Target market* Retail channel Product offering

LSM 4–7

412 stores in SA

Focus mainly on credit sales of 
household furniture, homeware, 
electrical appliances and home 

electronics. 

On average 90% of merchandise 
deliveries are completed within  

24 hours of the sale.

Tr
ad

it
io

na
l r

et
ai

l

71 stores outside SA

Average store size 317 m2

LSM 4–7

129 stores in SA

15 stores outside SA

Average store size 130 m2

LSM 7–9

97 stores in SA

40 stores outside SA

Average store size 366 m2

LSM 9+

43 stores in SA
Cash sales of exclusive and  
luxury household furniture,  

including lounge, dining room  
and bedroom ranges. C

as
h

Average store size 648 m2

* Based on Living Standards Measure

26 4 5 1 36

NORTHERN CAPE

WESTERN CAPE

LESOTHO

45 19 16 4 84

LIMPOPO

MPUMALANGA

47 18 12 3 80

KWAZULU-NATAL 46 12 13 5 76

ESWATINI 13 5 4 22

55 12 6 1 74

FREE STATE

GAUTENG

41 20 16 22 99

EASTERN CAPE

34 10 19 0 63

15 0 10 0 25

9 0 7 0 16

61 14 10 4 89

50 17 8 1 76

NAMIBIA

BOTSWANA

41 13 11 2 67

NORTH WEST

GEOGRAPHIC 
FOOTPRINT

African store 
footprint 
 
Lewis was one of the first 
South African retailers to 
expand into southern African 
countries from the late 1960s. 
In 2016 the Group acquired a 
portfolio of 56 stores in 
Botswana, Lesotho, Namibia 
and Eswatini which doubled 
the store presence outside of 
South Africa.

There are currently 126 stores 
outside South Africa which 
collectively accounted for 
14.9% of group revenue in the 
current financial year.

Credit  
management
 
Credit is offered to customers in 
the traditional retail brands of 
Lewis, Best Home and Electric 
and Beares. Credit is granted 
centrally at head office to ensure 
that credit risk policies are 
consistently applied and to 
remove subjectivity in the credit 
granting process. Stores are 
responsible for cash collections 
and payment follow-up with 
customers. 

The Group has a credit customer 
base of over 578 000 active 
customers and credit sales 
accounted for 49.1% of total 
sales in the Reporting period. 

Customers purchasing 
merchandise on credit are 
offered insurance cover through 
Monarch Insurance, the Group’s 
insurance subsidiary.

Customer  
commitment 
 
The Group is committed to 
service excellence and offering 
quality, exclusive merchandise. 
High levels of repeat sales to 
existing customers are 
evidence of service satisfaction, 
trust and customer loyalty. As 
part of the commitment to 
service excellence, Lewis strives 
to be an integral part of the 
communities in which it 
operates. Shoppers in the 
traditional retail brands are 
served by staff from their local 
communities, with stores being 
located close to the places 
where customers live, work and 
shop. Convenient store 
locations make it easy for 
credit customers to pay their 
accounts in-store and the 
regular engagement with 
customers creates further sales 
opportunities. 

Lewis Group is a leading 
retailer of household furniture 
and electrical appliances 
through its trading brands 
Lewis, Best Home and Electric, 
Beares and UFO.

0
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Traditional retail

2021

Cash retail

Purpose
Lewis Group sells 
furniture, home 
appliances, electronic 
goods and homeware 
through multiple 
channels across all 
income groups

Customer  
offer
Providing quality,  
exclusive and differentiated 
merchandise ranges  
on credit and cash in  
South Africa and 
neighbouring countries

BUSINESS  
MODEL

Customer offering

Supply chain Stores Credit

•	 Merchandise is delivered 
directly by suppliers to 
stores.

•	 For the traditional retail 
brands the business does not 
operate distribution centres 
or centralised warehouses.

•	 The business offers an 
optional delivery service.

•	 Stores are responsible for 
deliveries to customers in the 
traditional business.

•	 In the traditional business,  
on average 90% of the 
deliveries are completed 
within 24 hours of sale.

•	 Third-party logistics 
providers cater for cash retail 
deliveries.

Refer to Merchandise, supply chain  
and stores Report on pages 38 to 39.

•	 Stores are accountable for 
all aspects of the customer 
relationship.

•	 Strong customer 
relationships are 
developed over the 
lifetime of a contract.

•	 Customers in the 
traditional retail business 
are serviced by staff from 
their own communities in 
their own language.

•	 Traditional retail stores  
are located close to where 
customers work,  
shop and live.

Refer to Merchandise, supply 
chain and stores Report on  
pages 38 to39.

•	 Credit is granted centrally to 
ensure credit policies are 
consistently applied.

•	 Applications are completed 
electronically at stores and 
submitted to head office for 
approval.

•	 Advanced credit risk scorecards 
are applied.

•	 Credit policies determine the credit 
worthiness, term and deposit 
required from customers.

•	 The compliance call centre ensures 
that all critical elements of the 
contract have been explained to 
the customer.

•	 Stores are responsible for 
collections and follow-up of 
defaulting customers.

Refer to Managing credit risk  
Report on pages 40 to 42.

58.4%

49.1%

41.6%

50.9%

Merchandise sales

Credit

Other revenue

Cash

2021

Revenue split
Merchandise sales

Business functions

Insurance
•	 Monarch, the group’s insurer 

underwrites customer 
protection insurance offered to 
customers purchasing goods 
on an instalment sale basis.

•	 The insurance product offered 
is optional and provides cover 
to the group’s credit customers 
in the event of death, disability, 
loss of income, or loss or 
damage to the goods 
purchased.
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apital

Credit 
management

Capital 
management

Merchandising 
and supply 
chain

Operational 
management

14.3%

7.4%

74.4%

Debtor costs as a 
percentage of 
debtors at gross 
carrying value 

Satisfactory  
paid customers

Gearing

STRATEGY  
AND TARGETS

Lewis Group’s strategy is to offer exclusive merchandise to customers across all market 
segments and income groups in southern Africa, focusing on the retailing of furniture, 
home appliances, electronic goods and homewares on credit and cash.

41.8%

Strategic focus areas,  
performance indicators and targets

40-42

13-16

<15

72-75

41-43

12-15

<25

73-76

Medium-term 
strategies
Medium-term growth strategies are developed  
by executive management and reviewed and 
approved by the board. 

These growth strategies are developed by considering 
internal and external factors, risks and opportunities, 
resources and relationships, and key interdependencies. 

The strategy is further supported by detailed business 
plans and budgets, information technology solutions, 
human capital requirements and operational policies and 
procedures. Medium-term targets are determined to 
measure the Group’s progress in the implementation of 
its strategies.

Material issues  
and risks
Material issues and risks that could impact on the 
Group’s strategy, its stakeholders and its ability 
to sustain growth are reviewed on a continuous 
basis as part of the strategic planning process 
(refer to Material Issues and Risks Report on  
page 16 to 19). 

Action plans are developed to achieve the strategic 
objectives and also to manage the material impacts  
on the Group. 

Strategy during 
Covid-19 pandemic
The Group’s strategy has been unchanged and 
consistently applied throughout the Covid-19 
pandemic. 

While trading restrictions have been lifted,  
Covid-19 continues to impact the broader economy  
as well as the Group’s store operations due to health  
and safety protocols for employees and customers. 
Management remains flexible in the execution of the 
strategy and is able to adjust its shorter-term operating 
plans in response to specific Covid-19 related challenges 
and opportunities that may arise.

Diversification 
strategy

The Group adopted a strategy to diversify 
the business and reduce the reliance on 
credit sales. 

In 2014, the Group acquired the Beares 
brand with a focus on a higher target 
market with a higher proportion of cash 
sales than the traditional retail brands. 

Beares currently trades out of 137 stores. 

 

In 2017, the Group doubled its store 
base outside of South Africa through 
acquisition and now has 126 stores  
in Botswana, Lesotho, Eswatini  
and Namibia. 

Stores outside South Africa account  
for 14.9% of the Group’s revenue. 

In 2018, the acquisition of cash retailer 
UFO enabled the Group to target a 
higher income customer market and 
increase cash sales. 

UFO contributed 14.4% of total group 
sales in the Reporting period. 

The increase in cash sales from UFO  
as well as the traditional brands in the 
Reporting period, resulted in the cash: 
credit sales mix of 50.9%: 49.1%.

38-42

15-18

<15

64-67

Gross profit 
margin

17.7%

49.1%

(2.9)%

Operating profit  
margin (based  
on sales)

Credit sales  
as a percentage  
of total sales

(Decrease)/
increase in 
operating costs

12-18

52-56

8-12

16-20

52-56

3-5

8-12

56-60

3-5

Targets (%)
Strategic 
focus areas

Performance 
indicators

Achieved 
2021 2021 2022 

Medium 
term 
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Strategy
Competitor 
landscape

Trading and economic 
environment

Stakeholders
Legislation 
and regulation

MATERIAL ISSUES  
AND RISKS

Determining  
materiality

1.	 Covid-19 pandemic  
2.	 Retail trading conditions  
3.	 Credit risk management  
4.	 Capital management 
5.	 Information technology 
6.	 People 
7.	 Regulation

External 
conditions  

and  
factors

Our  
material issues

•	 Health and safety protocols maintained 
across all stores and offices

•	 Effective business continuity plans for 
working remotely during the pandemic

•	 Prioritised the safety and livelihoods of 
employees by focusing on safety in the 
workplace, maintaining full remuneration 
and job preservation

•	 Continued support to staff affected by 
Covid-19 through employee wellness 
programme

•	 Transport provided to head office 
employees who utilised public transport

•	 Cost of Covid-19 testing covered by 
employer

•	 Applied for government relief funding  
for employees

•	 Focus on cash preservation
•	 Tight cost management 
•	 Robust balance sheet and low gearing 

ensures that the group continues to be 
resilient to any potential or unforeseen 
trading disruptions

•	 Third wave of infections could 
result in stricter lockdown 
regulations being reintroduced

•	 Prolonged adverse economic 
impact due to slow pace of 
vaccination roll-out 

•	 Store closures and trading 
disruption owing to staff infections

•	 Potential disruption of the 
merchandise supply chain on 
local and imported merchandise 
owing to logistical challenges 
and factory closures

•	 Rising unemployment due to 
financial impact of Covid-19

•	 Higher death claims and loss 
of income claims together  
with a possible increase in 
unpaid premiums

•	 Travel restrictions on operational 
management and collections 
staff resulted in limited levels 
of supervisory oversight and 
the inability to execute the 
collection model

The Covid-19 pandemic 
continues to have an adverse 
impact on the economy, 
business and the lives of many 
South Africans. 

Covid-19 
pandemic1 RELATED RISKS RISK MITIGATION

•	 The Group’s store-based business model 
has proven resilient through multiple 
economic downturns

•	 The amendments to the affordability 
assessment regulations of the National 
Credit Regulator enabling self-employed 
and informally employed individuals to 
again apply for credit, will continue 
to benefit sales

•	 The growth rate in other revenue is 
expected to move closer to the growth in 
credit sales over the medium-term

•	 The Group’s diversification strategy is 
expected to continue to support sales 
growth, with UFO, the Group’s cash 
business, continuing to perform well

•	 Constrained consumer spending 
and weak consumer sentiment 
as a result of poor economic 
conditions

•	 Consumer spending contracting 
further due to financial impact 
of Covid-19 and related 
economic restrictions 

•	 Discontinuation of government’s 
Covid-19 relief measures

The macro-economic 
environment in South Africa 
has a significant impact on the 
Group’s operations and the 
weak trading conditions can 
impact both sales and 
collections across the trading 
brands.

Retail trading 
conditions2 RELATED RISKS RISK MITIGATION

In determining these material issues the directors 
consider several internal and external factors, 
including the Group’s strategy, the trading and 
economic environment, competitor landscape, 
external opportunities and threats, legislation and 
regulation, and the needs, expectations and 
concerns of the Group’s primary stakeholders. 

These material issues are reviewed by the board 
and executive management annually as part of 
the Group’s strategic planning process, while the 
key risks are monitored by the Risk committee. 
In reviewing the material issues, the directors 
believe the current issues remain relevant and 
appropriate and are unchanged for the 2022 
financial year.

Internal 
conditions  

and  
factors

The directors have identified 
material issues which could 
significantly impact the 
Group’s ability to deliver its 
strategy and create and 
preserve sustainable value  
for stakeholders. 
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MATERIAL ISSUES  
AND RISKS CONTINUED

   
•	 Ensure access to capital at all times
•	 Ensure efficient allocation of capital
•	 Continued investment in organic growth  

and in the debtors book
•	 Return funds to shareholders through 

dividend payments
•	 Continue the share buy-back programme  

at levels that are earnings enhancing
•	 Limit borrowings to ensure group’s gearing 

remains low
•	 Manage currency exposure and risk, and 

hedge against currency fluctuations

•	 Inefficient capital management 
could impact on profitability and 
returns to shareholders

•	 Volatility of exchange rate 
impacting on margin, pricing 
and merchandise planning

The efficient management of 
capital, financial risks and 
liquidity is key to the Group’s 
financial stability and to 
improving returns to 
shareholders. 

Capital 
management 4 RELATED RISKS RISK MITIGATION

•	 Improve talent management
•	 Focus on remuneration retention 

schemes
•	 Ensure remuneration packages for 

key staff are competitive and 
externally benchmarked

•	 Enhance recruitment and selection 
practices and appoint internal 
succession candidates to vacant 
posts where possible

•	 Enhance transformation through 
Black Economic Empowerment 
to improve diversity at all levels in 
the Group

•	 Continued investment in leadership 
training and development

•	 Enhance mentoring and coaching 
programmes

•	 Inability to attract, motivate, 
develop and retain competent 
people

•	 Skills shortage in retail and financial 
services sectors increases 
employee mobility

•	 Loss of key people and challenge of 
attracting and retaining staff 
in current climate

•	 Incentive schemes not attractive 
owing to share price 
underperformance affecting 
the value of long-term incentive 
schemes

•	 High levels of staff turnover

People

Attracting, motivating and retaining 
scarce and skilled retail and financial 
services talent is key to the sustainability 
of the Group and the delivery of its 
strategic objectives.

6 RELATED RISKS RISK MITIGATION

•	 Monitor IT governance processes across the 
business through the IT steering committee

•	 Risk committee regularly updated on 
IT-related risks and mitigation plans

•	 Continued investment in cyber security
•	 Maintain and enhance the Group’s 

information security management system 
•	 Policies implemented to address data 

security risks and cyber security solutions
•	 Automated blocking of cyber threats by 

global specialists in cyber defence
•	 Adequate cyber insurance cover
•	 Business continuity and disaster recovery 

capability enhanced by upgrading storage 
and computer processing capacity at disaster 
recovery site

•	 Cyber risk could result in the 
breach of personal information, 
identity theft, loss of intellectual 
property and financial loss

•	 Legal liability and reputational 
damage arising from breaches 
in cyber security

•	 Business interruption owing to the 
unavailability of main operating 
systems and disruption to critical 
services could impact on revenue 
and profitability

•	 Loss of data as a result of 
the exposure of systems to mobile 
devices and other interfacing 
systems

•	 Unauthorised access to sensitive 
corporate data and customers’ 
personal information

•	 Increased security risk from 
remote working and learning

Leading information technology 
systems are critical to protect the 
Group against the threat of 
cyber-crime and limit the risk of 
breaches of data security and 
customer privacy, and avoid 
business interruption due to the 
unavailability of key operating 
systems.

Information 
technology5 RELATED RISKS RISK MITIGATION

•	 Monitor compliance with 
regulations and legislation through 
in-house legal and compliance 
teams

•	 Mitigation measures and 
disciplinary processes implemented 
to ensure regulatory compliance in 
selling of financial products

•	 Engage with regulators on 
proposed legislative changes 

•	 Ensure business is operating 
efficiently and identify alternate 
sources of revenue should 
legislative changes impact margins 
and profitability

•	 Focus on complying with licencing 
and related requirements of the 
new Insurance Act 

•	 Legal sanctions for regulatory 
non-compliance could result in 
material financial loss and 
reputational damage

•	 Changes in legislation and 
regulation could adversely affect 
margins and profitability

•	 Inability to respond effectively to 
ongoing regulatory changes 

Regulation

Ensure compliance with relevant 
legislation and regulation and limit 
impact of legislative changes on margins 
and profitability.

7 RELATED RISKS RISK MITIGATION

•	 Adjusting credit risk policies and rules to 
mitigate risks

•	 Ensuring continued focus on productivity 
and efficiency to increase collection rates 
and reduce bad debts

•	 Expanded strategy to convert more 
customers to the AEDO (Authenticated 
Early Debit Order)/DebiCheck collection 
service

•	 Focus on increasing satisfactory paying 
customers

•	 Inability to manage credit risk 
could result in higher bad debts, 
slower collections, limited new 
account growth and fewer 
customers being able to buy 
on credit

•	 External factors such as the 
Covid-19 pandemic, high levels 
of unemployment and tough 
economic conditions in the 
countries of operation could 
impact on the Group’s ability 
to maintain the optimal quality 
of the debtors book

Effective credit risk 
management aims to optimise 
the quality of the debtors book 
by reducing debtor costs 
through improved collections 
and lower bad debts.

Credit risk  
management 3 RELATED RISKS RISK MITIGATION
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INVESTMENT  
CASE

Lewis Group offers investors 
exposure across southern 
Africa’s retail customer 
markets through its portfolio 
of well-established traditional 
brands operating in the low to 
middle income credit market 
and upper income cash 
customers through UFO.

Favourable positioning  
even in challenging 
retail environment

Strong balance sheet 
and effective capital 
management strategy

•	 All traditional brands are focused on the retailing of 
furniture, home appliances, electronic goods and 
homewares

•	 Decentralised store-based business model is resilient 
to current economic downturn and impact of 
Covid-19

•	 Brands are well positioned to gain market share 
across all market segments through the extensive 
footprint and merchandise offering 

•	 Traditional retail brands operate in a growth 
segment of the South African population

•	 Robust balance sheet with low gearing and no 
borrowings

•	 Active capital management strategy enhancing 
returns to shareholders through dividend payouts 
and share buy-back programme

•	 Strong cash position enabled the Group to withstand 
the trading restrictions during lockdown without 
having to access external funding

Diversification across 
income segments

•	 Lewis and Best Home and Electric target low to 
middle income credit and cash customers

•	 Beares targets middle income credit and cash 
customers

•	 Cash retailer UFO targets the higher income market 
segment

Proven credit risk management
•	 Credit offered across traditional retail brands to facilitate sales growth

•	 Extensive experience in managing credit risk in the lower to middle income market

•	 Centralised credit approval and granting ensures consistent credit risk management

•	 Decentralised cash collections process at stores benefits collection rates

Extensive retail 
footprint

•	 National coverage with 681 stores across urban and 
rural areas in South Africa

•	 Expansion in the past three years into the higher 
income segment with UFO chain comprising 43 
stores 

•	 Exposure to other African markets with 126 stores in 
Namibia, Botswana, Lesotho and Eswatini

Differentiated and 
exclusive merchandise

•	 Differentiated, exclusive and quality product ranges 
across all brands

•	 Focus on selling higher margin furniture and 
appliance product categories

•	 Products sourced locally and offshore that appeal to 
the needs of the specific income target markets 
serviced by the Group’s brands

Customer loyalty and 
engagement

•	 Loyal customer base with a significant volume of 
sales generated from existing customers

•	 High levels of brand awareness and trust with 
customers

•	 Traditional retail stores conveniently located close to 
places where target customers live and work

•	 UFO stores located in high footfall areas where 
higher end customers shop

Merchandise sales

LSM 4-7

TRADITIONAL

LSM 7-9

LOW TO MIDDLE INCOME

CASH

LSM 9+

UPPER INCOME 

Cash/credit sales mix

Cash sales
Credit sales

2021

2020

2019

2018

2017

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

5 0. 9 %

4 3 .1 %

4 2 .1 %

3 4 . 2 %

3 4 . 8 %

49.1 %

5 6 . 9 %

57. 9 %

6 5 . 8 %

6 5 . 2 %

Customer markets

Merchandise sales as (%) of total revenue
Merchandise sales (Rm)

60%

50%

40%

30%

20%

10%

4 000

3 500

3 000

2 500

2 000

1 500

1 000

500

0
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

46.6%

51.5%
57.3% 57.1%

2 608
2 865

3 520
3 9313 685

58.4%

While trading conditions continue to be impacted 
by Covid-19, the directors believe that the 
business model has the resilience to absorb this 
short-term volatility, as evidenced in the height of 
the pandemic.

The following factors motivate an investment 
case for Lewis Group and should support 
competitive long-term returns for shareholders.

•	 Favourable positioning in a challenging retail 
environment

•	 Strong balance sheet and effective capital 
management strategy

•	 Diversification across income segments
•	 Extensive retail footprint
•	 Customer loyalty and engagement
•	 Differentiated and exclusive merchandise
•	 Proven credit risk management
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Funding is provided to uplift communities in which the 
Group trades through the support of schools, crèches, 
upliftment projects, vegetable growing projects and 
orphanages. This includes shelters that assist displaced 
or homeless people with assessment and reintegration 
into society. Funding is also provided to hospitals and 
centres caring for the aged.

Early childhood development initiatives are a main 
focus area for Lewis Group.

Children of the Dawn supports and reinforces rural 
community initiatives which focus on caring for  
HIV/AIDS orphans and vulnerable children in the 
country. Lewis sponsors 138 children in eight locations.

The sponsorship provides children with essential basic 
requirements, including education, nutrition, clothing, 
hygiene, transport, integration into the community  
as well as emotional and moral support.

During the Covid-19 pandemic, funding went towards 
providing food security through a large-scale food 
drive, as normal activities were interrupted.

End hunger, 
achieve food 
security and 
improved 
nutrition and 
promote 
sustainable 
agriculture

Ensure 
healthy lives 
and promote  
well-being 
for all at all 
ages

SUSTAINABILITY  
REPORT 

End poverty  
in all its forms 
everywhere

Introduction
Lewis Group recognises its responsibility as a 
group which forms part of society and which not 
only has rights but responsibilities towards 
society and the environment in which it operates. 
Sustainability for the Group, which has been in 
business for over 80 years, means creating value 
for stakeholders by:

•	 Offering affordable, exclusive and quality household goods 
to customers

•	 Supporting our employees, customers, and communities

•	 Creating long-term value for shareholders

•	 Ensuring that the business model remains sustainable

•	 Ensuring that it meets its responsibilities in sustaining the 
environment in which it operates.

The Group supports feeding and nutritional initiatives 
for both children and disadvantaged communities. 
Through the Peninsula School Feeding Association 
(PSFA), Lewis continues to support its 11 adopted 
schools in the Western Cape, providing meals for 
approximately 1 200 children each school day. 

PSFA’s key focus areas are to reduce short term hunger 
through the provision of optimal nutritional meals to 
enhance children’s ability to learn and to increase 
school attendance.

During the Covid-19 pandemic when children were 
unable to attend school, funding was used to provide 
food parcels to learners’ families.

Lewis provides ongoing assistance to HIV/AIDS 
orphans, vulnerable and disabled children as well as 
old age homes on matters pertaining to health. This 
includes support of informal organisations which assist 
their local communities as well as hospices and 
home-based care programmes.

Projects funded by the Group include the Rape Crisis 
Centre in the Helderberg area which counsels rape 
victims from the Hottentots Holland Hospital in 
Somerset West and surrounding community,  
from young children to the elderly, including abused 
boys and men.

The Group also sponsors PATCH, a rape crisis centre  
for young children in Macassar in the Western Cape.

Ensure  
inclusive  
and equitable 
quality 
education  
and promote 
lifelong  
learning 
opportunities 
for all

The Group supports the Sustainable Development Goals 
(SDGs), the global objectives developed by the United Nations 
to achieve a better and more sustainable future for all.

This Report focuses on environmental and social aspects of 
sustainability, aligned with the SDG’s where we believe we 
make a meaningful contribution.

Further detail on all initiatives supported by the Group can be 
found on our corporate social investment website,  
http://www.lewiscsi.co.za.

The Group’s contribution to the social aspects of 
sustainability have been aligned to the following SDGs:

Lewis partners with TSIBA Business School, an 
accredited higher education institution offering 
undergraduate and postgraduate business 
qualifications as well as short courses in leadership, 
entrepreneurship and commerce. The Group again 
provided funding for 10 scholarships and has 
committed a further 10 scholarships for the 2021 
academic year. These graduates are then integrated 
into the Group’s internship programme and on 
completion, many of them are placed in permanent 
positions across the Group.

The Group supports the Lesedi la Batho Centre in 
Mobopane, Gauteng, which provides unemployed 
people with skills from sewing to beadwork, computer 
skills and baking, allowing them to make and sell a 
range of merchandise to the public. A life-skills course 
is offered for young people who have not completed 
their formal education. Lewis purchases teddy bears 
from this organisation which helps to generate an 
income for approximately 20 ladies and their families. 
These bears are in turn donated to children in 
hospitals, hospices, children’s homes and places of 
safety with over 3 400 bears having been donated to 
date.

Ongoing assistance is provided to Learn to Earn, an 
organisation training thousands of unemployed people 
in market driven skills. This year the Group supported 
woodwork, sewing, barista and Bake4Profit students. 
During the pandemic the Group supported the sewing 
skills programme by purchasing 1 600 face masks for 
employees and also funded various skills development 
courses.

http://www.lewiscsi.co.za
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Black economic empowerment
The Group supports the principles and objectives of Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment (B-BBEE) contained  
in the 2015 Amended Codes of Good Practice on B-BBEE. The board acknowledges its oversight role in driving 
transformation and empowerment across all elements of the B-BBEE scorecard.

The Group remains focused on improving its rating to meet the objectives of the B-BBEE Act and in 2021 achieved a rating 
of Level 8. This rating was verified by AQRate, an accredited empowerment rating agency.

B-BBEE element Weighting 2021 2020 2019

Equity ownership 25 5.78 7.83 6.93
Management control 19 11.76 11.30 8.63
Skills development 20 17.00 16.71 14.96
Enterprise and supplier development 40 29.07 37.68 30.60
Socio-economic development 5 5.00 5.00 5.00

Total score 68.61 78.52 66.12

B-BBEE rating Level 8 Level 6 Level 8

SUSTAINABILITY  
REPORT CONTINUED

Training, talent and skills development
The Group’s training and development programmes are 
geared towards creating opportunities for all employees 
from basic sales and product knowledge to training key 
talent for branch managers and management positions 
over time. The Group’s training department is accredited 
with the Wholesale and Retail Sector Education and 
Training Authority and offers a range of classroom based 
and e-learning programmes in all aspects of retail, 
management and leadership training.

As part of the commitment to staff development, a central 
learning and development facility is used for the 
development of management for store operations in the 
five countries in which the Group operates.

Key outputs from the Group’s training and development 
programme in 2021 include:

•	 15 846 training interventions (2020: 12 263)

•	 Black staff accounted for 93% of total employees 
trained (2020: 92%)

•	 152 employees enrolled on an adult basic education 
training course with a view to assisting these 
employees to obtain a grade 12 certificate (2020: 187)

•	 37 interns/learnerships were absorbed and offered 
full-time positions (2020: 16)

Enterprise and supplier development
Lewis continues to support the local furniture industry 
through a focused enterprise development strategy to 
strengthen the local supply base and stimulate job 
creation in the domestic economy. Large volumes of 
locally sourced merchandise, goods and services are 
purchased from small businesses which are mainly 
black-owned.

The support provided to enterprise development partners 
includes financial and administrative business support,  
raw material sourcing, product development and design, 
quality control, and administrative business support.

During 2020 due to the Covid-19 pandemic and 
associated lockdowns, beneficiaries experienced 
shortages of raw materials which delayed the production 
and supply of certain products. Our procurement team 
worked closely with factories finding alternative solutions, 
ensuring that the impact was minimal.

We honoured all merchandise orders placed with 
beneficiaries during this time and offered payment 
holidays on all funding provided.

Promoting 
sustained, 
inclusive, and 
sustainable 
economic  
growth, full  
and productive 
employment  
and decent  
work for all

Employment equity
The Group’s employment equity plan focuses on 
increasing the representation of designated groups, 
mainly in the senior management and 
professionally qualified areas. Strategies have been 
developed to achieve internal employment equity 
targets, including the implementation of a 
comprehensive learning and development plan, 
in-service training of retail management students, 
granting bursaries, job profiling and performance 
assessments.

Management is committed to ensuring that the 
Group’s employee profile is representative of the 
customer base it serves and the communities in 
which it trades. Black staff account for 95.2% 
(2020: 95%) of the staff complement, with females 
comprising 58.2% (2020: 58%).

The employment equity profile of the workforce in 
South Africa (excluding neighbouring countries) on 
31 March 2021 is contained in the following table:

Occupational 
levels

Female Male Grand 
totalAfrican Coloured Indian White Total African Coloured Indian White Total

Top management     –  2  3 5 5

Senior management 7 6 2 17 32 9 4 1 32 46 78

Middle management 27 30 7 40 104 56 27 5 46 134 238

Junior management 447 127 16 72 662 298 73 12 48 431 1 093

Semi-skilled 2 692 666 27 78 3 463 2 034 428 11 17 2 490 5 953

Unskilled 4 2   6  3   3 9

Non-permanent 125 44 1 3 173 40 30  10 80 253

Grand total 3 302 875 53 210 4 440 2 437 567 29 156 3 189 7 629

Occupational levels

Grand total female employees (%) Grand total male employees (%)

African
Coloured
Indian 
White

76

18

1 5

African
Coloured
Indian 
White

74

20

1 5
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Addressing climate change 
The Group recognises the need to introduce  
and maintain environmentally sustainable 
business practices.

The Group’s environmental practices will evolve, guided by 
environmental principles, economic drivers and the 
commitment to be a responsible corporate citizen.

Practices are guided by the Group’s environmental policy 
and the environmental management system.

The Group appointed consultants specialising in 
environmental and climate risk to assist with the formulation 
of a climate risk framework.

The consultants will commence with the identification and 
management of climate related risks under the Task Force 
on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD) framework 
in the 2022 financial year, with the Group aiming to 
implement the recommendations over the next five years.

The Group currently measures electricity and fuel 
consumption as part of the monitoring of its carbon 
footprint. Further performance indicators will be identified 
and monitored in the next two years. 

Environmental performance indicators 

Consumption totals 2021 2020

Fuel� (kℓ) 6 830 7 690

Electricity� (MWh) 26 881 34 794

The main reason for the decline in consumption relates to 
the impact of Covid-19 trading restrictions when all stores 
were closed for six weeks.

Carbon footprint
The Group’s carbon footprint has been calculated in 
accordance with the Greenhouse Gas Protocol: A Corporate 
Accounting and Reporting Standard (Revised Edition).

Scope 1 emissions are emissions from company operations, 
which in the case of the Lewis Group comprise fuel 
combustion in all company-owned vehicles. The Group has  
an extensive fleet of delivery vehicles which undertake all 
deliveries from stores to customers.

Scope 2 emissions are associated with the use of electricity 
consumed at the Group’s stores and head office.

Scope 3 emissions are those from external suppliers or 
customer operations and other activities including business 
travel and employee commuting. Only selected scope 3 
emissions were quantified in this assessment.

Lewis Group emissions breakdown

Source 2021 2020

Scope 1
South African fuel 14 105 16 401

International fuel 1 958 2 321

16 063 18 722

Scope 2
South African electricity 21 456 28 556

International electricity 1 756 2 401

23 211 30 957

Total scope 1 and 2 39 274 49 679

Scope 3
Fuel- and energy-related activities 13 190 16 395
Upstream transportation  
and distribution 9 869 7 329

Business travel 24 301

Employee commuting 4 033 4 317

Total scope 3 27 116 28 234

The Group's total scope 1 and scope 2 emissions are 
calculated at 39 274 tCO2e for the 2021 financial year, with 
the South African operations contributing 91% to this total. 

The results show a 21% decrease in emissions, with a 14% 
and 25% decrease in scope 1 and 2 respectively when 
compared to the 2020 emissions. The reduced emissions 
can primarily be attributed to the Covid-19 restrictions 
which impacted operations.

Scope 3 fuel and energy related activities decreased by 20% 
as a result of the decreased fuel and electricity usage across 
the Group. 

Upstream transportation and distribution increased from  
7 329 tCO2eq in 2020 to 9 876 tCO2eq in 2021, which is in 
line with the annual increase noted in previous assessments 
and is a result of increased stock purchases and resulting 
movement. Emissions from air travel decreased by 91%,  
due to a significant decline in flights as a result of Covid-19. 
Car hire emissions similarly decreased. Employee 
commuting emissions decreased due to Covid-19 restrictions 
and enforced store closures as well as the head office being 
closed for a major portion of the year.

Camphill Village West Coast Learn to Earn Bake4Profit

Lesedi la Batho Teddy Bear Project

Learn to Earn Mask Sewing Project South African Education Projects 

Lesedi la Batho Teddy Bear Project

SUSTAINABILITY  
REPORT CONTINUED
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After the national Covid-19 
lockdown severely impacted 
sales and account collections 
in the first quarter of the 
financial year, the Group 
recovered steadily as the 
economy was gradually 
opened with the easing  
of lockdown restrictions.

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REPORT

The lockdown trading restrictions required all stores to be 
closed for six weeks, resulting in the Group losing 
approximately R360 million in sales and R250 million in 
collections.

Our financial and operational focus during this time was on 
cash preservation and cost control. The Group remained cash 
positive during the lockdown when stores were closed and no 
borrowings were utilised, while operating costs were tightly 
managed and reduced by 2.9% for the year.  

Our priority was to ensure the health and wellness of our staff 
and the safety of our customers, with the Group investing 
over R15 million to achieve this. 

It is thanks to the continuing support of our loyal customers 
and our partnerships with committed suppliers that Lewis 
Group has emerged stronger from the pandemic.

Strong recovery post hard lockdown
After declining by 4.9% in the first half of the year, 
merchandise sales grew by 17.0% in the second half, resulting 
in an annual increase of 6.7% to R3.9 billion. Excluding the 
months of April and May 2020 when stores were closed, 
merchandise sales increased by 18.2%.

Cash sales benefited from the Covid-19 social relief grants and 
increased by 25.9%, contributing 50.9% (2020: 43.1%) of total 
merchandise sales. Credit sales were impacted by the hard 
lockdown and declined by 7.9%. 

Merchandise sales have continued to increase as a proportion 
of total revenue over the past five years, growing from 46.6% 
of total revenue in 2017 to 58.4% in 2021.

The Group Reported a balanced performance across all four 
trading brands. The traditional retail brands Lewis, Best Home 
and Electric, and Beares increased sales by 6.6% (17.3% 
excluding April and May 2020) and cash retailer UFO grew 
sales by 6.9% (23.2% excluding April and May 2020).  
The stores in the neighbouring countries of Namibia, 
Botswana, Eswatini and Lesotho accounted for 17.8% of  
total sales. 

Sales were supported by new ranges introduced in the 
second half of the year and high levels of stock availability. 
The Group took a strategic decision not to cancel any 
merchandise orders when the country went into lockdown 
which ensured that stores were well stocked to meet the post 
lockdown demand. 

The gross profit margin expanded by 80 basis points to 41.8%. 
This was largely attributable to the growth in the higher 
margin furniture and appliance categories. Furniture 
accounted for 62.1% of total sales (2020: 61.6%) and 
appliances 26.2% (2020: 25.3%), with the contribution from 
audio-visual declining to 11.7% (2020: 13.1%). 

Management took a conscious decision to ensure adequate 
stock levels to counter challenges in the supply chain which 
include a global shortage of shipping containers and severe 
port congestion. This resulted in inventory levels being 28% 
higher at year-end.

The Group’s financial performance is covered in the  
Chief financial officer’s Report on page 46.

Improving quality of debtors’ book  
The Group entered lockdown with its debtors’ book in a 
healthy state. After customer account collections were 
negatively impacted over the two months when stores  
were closed, the quality of the debtors’ book continued to 
improve as the year progressed. 

This is reflected in the level of satisfactory paid customers 
increasing from 70.5% in 2020 to 74.4% in 2021, the highest 
in 10 years. Customers are classified as satisfactory paid 
when they have paid 70% or more of the amounts due  
over the contract period.

Store base passes 800 mark
The store base exceeded the 800 mark as 24 stores were 
opened and 11 closed, increasing the store presence to 807 
at year-end. A net 10 Beares stores were opened while UFO 
expanded its store footprint in the Eastern Cape and 
opened its first store in the Western Cape.

Lewis continues to open smaller format stores which now 
comprise 47% of the brand’s stores. 

In the new financial year, the Group plans to open 15 to 20 
stores, mainly in the Beares and UFO chains. 

Management is committed to ensuring that stores remain 
relevant and appealing to promote merchandise. During the 
past year 100 stores across the portfolio were refurbished, 
with a further 150 refurbishments planned for the new 
financial year. Stores are refurbished on average every  
five years.

Outlook
It is encouraging to Report that the sales momentum of the 
second half of the 2021 financial year has continued into the 
new year, aided by good stock availability. The credit health 
of the Group’s customer base is also at a multi-year high.  

However, trading conditions are expected to become 
increasingly challenging in the months ahead. The potential 
impact of a third wave of Covid-19 infections, together with 
Covid relief grants being discontinued, could result in further 
financial pressure on the Group’s customer base. 

The Group’s business model has proven its resilience 
through several downturns, and our strong cashflows and 
robust balance sheet will provide protection against the 
mounting economic headwinds. 

Appreciation 
Thank you to our Chairman Hilton Saven for his decisive 
leadership of the board during the pandemic and to our 
non-executive directors for their guidance and support of 
management. 

As we close off on a year of unprecedented challenges,  
I pay tribute to our more than 8 800 employees for the 
selfless manner in which they responded to the crisis and 
remained totally committed to delivering outstanding 
service to our customers.

My long-standing colleague Les Davies retired from the 
Group after more than three decades of dedicated service. 
During his career Les served as financial director of Lewis 
Stores, CFO of Lewis Group and CEO of Monarch Insurance, 
and most recently as director of IT for Lewis Stores. Les was 
a consummate professional who always went beyond the 
call of duty. We thank Les for his loyalty and commitment 
and wish him a healthy and happy retirement. 

Johan Enslin
Chief executive officer

Satisfactory paid accounts (%)
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Johan Enslin

Collection rates recovered as restrictions were lifted, 
improving from a low of 59.9% in the first quarter to 73.2% 
for the second quarter, 75.6% for the third quarter and 
79.4% for the fourth quarter. Collections averaged 71.8%  
for the year (2020: 74.5%). 

Debtor costs reduced by 19.5% over the prior year when  
an additional Covid-19 debtors’ impairment provision of 
R189.5 million was raised. This reduction in debtor costs is 
being supported by enhanced collection practices 
implemented by management post-lockdown as well as the 
positive impact of the Covid-19 relief grants.

As expected in the depressed economic environment with 
high levels of unemployment, net bad debts increased by 
R124 million. Net bad debts as a percentage of debtors 
increased to 16.2% from 13.9% in the prior year.

The credit application decline rate for the year was 38.1% 
compared to 37.5% in the prior year.

Debtor costs as a percentage of debtors at gross carrying 
value reduced from 17.6% to 14.3%. The debtors’ impairment 
provision as a percentage of debtors declined from 44.1% in 
2020 to 42.6% for the current year. 

Refer to the Managing Credit Risk Report on page 40 for 
further analysis of the debtors’ book.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Hilton 
Saven 
Independent non-executive 
chairman (68)

BCom, CA(SA)

Chairperson of the board and 
Nominations committee;  
Member of Risk, Remuneration  
and Social, ethics and 
transformation committees.

Appointed June 2004

Directorships: 
Truworths International Limited and 
Balwin Properties Limited.

Expertise and experience: 
Corporate governance, strategy  
and finance. 

Hilton is an experienced company 
director and a registered chartered 
accountant. Hilton is the former 
chairperson of Mazars South Africa, 
an international firm of accountants 
as well as the former chairperson 
of Praxity Alliance, an international 
alliance of accounting firms.

Specific contribution to the board: 
Hilton serves as the non-executive 
chairperson of Lewis Group as well 
as the non-executive chairperson  
of Monarch Insurance Company,  
the Group’s insurance subsidiary.  
His extensive experience in 
corporate governance, strategy  
and financial affairs assists the board 
in fulfilling its statutory obligations 
and financial objectives. He has 
performed these roles over  
a number of years for both listed 
and large private companies.

Fatima  
Abrahams
Independent non-executive 
director and lead independent 
director (LID) (58) 

BEcon (Hons), MCom, DCom

Chairperson of the Remuneration 
and Social, ethics and 
transformation committees; 
Member of the Risk, Remuneration 
and Nomination committees. 
Appointed as LID in 2021.

Appointed September 2005

Directorships:
The Foschini Group Limited and  
the Clicks Group Limited.

Expertise and experience:  
Human resources and remuneration.

Prof. Abrahams is an academic, 
experienced company director and 
a registered industrial psychologist. 
She is currently a senior professor 
(part-time) at the University of the 
Western Cape, having also served 
as Dean of the Faculty of economic 
and management sciences.

Specific contribution to the board: 
Fatima serves as a non-executive 
director on the board of two listed 
companies, with particular involvement 
in retail businesses. Her strong 
academic qualifications and experience 
have provided her with extensive 
expertise in these areas. She has 
performed similar roles for other listed 
and unlisted entities over a number of 
years, which is of benefit to the Group. 

Jacques  
Bestbier 
Chief financial officer  
(48)

CA(SA)

Member of the Risk committee  
and attends the Audit committee 
by invitation.

Appointed to the board April 2018

Directorship: 
Lewis Stores (Pty) Limited 

Expertise and experience:  
Jacques joined the Group in 2012 
and served as general manager: 
administration prior to his 
appointment as CFO. Jacques is an 
experienced chartered accountant 
with a background in short-term 
insurance, banking and retail.

Specific contribution to the board: 
Jacques is the Chief financial officer 
and executive director of the Group.

Adheera 
Bodasing 

Non-executive director  
(47)

BA, LLB

Member of the Risk, Remuneration 
and Nominations committees.

Appointed June 2017

Directorship:
Polarity Consulting (Pty) Limited

Expertise and experience:  
Legal and compliance. 

Adheera practiced at two of South 
Africa’s leading law firms, Spoor 
and Fisher and Edward Nathan 
Sonnenbergs. She specialised in 
intellectual property law, gambling 
law and financial sector law and 
policy. Prior to starting her own 
business, she headed the legal 
division of the National Treasury.  
She is currently the managing 
director of Polarity Consulting 
and provides legal guidance and 
advisory services to local and 
international businesses in highly 
regulated industries particularly the 
financial sector, gaming industry  
and energy sector.

Specific contribution to the board: 
Adheera engages regularly with 
parliament and the various financial 
sector regulators which allows her 
to advise the board on future and 
existing regulations and policy 
impacting the business. Her broad 
understanding of the businesses 
legal and regulatory framework also 
enables her to contribute on matters 
relating to regulatory compliance as 
well as other legal aspects.

Johan  
Enslin
Chief executive officer  
(47)
Member of the Risk, and the 
Social, ethics and transformation 
committees and attends all other 
committee meetings by invitation.

Appointed to the board October 2009

Directorship:
Lewis Stores (Pty) Limited. 

Expertise and experience:  
Johan has more than 27 years credit 
furniture retail experience. He joined 
the Lewis Group as a salesman in 
1993 and rose rapidly through the 
ranks, holding positions including 
branch manager, regional controller, 
divisional general manager, general 
manager operations and operations 
director of Lewis Stores (Pty)  
Limited. Prior to his appointment 
as the Chief executive officer 
he was Chief operating officer 
with responsibility for the retail 
operations of the Group.

Specific contribution to the board: 
Johan is the Chief executive officer 
and executive director of the Group 
and brings to the table a wealth of 
retail experience gained through all 
stages of the economic cycle.

Daphne  
Motsepe
Independent non-executive 
director (64)

BCompt, MBA

Member of the Audit, Risk, 
Remuneration, Nominations,  
and Social, ethics and 
transformation committees.

Appointed June 2017

Directorships:
Kapela Holdings (Pty) Limited,  
NEC XON Holdings (Pty) Limited, 
Trustee of Alexander Forbes 
Community Trust.

Experience and expertise:  
Daphne is an experienced banking 
executive and company director. 
She was formerly chief executive of 
Absa card and unsecured lending 
at Absa Bank and also served as 
managing director of Postbank. 
She has previously served as non-
executive director on the boards of 
Investec Bank, Highveld Steel and 
Vanadium, Edcon, Mercantile Bank, 
Woolworths Financial Services, 
Rand Mutual Assurance and Thebe 
Investment Corporation. Her skills 
combine strategic, business and 
financial skills.

Specific contribution to the board: 
Daphne’s experience includes 
serving as Chairperson of 
Remuneration as well as Social, 
ethics and transformation 
committees of other boards and 
serving as a member of the Audit, 
Risk as well as Nominations/
directors affairs committees.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS CONTINUED

Duncan 
Westcott  
Independent non-executive director 
(72) 
 
BSc Economics, FCA (UK), CA(SA)

Chairperson of the Audit and 
Risk committees. Member of the 
Remuneration and Nominations 
committees. 

Appointed December 2017 

Directorships:  
Monarch Insurance Company 
Limited, Standard Bank Mauritius 
and Balwin Properties Limited 

Expertise and experience:  
Accounting, financial and general 
business management. 
Duncan spent the majority of his 
full-time career in the auditing 
profession where he fulfilled a 
number of leadership roles in the 
human resources and corporate 
finance functions, in addition to his 
client facing responsibilities. 

Specific contributions to the board: 
Duncan is an experienced non-
executive director on the board and 
acts as the Chairperson of the Audit 
and Risk committees. In addition, 
he is currently Chairman of the 
Standard Bank Mauritius board.  
The Group benefits from his training 
and wide-ranging experience in the 
retail, construction and financial 
services industries.

Ntokozo 
Makomba
 
Company secretary  
(35) 
 
LLB, LLM

Appointed June 2018 
 
Ntokozo is an admitted attorney.  
She joined Lewis Group from 
Quantum Foods Holdings Limited 
where she worked as the Company 
Secretary and Head of legal for four 
years. Prior to that she worked  
as a commercial attorney at  
Van Der Spuy and Partners in Paarl. 

Tapiwa 
Njikizana  
Independent non-executive director 
(Zimbabwean), (45)  
 
CA(SA) JSE Registered IFRS Advisor 

Member of the Audit, Risk, 
Remuneration and Nominations 
committees. 

Appointed August 2019 

Directorship:  
W.Consulting SA (Pty) Limited  

Experience and expertise:  
Tapiwa is an executive director at 
W.Consulting SA (Pty) Limited.  
He has previously served as a  
non-executive director on the  
board of Iliad Africa Limited and 
Mercantile Bank Holdings Limited. 
He was recognised for his 
contribution to the consulting 
industry receiving the  
“Top Consulting Professional” at the 
Sanlam South African Professional 
Services Awards-2018.
Tapiwa has held roles in leading 
industry bodies and committees 
including as a member of the 
Accounting Practice Committee 
of SAICA, and as a member of the 
Financial Reporting Investigation 
Panel (formerly, GAAP Monitoring 
Panel) of the JSE.  

Specific contribution to the board: 
Tapiwa is an experienced  
non-executive director with 
expertise in the financial services 
sector including experience chairing  
Audit and Technology committees 
for other entities, as well as 
experience on the Remuneration  
and Nomination committees  
of the company. 

EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT

Waleed 
Achmat
 
Human resources director (58) 
 
BA Hons (Industrial Psychology)

4 years of service

Waleed is the human resources 
director. 

Jacques 
Bestbier
 
Chief financial officer (48)

CA(SA)

9 years of service

Jacques is the Chief financial  
officer of the Group.

Johan 
Enslin
 
Chief executive officer (47)
 
27 years of service

Johan is the Chief executive  
officer of the Group.

Rinus  
Oliphant  
Operations director (47) 

23 years of service

Rinus is responsible for the retail 
operations of the Group.

Derek  
Loudon 
Merchandise director (58) 

20 years of service

Derek is responsible for the Group’s 
merchandising functions.
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MERCHANDISE, SUPPLY CHAIN  
AND STORES	

Merchandise strategy
Innovative product sourcing both locally and offshore, 
together with the strength of long-term supplier relationships, 
ensures that the Group offers customers distinctive ranges. 
Added-value features and components ensure differentiation 
and enhance the value of the merchandise.

New ranges are launched frequently to introduce customers 
to the ongoing newness of the merchandise. 

In the traditional retail brands which target the lower to 
middle income groups, the focus is on offering quality, 
value-for-money merchandise ranges. Products are sourced 
to meet the specific needs of this customer base. 

UFO offers luxury exclusive furniture to cash customers in the 
higher income market.

In the current constrained economic environment sales are 
increasingly promotionally driven as customers seek value. 

Merchandise offering
The merchandise offering covers three core product 
categories:

Furniture: Bedroom suites, beds, base sets, mattresses, 
lounge and dining room suites, wall units and kitchen units. 
Lounge suites and base sets account for 62.1% of sales in this 
category.

Appliances: Refrigerators, freezers, stoves, washing machines, 
microwave ovens and small electrical appliances, including 
well-known brands Defy, Russell Hobbs, KIC, LG and Kelvinator.

Audio-visual: Mainly television sets, audio equipment and 
laptop computers from leading brands Hisense, Sinotec,  
LG and Panasonic.

In each category the Group follows a sell-up strategy of 
“good”, “better”, “best” or “more for less”.

Management continues to focus on increasing sales of the 
higher margin furniture and appliance product categories, 
while more contemporary lines are offered in each furniture 
sub-category to attract younger customers.

An electronic merchandise catalogue is used in all traditional 
retail stores, providing the customer access to the complete 
merchandise range, despite space limitations in stores.  
The full product range, including all available colour and fabric 
options, is displayed on a large touch screen.

Merchandise sourcing
Products are sourced from a wide range of local and 
international suppliers to ensure that customers are offered 
exclusive merchandise ranges. Imported merchandise 
accounted for 37% (2020: 29%) of stock purchases in the 
Reporting period. 

More goods were imported during the Reporting period due 
to South African suppliers being faced with a shortage  
of raw materials required to support production.

As a member of the Proudly South African Association,  
the Group is committed to promoting social and economic 
change. The Group sources locally by investing and 
partnering with local manufacturers, making a meaningful 
contribution to building a better South Africa, alleviating 
unemployment and retaining existing employment 
opportunities.

Products are supported by local and overseas after-sales 
service to ensure quality standards are maintained. Prior to 
consignments being dispatched from international suppliers, 
samples of all imported products are assembled and tested 
for quality purposes. 

Supply chain and distribution
The Group’s supply chain model is based on merchandise 
being delivered directly by suppliers to stores, supported by 
leading shipping and logistics providers for imported stock. 

As the Group does not operate distribution centres or 
centralised warehouses for the traditional retail brands, each 
store has a storage facility which is located close to the store, 
generally in areas with lower rentals than retail space.  
This strategy limits the build-up of obsolete stock and 
reduces markdowns. 

Traditional retail stores have dedicated delivery vehicles 
which enables 90% of deliveries to be completed within  
24 hours. 

Stores
The Group’s store base increased to 807 following the opening of 24 stores and the closure of 11 stores in the past 
financial year. 

Traditional retail
Stores are responsible for all aspects of the customer relationship. The personal and relationship-based interaction 
with customers in the stores creates trust and confidence while ensuring high levels of customer loyalty.

In the traditional retail brands a significant volume of credit sales are generated from existing customers.  
This is largely attributable to the success of the customer re-serve programme which identifies existing customers for 
potential further credit, based on their payment history. 

The traditional retail stores are generally located in main streets and town centres, close to places where target 
customers live, shop and work. Customers are serviced by staff from their own communities in their own language.

The flagship brand, Lewis, carries a comprehensive range of merchandise and caters for specific markets and regional 
differences. Stores have an average trading space of 317 m2 and the smaller format stores are approximately 250 m2.  
The smaller format store, introduced in 2010, has enabled the chain to gain access to high traffic areas at more 
affordable rentals. This store format offers customers key merchandise lines, with the full range available on the 
electronic catalogue and display screens in-store. Lewis now has 227 small format stores in its portfolio. 

An active store refurbishment programme ensures that stores remain relevant and modern, with stores being 
refurbished on average every five years. During the Reporting period, 100 stores across the portfolio were 
refurbished.

412 stores in SA 129 stores in SA 97 stores in SA

71 stores outside SA 15 stores outside SA 40 stores outside SA

153 039 m2 trading space 18 703 m2 trading space 50 143 m2 trading space

Average store size 317 m2 Average store size 130 m2 Average store size 366 m2

Cash retail
UFO stores are located in high-end malls and shopping centres, 
with the chain’s flagship store in Marlboro, Johannesburg, 
recognised as a destination shopping location. UFO recently 
expanded its stores in the Eastern Cape and opened its first store  
in the Western Cape during the current year. Stores average  
648 m2 with most product displayed on the shop floor. 

43 stores in SA

27 873 m2 trading space

Average store size 648 m2

Quality, exclusivity and 
differentiation are the 
hallmarks of the Group’s 
merchandise ranges.
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MANAGING CREDIT RISK

Performance of the debtor book 
The health of the debtors’ book continued to improve during 
the year. The level of satisfactory paid customers increased 
from 70.5% in 2020 to 74.4% in 2021, while collection rates 
recovered steadily after lockdown. After losing approximately 
R250 million in customer account collections when stores 
were closed in April and May 2020, collections improved to 
73.2% for the second quarter, 75.6% for the third quarter and 
79.4% for the fourth quarter, averaging 71.8% for the year 
(2020: 74.5%).

The debtors’ impairment provision as a percentage of debtors 
declined from 44.1% in 2020 to 42.6% for the current year. 
Debtor costs as a percentage of debtors at gross carrying 
value reduced from 17.6% to 14.3%.

Debtor costs reduced by 19.5% over the prior year when  
an additional Covid-19 debtors’ impairment provision of 
R189.5 million was raised. This reflects the improving  
quality of the debtors’ book which is being supported  
by enhanced collection practices.

Credit ratios and statistics 2021 2020

Credit sales as a percentage of total sales % 49.1 56.9

Gross debtors Rm 5 691 5 746

(Decrease)/increase in gross debtors % (1.0) 4.0

Collection rates from instalment sales % 71.8 74.5

Total collections from instalment sales  Rm 3 911 4 052

Debtor impairment provision Rm 2 424 2 534

Debtor impairment provision as a percentage of gross debtors at carrying value % 42.6 44.1

Debtor costs Rm 813 1 010

Debtor costs as a percentage of debtors at gross carrying value % 14.3 17.6

Bad debts as a percentage of debtors at gross carrying value % 16.2 13.9

Satisfactory paid accounts as a percentage of total customers % 74.4 70.5

Credit application decline rate % 38.1 37.5

Active credit customer base 578 818 595 919

Credit offering
In the traditional retail brands credit contracts are offered 
over 12, 24, 30 or 36 months. 

The credit offering is supported by Monarch Insurance,  
the Group’s insurer, which offers a range of optional 
microinsurance products to customers purchasing 
merchandise on credit. These products are compliant with the 
National Credit Act. Insurance cover is offered for the 
settlement of customers’ outstanding debt in the event  
of death, permanent disability, retrenchment, and the 
replacement of goods as a result of accidental loss, such as 
fire, theft or natural disaster. Monarch is registered with the 
Financial Sector Conduct Authority and operates under a 
microinsurance licence.

Credit risk management
Credit is granted centrally to ensure that credit risk policies 
are consistently applied, removing any subjectivity in the 
credit granting process. As a responsible credit provider,  
an important factor in granting credit is the level of 
indebtedness of an applicant as this impacts directly on their 
ability to service debt. A comprehensive affordability 
assessment is undertaken for all credit applications which 
includes assessing Lewis’ data, credit bureau information  
as well as the customer’s priority living expenses. 

Advanced credit granting systems are used to assess  
the customer through the credit underwriting process 
summarised below:

Credit scoring: Information is gathered on the customer from 
credit bureaus and third-parties, including employers, and 
processed through credit scorecards. For new customers, 
application risk scorecards predict the risk based on the 
information from these external parties. For existing 
customers, behavioural scorecards assess the risk through 
predictive behaviour based mainly on the customer’s 
payment record with Lewis, taking account of credit bureau 
and third-party data.

Assessing customer affordability: Information is collected 
on the applicants’ income, expenses and current debt 
obligations. Lewis uses its own priority expense model  
as well as the National Credit Regulator’s expense table  
in determining the customer’s minimum living expense.

Credit limit: The applicants risk score determined by the 
scorecard, together with the expense assessment and 
outstanding obligations, are used to calculate a credit  
limit within the customer’s affordability level.

These credit granting systems are used to determine the 
Group’s appetite for risk. In determining the acceptable level 
of risk, the potential loss is weighed up against the revenue 
potential using the predictive behavioural models inherent  
in the credit granting system. The Group monitors any 
variances from the level of risk that has been adopted and 
adjusts the credit granting process when necessary.

Credit granting compliance
When entering into credit agreements, customers are 
interviewed by the store manager and all the salient terms 
of the credit sale as well as the benefits of the optional 
products and services are explained to the customer. 

Prior to completing the transaction, the store manager 
ensures that the customer speaks to a compliance call 
centre agent, in their preferred language. This call centre 
was introduced in 2016 to further improve compliance, 
transparency and oversight of the in-store sales and credit 
application process as well as limit potential 
misunderstandings of the cost of credit, services and fees  
to be paid by customers. The call centre is housed  
at the Group’s head office and employs approximately  
60 permanent staff, with this number increasing up to  
150 call centre agents during peak periods. 

The Group’s strategy of 
centralised credit granting and 
decentralised collection 
processes is a core strength in 
managing credit risk and 
debtor costs in the current 
constrained economic 
environment which has been 
compounded by the social and 
economic impacts of the 
Covid-19 pandemic over the 
past year.

The call centre agent needs to establish that the store 
manager conducted the interview to explain the contract  
to the customer. Further, the agent must ensure that the 
customer understands all critical elements of the contract, 
including which services are optional, the initiation fees, 
service fees, delivery fees, maintenance contract and 
insurance. The total cost of credit, monthly instalment, 
interest amount, interest rate and credit multiple are 
reconfirmed, and the customer is asked to confirm that they 
can afford the monthly instalment. The employment status 
of the customer is confirmed as well as the insurance 
options selected.

The customer is reminded that they will receive a signed 
copy of the contract and that they have a five-day cooling 
off period in which time the contract can be cancelled 
without the customer incurring any penalties.

Customers can ask questions at any time on the call and if it 
becomes evident to the call centre agent that the customer 
does not understand any element of the contract, the call 
will be ended and the store manager will have to explain the 
issue to the customer. Once completed, the call centre will 
engage the customer again.

All calls are recorded and stored to protect the interests of 
the customer and Lewis Group. Only once the call centre 
agent has successfully completed the interview with the 
customer will the transaction be approved by the call centre. 
Without this approval, no transaction exists, and the goods 
cannot be delivered or invoiced.
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MANAGING CREDIT RISK CONTINUED

Credit collection 
Lewis operates a decentralised credit collection process, with 
store-based follow-up and cash collection. The decentralised 
model has proven to be highly effective as stores are located 
close to where customers work, shop and live. Customers 
generally pay their accounts in the store and the convenient 
locations make it easy to effect payments.

Store collection staff are often from the same community and 
can communicate in the language of the customer which 
benefits collection rates.

During the Covid-19 lockdown period, when all stores were 
closed, management established electronic payment 
platforms which enabled account payments for all Lewis 
Group brands to be made at a range of major national food 
chains, as these retailers continued to trade during this time.

Bad debts
Accounts in default are written off where the customer’s 
payment behaviour cannot be rehabilitated after all 
reasonable collection methods have been exhausted.  
Bad debts arise where the customer’s account balance has 
been written off. The decision to write off accounts considers 
the customer’s payment rating, recent payment behaviour, 
whether the customer has exceeded the contractual term  
and the age of the account.

Refer to note 2 to the summary financial statements  
on pages 59 to 63 for detail on the determination of the 
impairment provision and the calculation of contractual 
arrears, as well as the combined impairment and  
contractual arrears tables. 

2021 Group collections (%) Satisfactory paid accounts (%)
2021 GROUP COLLECTION (%)
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CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER’S REPORT

Headline earnings increased by 126.4% to R463.0 million,  
with headline earnings per share (HEPS) increasing 136.9%  
to 616 cents, reflecting the benefit of the share buy-back 
programme. 

The board declared a final dividend of 195 cents per share 
(2020: 65 cents), in line with the targeted dividend payout 
ratio of 55%, increasing the total dividend for the year by 
77.3% to 328 cents per share. 

Cash generated from operations increased by 46.8% to 
R914.6 million while the Group’s balance sheet remains robust, 
with no borrowings.  

Financial performance
The following review of the Group’s financial performance 
should be read together with the audited summary financial 
statements on pages 53 to 71.  

Revenue
Merchandise sales recovered strongly after stores reopened in 
June 2020. Following a decline of 4.9% in the first half of the 
year, sales grew by 17.0% in the second half to post an annual 
increase of 6.7% to R3 931 million (2020: R3 686 million). 
Comparable store sales grew by 5.1%.

The growth was driven by cash sales which increased by 
25.9%, with credit sales declining by 7.9% as a result of the 
hard lockdown period. This contributed to cash sales 
accounting for 50.9% (2020: 43.1%) of total merchandise 
sales.

Other revenue, consisting of interest income and initiation 
fees, insurance revenue and ancillary services income, 
increased by 1.0%, with interest income being impacted  
by the lower interest rate environment. 

Total revenue, comprising merchandise sales and other 
revenue, increased by 4.2% to R6 726 million  
(2020: R6 453 million).

Gross profit
The gross profit margin expanded by 80 basis points to  
41.8% and is at the upper end of the Group’s target range  
of 38% to 42%. 

Operating costs
Operating costs, excluding debtor costs, continued to be 
tightly managed and reduced by 2.9%, with lower transport 
and administration costs in the Covid-19 operating 
environment. Marketing expenditure reduced significantly 
owing to limited activity during lockdown and revised 
marketing strategies adopted post lockdown. Expenses 
increased by 3.2% in the second half.

Analysis of costs
(excluding debtor costs)

2021
Rm

2020
Rm %

Employment costs 1 259 1 214 3.7

Administration and IT 325 360 (9.7)

Marketing 184 299 (38.5)

Transport and travel 242 273 (11.4)
Depreciation, amortisation 
and impairment 343 376 (8.8)

Other operating costs 575 494 16.4

Total 2 928 3 016 (2.9)

Debtor performance
Debtor performance 2021 2020

Collections
Collections from  
instalment sales� (Rm) 3 911 4 052

Actual collections achieved
Percentage of one contract 
instalment per customer  
per month (12 months)� (%) 71.8 74.5
Percentage of one contract 
instalment per customer  
per month (10 months)� (%) 74.9 73.8

Contractual arrears 2 057 2 112
Percentage of debtors  
at gross carrying value� (%) 36.1 36.7

Debtor costs
Debtor costs (-19.5%) � (Rm) 813 1 010

– Net bad debts written off � (Rm) 923 799

– Debtors impairment provision �(Rm) (110) 211

Debtor costs as a percentage of 
debtors at gross carrying value� (%) 14.3 17.6

Debtor costs reduced by 19.5% over the prior year when an 
additional Covid-19 debtors’ impairment provision of 
R189.5 million was raised. This reflects the improving quality 

Lewis Group overcame  
the adverse impact of the 
Covid-19 trading restrictions 
to deliver a solid performance 
for the year, with strong 
merchandise sales growth, 
the improving quality of the 
debtors’ book and tight cost 
management contributing to 
operating profit increasing by 
174.2% for the year. 

Jacques Bestbier

of the debtors’ book which is being supported by enhanced 
collection practices.

After losing approximately R250 million in customer account 
collections when stores were closed in April and May 2020, 
collections improved to 73.2% for the second quarter, 75.6% 
for the third quarter and 79.4% for the fourth quarter, 
averaging 71.8% for the year (2020: 74.5%).

The level of satisfactory paid customers increased from 
70.5% in 2020 to 74.4% in 2021.

2021 Group collections (%)
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CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER’S REPORT 
CONTINUED

Operating profit
The higher gross profit, good expense management and 
reduced debtor costs contributed to operating profit 
increasing by 174.2%, with the operating profit margin 
improving from 6.9% to 17.7% for the year.  

Finance costs
Net finance costs increased by R95.7 million owing  
to a year-on-year movement of R71.4 million in forward  
exchange contracts (losses of R42.1 million in 2021; gains of  
R29.3 million in 2020) and once-off interest received from the 
SA Revenue Service of R20 million in the comparative period. 

Cash and capital management

Outlook for 2022
Continued tight expense control and efficient capital 
management are priorities for the year ahead. 

Management is committed to returning funds to shareholders 
through the share repurchase programme. At the annual 
general meeting in October 2020, shareholders granted 
authority to repurchase a further 10% of the issued share 
capital. By 31 March 2021, the Group had repurchased shares 
accounting for 4.6% of the shares in issue. 

Management is confident that the remainder of the mandate 
will be utilised and will seek shareholder approval to 
repurchase a further 10% of the issued share capital.

The Group’s financial targets have been reviewed and revised 
to reflect the expected performance for 2022 and over the 
medium term. 

Number of shares repurchased (millions)

202020192018 2021

5.41

8.63

11.94

17.31

3.22 3.31
5.36

Number of shares repurchased (millions)

Number of shares purchased Cumulative

Appreciation
Thank you to our local and international shareholders for your 
virtual engagement over the past year as well as the broader 
investment community for your interest in the Group. I also 
extend my thanks to my committed colleagues in the Group 
finance team who have overcome the challenges of remote 
working to ensure that the Group maintains its high standards 
of financial Reporting. 

Performance indicators 

2021 
Actual

%

2022
targets

%

Medium-
term

targets
%

Gross profit margin 41.8 40-42 41-43
Operating profit margin – 
based on sales 17.7 12-18 16-20
(Decrease)/increase in 
operating costs (2.9) 8-12 3-5
Credit sales as a 
percentage of total sales 49.1 52-56 52-56
Satisfactory paid 
customers 74.4 72-75 73-76
Debtor costs as a 
percentage of debtors at 
gross carrying value 14.3 13-16 12-15
Gearing 7.4 <15 <25

The Group’s cash and capital management strategy is 
focused on investing in the longer-term growth of the 
business and returning capital to shareholders through 
dividend payments and share repurchases.

Cash generated from operations increased by R291.4 million 
to R914.6 million despite the impact of lockdown in the first 
two months of the Reporting period.

The gearing ratio including lease liabilities was 7.4% compared 
to 12.0% in the prior year.

As previously advised to shareholders, the Group accessed 
existing borrowing facilities shortly before the 2020 financial 
year-end as a precautionary measure to ensure liquidity 
during lockdown. This funding was not utilised as the Group 
remained cash positive during the lockdown period and the 
borrowings were repaid once the stores reopened.

The Group repurchased 5.4 million shares during the  
financial year at an average market price of R20.92 per share. 
Since the commencement of the current share repurchase 
programme in 2017, the Group has bought back 17.3 million 
shares at an average price of R27.38 per share.

The total dividend for the year amounted to R238 million 
(2020: R144 million).

Capital ratios (%) 2021 2020

Gearing ratio (including IFRS 16) 7.4 12.0

Return on average shareholders’ funds 9.0 3.8

Return on average capital employed 8.7 3.7

Return on average assets managed 10.5 4.8

Jacques Bestbier
Chief financial officer
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2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

RATIOS AND STATISTICS
Returns
Return on average shareholders’ funds  
(after-tax) (%) 9.0 3.8 6.4 5.1 6.6

Return on average capital employed (after-tax) (%) 8.7 3.7 6.5 5.1 6.7

Return on average assets managed (pre-tax) (%) 10.5 4.8 8.5 6.6 8.2

Margins
Gross profit margin (%) 41.8 41.0 41.2 41.4 42.4

Operating profit margin – based on revenue (%) 10.3 3.9 7.2 6.8 10.1

Operating profit margin – based on sales (%) 17.7 6.9 12.6 13.2 21.6

Productivity
Number of stores 807 794 784 773 761

Revenue per store (R’000) 8 334 8 128 7 828 7 189 7 348 

Operating profit per store (R’000) 862 320 565 491 741 

Average number of permanent employees 8 847  8 248  8 101  8 093  8 619 

Revenue per employee (R’000) 760 782 758 687 649 

Operating profit per employee (R’000) 79 31 55 47 65 

Trading space (sqm) 249 758 249 538 254 590 258 463 248 271 

Revenue per square metre (R) 26 930 25 861 24 106 21 499 22 524 

Operating profit per square metre (R) 2 785 1 017 1 740 1 468 2 272 

Inventory turn (times) 2.4 2.9 3.1 2.8 3.4

Credit ratios
Credit sales (%) 49.1 56.9 57.9 65.8 65.2
Bad debts as a percentage of debtors  
at gross carrying value (%) 16.2 13.9 15.1 16.0 18.6
Debtor costs as a percentage of debtors  
at gross carrying value (%) 14.3 17.6 13.3 17.1 19.1
Debtors impairment provision as a percentage  
of debtors at gross carrying value (%) 42.6 44.1 42.0 43.2 28.0
Satisfactory paid accounts as a percentage  
of total customers (%) 74.4 70.5 71.4 68.4 68.5
Arrear instalments on satisfactory paid  
accounts as a percentage of debtors  
at gross carrying value (%) 10.4 10.7 8.8 9.2 9.8
Arrear instalments on slow paying and  
non-performing accounts as a percentage  
of debtors at gross carrying value (%) 25.7 26.0 26.2 28.8 28.6

Credit applications decline rate (%) 38.1 37.5 37.4 37.1 38.7

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

Solvency and liquidity
Financing cover (times) 5.6 8.9 16.7 9.0 4.5

Gearing ratio – pre IFRS 16 (%) – (5.6) (4.2) (1.6) 2.9

Gearing ratio – post IFRS 16 (%) 7.4 12.0 – – –

Current ratio (times) 3.9 2.8 5.9 3.8 5.3

Share performance
Earnings per share (cents) 576.4  232.1  377.5  306.8  402.9 

Headline earnings per share (cents)  616.5  260.2  376.2  302.7  399.5 

Cash flow per share (cents)  1 217.7  792.7  795.8  822.8  1 256.5 

Net asset value per share (cents)  6 814.1  6 126.4  6 080.4  5 777.8  6 127.3 

Share price:
Closing price (R) 30.71  17.82  31.10  42.20  41.50 

High (R) 31.00  37.50  48.00  44.40  54.11 

Low (R) 12.22  16.00  26.20  23.67  27.95 

Price-earnings ratio 5.3  7.7  8.2  13.8  10.3 

Dividends per share for the financial year (cents)  328.0  185.0  234.0  200.0  200.0 

Dividend payout ratio (%) 55.0 78.9 61.1 71.1 54.8

Number of shares in issue (million)  71.5  76.9  80.2  92.7  98.1 

Volume of shares traded (million) 38.0  26.4  34.6  58.3  59.3 

Value of shares traded (million) 631.1  625.0  1 137.4  1 844.2  2 764.6 

Market capitalisation (million) 2 196 1 370  2 494  3 521  3 685 

Number of shareholders  2 225  1 722  1 773  1 732  1 695 

Explanatory notes:
1. 	 All ratios are based on figures at the end of the period unless otherwise disclosed.
2. 	 Total assets for ratio purposes exclude the deferred tax asset and reinsurance asset.
3. 	 Revenue and operating profit per store and square metres for 2017 is calculated on an average to cater for the acquisitions during the year.

FIVE-YEAR REVIEW  
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
ON THE SUMMARY CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INCOME STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

 2021 2020
Audited Audited

Notes Rm Rm

Revenue 4.1  6 725.9  6 453.3 

Retail revenue  4.2  4 747.7  4 475.3 

Merchandise sales  3 931.2  3 685.5 
Ancillary services  816.5  789.8 

Insurance revenue  707.2  666.1 
Effective interest income  1 271.0  1 311.9 

Cost of merchandise sales  7  (2 288.8)  (2 173.5)
Operating costs  (3 741.6) (4 026.1)

Debtor costs 2.2  (813.0) (1 010.1)

Bad debts net of recoveries  (923.3) (799.2)
Movement in debtors’ impairment provision  110.3 (210.9)

Employment costs  (1 259.1)  (1 214.4)
Administration and IT (325.3)  (359.7)
Transport and travel (241.9)  (273.2)
Marketing (184.2)  (298.7)
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 10  (343.0) (375.5)
Other operating costs  (575.1) (494.5)

Operating profit before investment income  695.5 253.7
Investment income  3.2 39.1  53.6 

Profit before net finance costs  734.6 307.3
Net finance costs (130.2)  (34.5)

Interest paid 5.3 (105.3)  (98.0)
Interest received 5.3 17.2  34.2 
Forward exchange contracts 5.3 (42.1)  29.3 

Profit before taxation  604.4 272.8
Taxation 9  (171.5) (90.4)

Net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders  432.9 182.4

Earnings per share � (cents)  576.4 232.1
Diluted earnings per share � (cents)  565.3 225.4

LEWIS GROUP LIMITED: SUMMARY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

To the Shareholders of Lewis Group Limited
Opinion
The summary consolidated financial statements of Lewis Group Limited, set out on pages 53  to 71 of the Lewis Group Limited 
Integrated Annual Report 2021, which comprise the summary consolidated balance sheet as at 31 March 2021, the summary 
consolidated income statement, the summary consolidated statement of comprehensive income, summary of consolidated 
changes in equity and summary consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended, and related notes, are derived from 
the audited consolidated financial statements of Lewis Group Limited for the year ended 31 March 2021. 

In our opinion, the accompanying summary consolidated financial statements are consistent, in all material respects, with the 
audited consolidated financial statements, in accordance with the JSE Limited’s (JSE) requirements for summary financial 
statements, as set out in note 1 to the summary consolidated financial statements, and the requirements of the Companies Act  
of South Africa as applicable to summary financial statements.

Summary consolidated financial statements
The summary consolidated financial statements do not contain all the disclosures required by International Financial Reporting 
Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa as applicable to annual financial statements. Reading the 
summary consolidated financial statements and the auditor’s report thereon, therefore, is not a substitute for reading the audited 
consolidated financial statements and the auditor’s report thereon. The summary consolidated financial statements and the 
audited consolidated financial statements do not reflect the effects of events that occurred subsequent to the date of our report 
on the audited consolidated financial statements.

The audited consolidated financial statements and our report thereon
We expressed an unmodified audit opinion on the audited consolidated financial statements in our report dated 27 May 2021. 
That report also includes communication of key audit matters. Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional 
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. 

Director’s responsibility for the summary consolidated financial statements
The directors are responsible for the preparation of the summary consolidated financial statements in accordance with the JSE’s 
requirements for summary financial statements, set out in note 1 to the summary consolidated financial statements, and the 
requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa as applicable to summary financial statements.

Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on whether the summary consolidated financial statements are consistent,  
in all material respects, with the audited consolidated financial statements based on our procedures, which were conducted  
in accordance with International Standard on Auditing (ISA) 810 (Revised), Engagements to Report on Summary  
Financial Statements.

.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. 
Director: MC Hamman
Registered Auditor 

Cape Town, South Africa
27 May 2021
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STATEMENT OF  
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

EARNINGS AND  
DIVIDENDS PER SHARE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

2021 2020
Audited Audited

Rm Rm

Net profit for the year  432.9 182.4
Items that may be subsequently reclassified to income statement:
Movement in other reserves (2.8)  (3.4)

Fair value adjustments 19.1  (35.7)

Changes in the fair value of debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income 
– FVOCI debt investments 26.5  (49.5)
Tax effect (7.4)  13.8 

Disposal of FVOCI debt investments (0.4)  1.0 

Disposal (0.5)  1.3 
Tax effect 0.1  (0.3)

Foreign currency translation reserve  (21.5)  31.3 

Items that may not be subsequently reclassified to income statement:
Retirement benefit remeasurements  (8.6)  37.3 

Remeasurements of the retirement asset and liabilities  (11.9)  51.1 
Tax effect  3.3  (13.8)

Other comprehensive income  (11.4)  33.9 

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to equity shareholders  421.5 216.3

2021 2020
Audited Audited

Weighted average number of shares 
Weighted average� (’000)  75 109  78 615 
Diluted weighted average� (’000)  76 580  80 936 

Headline earnings
Attributable earnings� (Rm)  432.9 182.4
(Profit)/loss on disposal of fixed assets� (Rm)  (0.1)  2.3 
Impairment of right-of-use assets� (Rm)  24.3 19.8
Goodwill write-off� (Rm)  5.9 –

Headline earnings� (Rm)  463.0 204.5

Earnings per share 
Earnings per share� (cents)  576.4 232.1
Diluted earnings per share� (cents)  565.3 225.4

Headline earnings per share 
Headline earnings per share� (cents)  616.5 260.2
Diluted headline earnings per share� (cents)  604.6 252.7

Dividends per share
Dividends paid per share

Final dividend 2020 (2019)� (cents) 65.0  129.0 
Interim dividend 2021 (2020)� (cents) 133.0  120.0 

� (cents) 198.0  249.0 

Dividends declared per share
Interim dividend 2021 (2020)� (cents) 133.0  120.0 
Final dividend 2021 (2020)� (cents)  195.0 65.0

� (cents)  328.0 185.0

LEWIS GROUP LIMITED: SUMMARY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS LEWIS GROUP LIMITED: SUMMARY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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BALANCE SHEET
AS AT 31 MARCH 2021

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

2021 2020
Audited Audited

Notes Rm Rm

Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment  386.0  324.4
Right-of-use assets 11.2 635.0 693.7
Intangible assets 114.2  120.6
Goodwill 182.4  187.6
Deferred taxation  112.2 166.1
Retirement benefit asset 105.4  106.8
Financial assets – insurance investments  3.1 253.6  228.0

 1 788.8 1 827.2

Current assets
Inventories  947.8  740.7
Trade, insurance and other receivables  2.1  3 367.3 3 326.1
Taxation  48.8 54.9
Financial assets – insurance investments  3.1  223.7 245.9
Cash-on-hand and deposits  5.1  447.0 1 193.4

 5 034.6 5 561.0

Total assets  6 823.4 7 388.2

Equity and liabilities
Capital and reserves
Share capital and premium 0.9  0.9
Treasury shares (0.4)  (1.0)
Other reserves 33.6  52.3
Retained earnings  4 838.6 4 657.3

 4 872.7 4 709.5

Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities 11.1  556.0  611.1
Deferred taxation  20.6 23.3
Retirement benefit liability  79.1  70.7

 655.7 705.1

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables  674.5  547.9
Payments in advance  162.8  150.1
Insurance liabilities  123.1 104.8
Short-term interest-bearing borrowings  5.1 – 922.1
Lease liabilities 11.1  249.8  226.8

Taxation  84.8 21.9

 1 295.0 1 973.6

Total equity and liabilities  6 823.4 7 388.2

2021 2020
Audited Audited

Rm Rm

Share capital and premium
Opening balance 0.9  0.9 
Cost of own shares acquired (112.6)  (101.7)
Transfer of cost of cancelled shares 112.6  101.7 

0.9  0.9 

Treasury shares
Opening balance (1.0)  (0.5)
Share awards to employees 23.6  20.5 
Cost of own shares acquired (23.0)  (21.0)

(0.4)  (1.0)

Other reserves
Opening balance 52.3  48.4 
Other comprehensive income for the year:

Changes in fair value of FVOCI debt investments 19.1  (35.7)
Disposal of FVOCI debt investments (0.4)  1.0 
Foreign currency translation reserve (21.5)  31.3 

Equity-settled share-based payments 24.3  29.0 
Transfer of share-based payments reserve to retained earnings on vesting (40.2)  (20.9)
Transfer of other reserve to retained earnings –  (0.8)

33.6  52.3 

Retained earnings
Opening balance as previously Reported 4 657.3  4 827.3 

IFRS 16 Transitional adjustments – (92.8)

Opening balance 4 657.3  4 734.5 
Net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders  432.9 182.4
Distribution to shareholders (147.0)  (196.4)
Transfer of cost of cancelled shares (112.6)  (101.7)
Transfer of share-based payments reserve to retained earnings on vesting 40.2  20.9 
Retirement benefit remeasurements (8.6)  37.3 
Share awards to employees (23.6)  (20.5)
Transfer of other reserve to retained earnings –  0.8 

 4 838.6 4 657.3

Balance as at 31 March  4 872.7  4 709.5

LEWIS GROUP LIMITED: SUMMARY FINANCIAL STATEMENTSLEWIS GROUP LIMITED: SUMMARY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

2021 2020
Audited Audited

Restated
Notes Rm Rm

Cash flow from operating activities  

Cash flow from trading 8.1  1 053.3  879.0 
Changes in working capital 8.2  (138.7)  (255.8)

Cash flow from operations  914.6  623.2 
Interest received other than from trade receivables  55.8  86.5 
Interest paid 8.3  (90.4)  (98.0)
(Losses)/gains on forward exchange contracts  (16.6) 13.1
Taxation (paid)/refunded  (55.3)  25.2 

 808.1  650.0 

Cash utilised in investing activities
Purchases of insurance investments 3.1 (61.1) (76.0)
Disposals of insurance investments 84.2  172.0 
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment  
and intangible assets  (121.3)  (108.1)
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment  2.6  4.0 

 (95.6) (8.1)

Cash flow from financing activities
Dividends paid (147.0)  (196.4)
Payment of principal portion of lease liabilities 11.1  (254.2)  (256.2)
(Repayments)/advances of borrowings 5.1 (922.1)  922.1 
Purchase of own shares (135.6)  (122.7)

 (1 458.9)  346.8 

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents  (746.4) 988.7
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  1 193.4  204.7 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year  447.0 1 193.4

LEWIS GROUP LIMITED: SUMMARY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1.	 Basis of Reporting
The summary consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with the requirements of the JSE Limited 
(“JSE”) Listings Requirements for abridged Reports and the requirements of the Companies Act applicable to summary 
financial statements. The Listings Requirements require abridged Reports to be prepared in accordance with the 
framework concepts; and the measurement and recognition requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRS”) and SAICA Financial Reporting Guides as issued by the Accounting Practices Committee and Financial 
Pronouncements as issued by the Financial Reporting Standards Council and to also, as a minimum, contain the 
information required by IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting.

The accounting policies applied in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements from which the summary 
consolidated financial statements were derived are in terms of IFRS and are consistent with those accounting policies 
applied in the preparation of the previous consolidated annual financial statements.

The Group has moved to a trading cycle of 1 April to 31 March aligned with its statutory year-end. In prior periods, the 
trading cycle ended on the fifth day after the month being Reported on, unless such day fell on a Sunday, in which case it 
ended on the fourth day. For the current financial year, the trading period was from 5 April 2020 to 31 March 2021.  
The impact of the change was insignificant due to the Covid-19 lockdown implemented on 27 March 2020 where stores 
were closed in accordance with Level 5 regulations.

These financial statements are a summary of the Group’s audited annual financial statements for the year-ended  
31 March 2021. The audited annual financial statements were prepared by the Group’s Finance Department under the 
supervision of Mr J Bestbier CA(SA). A copy of the full set of the audited financial statements is available on the Group 
website, www.lewisgroup.co.za.

2.	 Trade, other receivables and debtor costs
2.1	 Trade, insurance and other receivables

Leases2021
 Audited

Rm 

2020 
Audited

Rm 

Trade and insurance receivables  5 691.4 5 746.5

Trade receivables  5 551.5 5 599.5
Insurance receivables  139.9 147.0

Provision for impairment  (2 423.7) (2 534.0)

Trade receivables  (2 338.5) (2 469.0)
Insurance receivables  (85.2) (65.0)

Trade and insurance receivables (net)  3 267.7 3 212.5

Due within 12 months  2 098.5 2 040.3
Due after 12 months  1 169.2 1 172.2

Other receivables  99.6 113.6

Total trade, insurance and other receivables  3 367.3 3 326.1

Debtors’ impairment provision as percentage of debtors at gross carrying value� (%)  42.6  44.1

Amounts due from trade receivables after one year are reflected as current, as they form part of the normal 
operating cycle. The credit terms of trade receivables range from 6 to 36 months.

Other receivables consist of prepayments, VAT, foreign reinsurance receivables and investment in insurance  
cell captive.

Impairment provision

Payment ratings
The customer’s payment profile is managed by using payment ratings. Payment ratings are determined on an 
individual customer level and aggregated over all the customer’s sub-accounts. Payment ratings measure the 
customers actual payments received over the lifetime of the account relative to the instalments due in terms of the 
contract. These payment ratings are used to categorise and Report on customers at the store level to follow up the 
slow paying and non-performing customers.

Impairment modelling
In accordance with paragraph 5.5.15(a)(ii) of IFRS 9, the Group has elected to apply the simplified model and 
measures the impairment allowance at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses (“ECL”). This policy has 
been applied to all trade receivables. Lifetime ECL are assessed by determining cash flows on a probability-weighted 
basis and discounting these at the effective interest rate including initiation fees. 

LEWIS GROUP LIMITED: SUMMARY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

http://www.lewisgroup.co.za
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2.	 Trade, other receivables and debtor costs continued
2.1	Trade, insurance and other receivables continued 

Impairment modelling continued
The probability-weighted cash flows are calculated using the following: 

•	 Transition matrix and conditional probabilities.
•	 Payment performance for each payment state. 

The transition matrix and conditional probabilities are calculated using the trade receivables population payment behaviour 
for each payment state and has been developed using the Group’s customer payment history over the last five years. The 
transition matrices have been developed for each of the countries which predicts the population’s payment behaviour and 
probability of the account being in a particular payment state and transitioning into future payment states. The key states in 
the transitional matrix are the following:

•	 Customers’ lifetime payment rating which measures the customers actual payments received over the lifetime of the 
account relative to the contractual instalments due.

•	 Age of the account.
•	 Term of the contract. 

For each term, lifetime payment rating and age, the transitional matrix maps the probability of an account transitioning 
into future lifetime payment ratings for the remaining months on book. Cash flows are forecasted until the account is 
settled or written off.

The payment performance for each payment state is calculated using the actual payment history for each payment 
rating over the last 12 months.

Forward-looking information
IFRS 9 requires that the ECL impairment provision considers potential future changes in the economic environment.  
To achieve this, an economic overlay model (“standard model”) has been developed by performing a regression analysis 
between key economic variables with reference to the non-performing category. This analysis is done on an annual 
basis to identify the relevant economic variables and assess the degree of correlation with the non-performing 
category. 

To allow for the potential impact of Covid-19, an expanded economic overlay model (“expanded model”)  
was introduced as the primary model at 31 March 2020. This model applied a regression analysis between payment 
behaviour and expected GDP growth. The projected impact of the expanded model on the impairment provision  
was R294.5 million for the year-ended 31 March 2020. The expanded model was based on the expected future 
contraction of GDP on 31 March 2020 and has now become obsolete.

Due to the severely disrupted economic environment, a lower statistical correlation was observed when performing the 
standard model assessment and a distortion is expected in the historical relationship between the macroeconomic 
variables and the non-performing category in the short to medium term. Management therefore concluded that a 
statistical model based on macroeconomic variables is not appropriate at this time.

Covid-19 continues to pose a significant threat to the economy and management are of the view that trading conditions 
will become tougher. The impairment model uses the last 12 months’ payment performance and is therefore calibrated 
to allow for a distressed macroeconomic environment in the new financial year, similar to the experience of the  
year-ended March 2021.

To incorporate the potential further impact of Covid-19 on the forward-looking information, the impact of event risk not 
accounted for was quantified by building stressed macroeconomic variables into the impairment model. These include 
further economic strain that could result from another hard lockdown, the discontinuation of Covid-19 social grants and 
the impact of government employees wage freeze on their ability to service debt. The combined impact on the Group’s 
ECL for these variables is R114.1 million. Management’s areas of judgement include the probabilities of these scenarios 
occurring, the severity of the scenarios and the potential impact it might have on payment performance. 

A sensitivity analysis has been performed and the impact is deemed to be immaterial. 

Combined impairment and contractual arrears table
The table reflects the following:

•	 A summary of the main groupings of payment ratings describing payment behaviour. 
•	 For each of the main groupings of payment ratings, the following is disclosed:

	– Number of customers.
	– Gross carrying value.
	– Impairment provision allocated to each grouping.
	– Contractual arrears for each grouping have been categorised by number of instalments in arrears.

The table referred to above is set out on the following page.

2.
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 2.	 Trade, other receivables and debtor costs continued
	 2.1	 Trade, insurance and other receivables continued

Interest rate risk
Interest rates charged to customers are fixed at the date the contract is entered into. Consequently, there is no cash 
flow interest rate risk associated with these contracts during the term of the contract.

The average effective interest rate on instalment sale receivables is 21.2% (2020: 22.9%) and the average term of the 
sale is 32.4 months (2020: 32.8 months).

Fair value
In terms of paragraph 29(a) of IFRS 7, the carrying amounts Reported in the balance sheet approximates fair value.

2.2	Debtor costs

2021 2020
Audited Audited

Rm Rm

Bad debts 982.2  877.5 

Bad debts before adjustment for interest on credit impaired accounts 1 133.0  979.9 
Adjustment for interest on credit impaired accounts (150.8)  (102.4)

Bad debt recoveries (58.9)  (78.3)
Movement in debtors' impairment provision (110.3)  210.9 

Closing balance 2 423.7  2 534.0 
Opening balance (2 534.0)  (2 323.1)

813.0  1 010.1 

Debtor costs as a percentage of debtors at gross carrying value (%) 14.3  17.6 

"Bad debts before adjustment for interest on credit impaired accounts" is the gross carrying amounts of the trade 
receivables written off. Interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost 
(gross carrying value less impairment provision), resulting in lower bad debts.

LEWIS GROUP LIMITED: SUMMARY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3.	 Insurance
3.1	 Insurance investments

2021 2020
Audited Audited

Rm Rm

Financial assets – insurance investments
Listed investments

Fixed income securities – FVOCI debt investments 253.6 228.0
Unlisted Investments

Money market – FVOCI debt investments 223.7 245.9

477.3 473.9

Analysed as follows:
Non-current 253.6 228.0
Current 223.7 245.9

477.3 473.9

Movement for the year 
Beginning of the year 473.9 616.8
Additions to investments 61.1 76.0
Disposals of investments (119.8) (219.5)
Interest 36.1 48.8
Fair value adjustment 26.0 (48.2)

End of the year 477.3 473.9

A register of listed investments is available for inspection at the company’s registered office.

Fair value hierarchy
The following table presents the assets recognised and subsequently measured at fair value:

Level 2 Total
Rm Rm

31 March 2021
Insurance investments:

Fixed income securities – FVOCI debt investments 253.6 253.6
Money market floating rate notes – FVOCI debt investments 223.7 223.7

477.3 477.3

31 March 2020
Insurance investments:

Fixed income securities – FVOCI debt investments 228.0 228.0
Money market floating rate notes – FVOCI debt investments 245.9 245.9

473.9 473.9

The categorisation of the valuation techniques used to value the assets at fair value are as set out in IFRS 13.

3.2	Investment income
2021 2020

Audited Audited
Rm Rm

Interest and other income – insurance business 38.6  52.3 
Realised gain on disposal of insurance investments 0.5  1.3 

39.1  53.6 

4.	 Revenue
4.1	 Revenue

2021 2020
Audited Audited

Rm Rm

Retail revenue – revenue from contracts with customers  4 747.7  4 475.3 

Merchandise sales  3 931.2  3 685.5 
Ancillary services  816.5  789.8 

Insurance revenue  707.2  666.1 
Effective interest income 1 271.0  1 311.9 

Finance charges and initiation fees earned 1 421.8  1 414.3 
Adjustment for interest on credit impaired accounts (150.8)  (102.4)

 6 725.9  6 453.3 

4.2	Retail revenue
Traditional Cash Group

Rm Rm Rm

31 March 2021
Merchandise sales 
– Cash 1 434.4 566.5 2 000.9
– Credit 1 930.3 – 1 930.3
Ancillary services
– At a point in time  153.5 10.4  163.9 
– Over time  652.6 –  652.6 

 4 170.8 576.9  4 747.7 

31 March 2020
Merchandise sales 
– Cash  1 058.6  530.1  1 588.7 
– Credit  2 096.8 –  2 096.8 
Ancillary services
– At a point in time  167.8  10.3  178.1 
– Over time  611.7 –  611.7 

 3 934.9  540.4  4 475.3 

LEWIS GROUP LIMITED: SUMMARY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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5.	 Borrowings, cash and net finance costs
5.1	 Borrowings, banking facilities and cash

2021 2020
Audited Audited

Rm Rm

Interest-bearing borrowings
Short-term banking facilities – (922.1)
Cash-on-hand and deposits 447.0 1 193.4

Net cash 447.0 271.3

Available facilities
Banking facilities 1 150.0  1 150.0
Domestic Medium-Term Note programme 2 000.0  2 000.0

3 150.0  3 150.0

Available funds 3 597.0  3 421.3

Interest rate profile
Interest rate profile of borrowings is as follows:

– �Bank borrowings include revolving credit and overnight facilities. Revolving credit 
facilities are at interest rates linked to three-month JIBAR. The interest rates on the 
overnight facilities are based on rates as determined by each of the banks based on 
market conditions. The weighted average interest rate at the end of the Reporting  
period is 5.9% (2020: 7.6%). –  922.1

–  922.1

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash-on-hand and deposits 447.0  1 193.4

447.0  1 193.4

5.2	Capital management
Net debt  358.8  566.6 
Shareholders’ equity  4 872.7  4 709.5 
Gearing ratio� (%)  7.4  12.0 

5.3	Net finance costs
Interest paid (105.3)  (98.0)

Borrowings (14.3)  (20.1)
Lease liabilities (66.0)  (71.5)
Other (25.0)  (6.4)

Interest received – bank 17.2  12.4 
Interest received – other –  21.8 
Forward exchange contracts (42.1)  29.3 

Net finance costs (130.2)  (34.5)

6.	 Reportable segments 
Traditional  Cash  Group

Primary  Rm  Rm  Rm

For the year ended 31 March 2021
Revenue  6 149.0  576.9  6 725.9 
Merchandise sales  3 364.7  566.5  3 931.2 
Operating profit before investment income  602.7  92.8  695.5 
Operating margin (%)  17.9  16.4  17.7 
Segment assets  4 074.0  141.5  4 215.5 

For the year ended 31 March 2020
Revenue  5 912.9  540.4  6 453.3
Merchandise sales 3 155.4 530.1 3 685.5
Operating profit before investment income  209.9  43.8  253.7
Operating margin (%)  6.7  8.3  6.9
Segment assets  3 828.9  124.3  3 953.2

 South Africa  Namibia  BLE(1)  Group
Geographical  Rm  Rm  Rm  Rm

For the year ended 31 March 2021
Revenue  5 724.8  498.7  502.4  6 725.9 

For the year ended 31 March 2020
Revenue  5 492.7  475.9  484.7  6 453.3

(1)  Botswana, Lesotho and Eswatini

7.	 Gross profit 
2021 2020

Audited Audited
Rm Rm

Merchandise sales 3 931.2  3 685.5
Cost of merchandise sales  (2 288.8)  (2 173.5)

Merchandise gross profit  1 642.4  1 512.0

Gross profit percentage (%)  41.8  41.0

LEWIS GROUP LIMITED: SUMMARY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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8.	 Cash flow from operations 
2021 2020

Audited Audited
Restated

Rm Rm

8.1	 Cash flow from trading:  1 053.3 879.0 

Operating profit before investment income  695.5 253.7
Adjusted for:

Share-based payments 43.6  33.3
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment  343.0  375.5
Movement in debtors’ impairment provision  (110.3) 210.9
Movement in other provisions 43.7 13.8
Other non-cash flow movements 37.8 (8.2)

Included in cash flow from trading is interest received on trade receivables of R1 421.8 million (2020: R1 414.3 million).

2021 2020
Audited Audited

Rm Rm

8.2	Changes in working capital:  (138.7)  (255.8)

Increase in inventories (211.7) (85.0)
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables  30.3 (213.3)
Increase in trade and other payables  11.7 48.3
Increase/(decrease) in payments in advance  12.7 (7.9)
Increase in insurance liabilities  18.3 2.1

8.3 Interest paid per cash flow statement:
Interest paid per the income statement (105.3) (98.0)
Non-cash flow movement  14.9 –

Interest paid per the cash flow statement (90.4) (98.0)

Restatement
The realised portion of gains and losses on forward exchange contracts in the prior year was restated from  
“cash flow from trading” to the face of the consolidated cash flow statement. This is reflected in a separate line item,  
“gains and losses on forward exchange contracts”. See below for the effect of the restatement:

Cash flow 
from 

trading
Rm

Gains and 
losses on 
forward 

exchange
 contracts

Rm

March 2020 – previously Reported  892.1 –
Restatement  (13.1)  13.1 

March 2020 – restated  879.0  13.1 

9.	 Taxation
2021 2020

Audited Audited
Rm Rm

Taxation charge
Normal taxation  124.3  34.7

Current year  123.6  66.4
Prior year  0.7  (31.7)

Deferred taxation  47.2  45.7

Current year  57.0  12.1
Prior year  (9.8)  33.6

Withholding tax –  10.0

Taxation per income statement  171.5  90.4

Tax rate reconciliation
Profit before taxation  604.4 272.8

Taxation calculated at a tax rate of 28% (2020: 28%)  169.2 76.4
Differing tax rates in foreign countries  4.3  2.6
Disallowances  37.1  14.0
Exemptions  (30.0)  (14.5)
Prior years  (9.1)  1.9
Withholding tax –  10.0

Taxation per income statement  171.5  90.4

Effective tax rate � (%)  28.4 33.1

10.	Depreciation, amortisation and impairment
2021 2020

Audited Audited
Rm Rm

Depreciation
Right-of-use assets  239.7  271.8
Property, plant and equipment  50.6  66.1

Amortisation
Intangible assets 13.0  11.0

Impairment
Right-of-use assets  33.8  26.6

Write-off
Goodwill  5.9 –

 343.0  375.5

LEWIS GROUP LIMITED: SUMMARY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

11.	 Leases
2021 2020

Audited Audited
Rm Rm

11.1	 Lease liabilities recognised
Opening balance 837.9 –
Recognised on adoption of IFRS 16 –  856.1
Reallocated to restoration provision –  (33.4)
Additions and renewed leases  239.3 269.3
Expired, renegotiated and modified leases  (3.8) 2.1
Rent concessions  (13.4) –
Principal portion of lease liabilities  (254.2)  (256.2)

Interest on lease liabilities 66.0  71.5 
Lease liability payments  (320.2)  (327.7)

Closing balance  805.8  837.9 

Analysed as follows:  805.8  837.9 

Non-current  556.0  611.1 
Current  249.8  226.8 

11.2	Right-of-use assets 
Retail premises 
Opening balance  693.7 –
Recognised on adoption of IFRS 16  –  726.2 
Additions and renewed leases  239.3  269.3 
Expired, renegotiated and modified leases  (3.2)  (3.4)
Remeasurement of restoration provision  (7.9) –
Rent concessions  (13.4) –
Depreciation  (239.7)  (271.8)
Net impairment  (33.8)  (26.6)

Closing balance  635.0  693.7 

12.	 New standards and interpretations not yet effective
IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts
The IASB issued IFRS 17, Insurance Contracts, as a replacement to current standard, IFRS 4, which allows insurers to use 
their local GAAP. IFRS 17 defines clear and consistent rules that will significantly increase the comparability of financial 
statements.

Under IFRS 17, the general model requires entities to measure an insurance contract on initial recognition at the total of 
the fulfilment cash flows (comprising the estimated future cash flows, an adjustment to reflect the time value of money 
and an explicit risk adjustment for non-financial risk) and the contractual service margin. The fulfilment cash flows are 
remeasured on a current basis each Reporting period. The unearned profit (contractual service margin) is recognised over 
the coverage period.

Aside from this general model, the standard provides the premium allocation approach. This simplified approach is 
applicable for certain types of contracts, including those with a coverage period of one year or less.

As part of the initial phase of the project, the Group is currently reviewing all insurance and reinsurance contracts held, to 
determine whether the general model or the premium allocation approach would apply.

The new standard will become effective for the 2024 financial year with full retrospective adoption, therefore requiring 
the restatement of comparatives from 1 April 2022.

Amendments to IFRS 16: Covid-19-related Rent Concessions
The amendments are mandatory for annual Reporting periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020, however, early 
adoption is permitted. The amendment provides an optional practical expedient for lessees from assessing whether a 
rent concession related to Covid-19 is a lease modification. The election of the expedient will result in the concession 
received being accounted for as a variable lease payment in the period in which the event or condition that triggers the 
reduced payment occurs, effectively bringing an immediate saving in the rent expense.

Consideration was given to the application of the above and the Group has elected not to apply the optional practical 
expedient to rent concessions received.

13.	 Covid-19 lockdown and its impact on the Group’s trading
On 11 March 2020, the World Health Organization formally declared Covid-19 a pandemic. Government restrictions were 
imposed in South Africa on 27 March 2020, and shortly afterwards in other territories where the Group trades, in an 
attempt to curb infection rates and the inevitable spread of Covid-19. This included nationwide lockdowns that 
temporarily restricted trading across the Group. 

Trading was significantly disrupted under the lockdown regulations with all stores being closed for April 2020. The slight 
easing of restrictions during the 2nd week of May 2020 saw some stores in the African territories being allowed to trade 
under strict regulation and on 18 May 2020, sales through electronic communication channels were allowed in South 
Africa. On 1 June 2020, all South African stores were allowed to trade with a full merchandise offering under strict 
compliance with Covid-19 safety protocols.

Management estimate that the Group lost approximately R360 million in merchandise sales and R250 million in customer 
account collections resulting from the lockdown.

While the Covid-19 lockdown had a material impact on the Group’s trading performance in April and May, the resilience of 
the Group’s business model was evident during this period. The Group’s strong balance sheet ensured that the Group did 
not need to access any borrowings during the lockdown period, despite significant decline in cash flow when stores were 
closed or trading under restrictions. The Group repaid all borrowings during June 2020 and ended the year in an 
unborrowed position. The Board has reviewed the cash flow forecast for the next 12 months and is of the opinion that the 
Group has more than sufficient liquidity to adequately support its working capital requirements and consequently, is 
satisfied of the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern for the foreseeable future.

14.	Post balance sheet events
There were no significant post balance sheet events that occurred between the year-end and the date of approval of the 
financial statements by the directors.

NOTES TO THE  
SUMMARY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

LEWIS GROUP LIMITED: SUMMARY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

33.4%

66.6%

37.5%

12.5%

50%

Demographics (%) Non-executive director tenure

Black male 
White male
Black female

0 to 5 years
16 to 20 years

Board composition
Lewis Group remains 
committed to the highest 
standards of corporate 
governance based on the 
principles of integrity, 
transparency and 
accountability in its dealings 
with all stakeholders.

Key responsibilities 
The board is governed in terms of a charter which sets 
out its role and responsibilities, which mainly include  
the following:

•	 ensuring that the company’s short-, medium- and 
long-term strategy, as developed by management 
is reviewed and approved;

•	 providing oversight of performance against targets 
and objectives; 

•	 providing effective leadership based on an ethical 
foundation;

•	 overseeing key performance and risk areas;

•	 ensuring effective risk management and internal 
control;

•	 overseeing IT governance;

•	 overseeing legislative, regulatory and governance 
compliance;

•	 ensuring appropriate remuneration policies and 
practices; 

•	 overseeing relationships with stakeholders of the 
company along sound governance principles; and

•	 ensuring that the company is playing its role as 
responsible corporate citizen.

Introduction
The board confirms that the Group has in all material  
aspects applied King IV. A Report on the Group’s  
application of the principles are presented on the website:  
www.lewisgroup.co.za/governance-sustainability/king4.

Refer to https://www.lewisgroup.co.za/governance/corporate-
governance-Report/ for the full Corporate Governance 
Report.

Board composition 
The board consists of six non-executive directors and two 
executive directors. Five of the non-executive directors are 
independent, with the majority of the board being composed 
of Independent non-executive directors. 

The board is satisfied that it has the appropriate mix of 
knowledge, skills, experience, diversity and independence to 
objectively discharge its governance role and responsibilities.

The board is chaired by Hilton Saven, an Independent 
non-executive director. The implementation of the strategy 
and the ongoing management of the business is delegated to 
Johan Enslin, the Chief executive officer.

The age, tenure, experience and expertise of board members 
is set out briefly in the Board of Directors Report on pages 32 
to 34.

There were no changes to the composition of the board 
during the Reporting period. Fatima Abrahams was 
appointed as the lead independent non-executive director. 

Directors do not have a fixed term of appointment and are 
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election by 
shareholders at the AGM at least every three years.  
Directors are required to retire at the next AGM after they 
turn 70 unless the board decides at its discretion that a 
director may continue to hold office. Independent non-
executive director Duncan Westcott reached the age of  
70 and the board satisfied itself that he makes an invaluable 
contribution to board and committee affairs with his skills, 
expertise and experience, and that he should continue to 
hold office.  

Directors appointed during the year are required to have 
their appointments ratified at the following AGM. The 
chairman is elected by the board after the AGM each year. 

Executive directors are subject to 12 to 24-month notice 
periods. 

Independence of directors
Directors are required to annually evaluate their 
independence and declare their interests in other entities. 
They are further required to declare any conflicts of interest 
in relation to matters on the agenda at board meetings.  
The Nominations committee further reviews the 
independence of all non-executive members when reviewing 
the composition of the board. Adheera Bodasing provides 
consulting services to Lewis Stores through Polarity 
Consulting. While these services are not significant to the 
Group or Polarity Consulting, the Nominations Committee 
has classified her as not being independent. The board was 
satisfied that all directors exercise independent judgement 
and act in an independent manner.

Board diversity 
The board’s diversity policy is aimed at enhancing diversity. 
In 2020 the board increased the voluntary targets for female 
representation and racial diversity on the board from 25% to 
30%. Currently 38% of board members are female and 38% 
are black in terms of the Broad-Based Black Economic 
Empowerment (B-BBEE) Act. Independent non-executive 
director Tapiwa Njikizana is Zimbabwean by birth and is 
therefore not included for purposes of the B-BBEE Act. 

Board evaluation
All directors participate in the annual evaluation of the 
board’s performance. The questionnaire-based evaluation 
covers the board’s role and agenda setting; the size, 
independence and composition of the board; director 
orientation and development; board meetings; board 
committees; board accountability and governance practices. 
The process also includes an assessment of the performance 
of the Chairman, Chief executive officer and the Company 
secretary. In addition, the Chairman has individual sessions 
with each director where necessary.

The evaluation concluded that the board was satisfied  
with its overall functioning and governance.

Chief financial officer and finance 
function evaluation
The Audit committee conducted a formal evaluation of the 
appropriateness of the expertise and adequacy of the 
resources in the finance function and the experience of the 
senior members of management responsible for the 
financial function.

The committee is satisfied that the expertise and experience 
of the chief financial officer and the finance function is 
appropriate to meet the required responsibilities of the 
position.

Company secretary
The Company secretary acts as adviser to the board and 
plays a pivotal role in ensuring compliance with regulations, 
the induction of new directors and providing advice to 
directors on governance, compliance and their fiduciary 
responsibilities. The Company secretary acts as secretary  
for all board committees.

The directors have unrestricted access to the advice and 
services of the Company secretary. They are entitled to seek 
independent professional advice at the company’s expense 
after consultation with the Chairman of the board.  
No directors exercised this right during the year.

The board conducted a formal evaluation of the Company 
secretary, as required by the JSE Listings Requirements.  
The directors are satisfied that the Company secretary has 
the requisite competence, qualifications and experience to 
perform the role.

http://www.lewisgroup.co.za/governance-sustainability/king4.

http://www.lewisgroup.co.za/governance/corporate-governance-Report/
http://www.lewisgroup.co.za/governance/corporate-governance-Report/
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monitoring ongoing progress. The business units are 
accountable for managing risk in achieving their financial  
and operating objectives.

The focus of the risk management process is on strategic and 
key operational risks. The business units in the Group assesses 
the risks on a quarterly basis. The RWG reviews the registers 
with a focus on:

•	 completeness of risks identified across the Group;

•	 causes of the risks;

•	 the residual risk ratings;

•	 the tolerance levels based on the risk indicators; and

•	 the need for further management action.

The RWG also develops the risk appetite and obtains board 
approval through the Risk and Audit committees. Senior 
executives and line management are responsible for 
implementing the risk appetite and Reporting any material 
deviations above the approved threshold limits.

The risks identified by the business units are consolidated by 
category of risk into a group register and the results of the 
Group risk assessment are Reported to the risk committee of 
Lewis Group and the audit and risk committee of Monarch 
Insurance.

The key risks are documented in the Material Issues and Risks 
Report on pages 16 to 19.

The Group’s external insurance and self-insurance 
programmes cover a wide range of risks.

The insurance levels and insured events are reviewed annually 
to ensure adequate cover and amended after taking into 
account changed processes and emerging risks.

Internal control
A well-established control environment, which incorporates 
risk management and internal control procedures, exists to 
provide reasonable but not absolute assurance that assets  
are safeguarded and the risk facing the business is being 
adequately managed. 

The board confirms that during the period under review the 
Group has maintained an efficient and effective process to 
manage key risks.

Going concern
The board is satisfied that the Group will be a going concern 
for the foreseeable future, based on the budget and cash 
flows for the year to 31 March 2022, as well as the current 
financial position. The financial statements have therefore 
been prepared on the going concern basis. The board 
appraises the Group’s going concern status at the board 
meetings coinciding with the interim and final results.

Internal audit
The internal audit function provides information to assist in 
the establishment and maintenance of an effective system of 
internal control to manage the risks associated with the 
business. Internal audit has performed a written assessment 
confirming the effectiveness of the company’s system of 
internal control and risk management, including internal 
financial controls. The role of internal audit is detailed in  
the internal audit charter which has been approved by the 
Audit committee. 

The board is satisfied that it meets the King IV principle of 
having an arm’s-length relationship with the company 
secretary and confirms that the company secretary is not a 
director of any of the Group companies and is not related to 
any of the directors. As such, the board confirms that an 
arm’s-length relationship has been maintained between the 
board and the Company secretary.

Governance structure
The board of Directors has delegated specific responsibilities 
to five board committees and the management committee. 
The board committees are all chaired by Independent 
non-executive directors.

Each committee has a charter and a year plan and the 
directors confirm that the committees have functioned in 
accordance with these written terms of reference during the 
financial year.

See the full Corporate Governance Report on  
www.lewisgroup.co.za for details of board committees.

Board meetings 
The number of board and committee meetings held during 
the year was affected by the national lockdown.   

Risk management
The board is responsible for the oversight of the risk 
management process and has delegated specific 
responsibility to the Risk committee.

The committee is responsible for ensuring that the Group  
has implemented an effective policy and plan for risk,  
and that disclosure regarding risk is comprehensive, timely 
and relevant.

The Chief risk officer is responsible for the risk management 
process to identify, assess and manage potential risks and 
opportunities that may affect group strategies and objectives. 
The risk management framework includes the risk 
management policy, risk appetite, relevant responsibilities  
and the risk management plan.

The Risk Working Group (RWG) is responsible for designing 
and implementing the risk management process and 

Information technology governance
Information technology (IT) governance is integrated into 
the Group’s operations, and governance practices and 
frameworks are reviewed as part of the annual internal  
audit plan. The IT steering committee is responsible for  
IT governance and Reports into the Risk committee.

Legal compliance 
The board is responsible for governance and compliance with 
applicable laws and regulations as well as any adopted 
non-binding rules, codes and standards. The Group has a 
zero-tolerance policy to non-compliance of breach 
compliance measures. 

The Group’s approach to compliance is risk based and guided 
by the company’s regulatory universe as well as the King IV 
principles on compliance. Compliance is monitored by the 
risk committee which in turn has delegated the execution of 
compliance to the RWG. The Group’s compliance obligations 
include legal and regulatory compliance as well as non-
regulatory compliance.

Legal and regulatory compliance 
The Group’s regulatory universe identifies the following 
legislation as core for the Group:

•	 Basic Conditions of Employment Act, Act 75 of 1997;

•	 Companies Act, Act 71 of 2008;

•	 Consumer Protection Act, Act 68 of 2008; 

•	 Financial Advisory and Intermediary Services Act,  
Act 37 of 2002;

•	 Financial Markets Act, Act 19 of 2012;

•	 JSE Listings Requirements; 

•	 National Credit Act, Act 34 of 2005; and

•	 Short Term Insurance Act, Act 53 of 1998.

•	 Promotion of Access to Information Act, Act 2 of 2000.

•	 Protection of Personal Information Act, Act 4 of 2013

The Group has completed a risk assessment of the statutes to 
determine the seriousness and probability of non-compliance 
in order to compile an implementation plan based on the 
high-risk compliance requirements. 

National Credit Act 
The company, as a credit provider, takes all complaints 
received seriously. Matters referred from the National Credit 
Ombudsman are monitored by the social, ethics and 
transformation committee until they have been resolved.

Credit compliance 
A specialised call centre has been effective in enhancing 
compliance, transparency and oversight of the company’s 
in-store sales and credit application process.

The in-store credit sale application process includes a 
comprehensive affordability assessment and an interview 
with the store manager during which the components of the 
contract are explained, including the optional services and 
fees, and the total cost of credit. Following the completion of 
this process and before finalising the transaction, the 
manager will ensure that the customer speaks to a call centre 
agent. Customers can engage with a call centre agent in any 
one of nine official languages. The call between the customer 
and the call centre agent is undertaken without any 
intervention from the store manager or store staff.

Call centre agents ensure that customers understand all 
critical elements of the contract. All calls are recorded and 
stored to protect the interests of customers and the business. 
Only once the call centre agent has successfully completed 
the review with the customer will the transaction be 
approved. Without this approval, no transaction exists and 
the goods cannot be invoiced or delivered.

Non-regulatory compliance 
The Group subscribes to the Consumer Goods and Services 
Code. All complaints referred to the company from the 
Consumer Goods and Services Ombud are resolved 
expeditiously and efficiently. The Social, ethics and 
transformation committee has oversight of all complaints 
received and monitors their status until they are resolved. 

The Group is also a member of various industry bodies 
including the Consumer Goods Council of South Africa, 
Credit Industry Forum and the South African Insurance 
Industry Association.  

Behavioural and ethical compliance
Ethics remain a key focus for the board and management. 
The board approved ethics framework, code of conduct and 
core values outline the standards of honesty, integrity and 
mutual respect which employees are required to observe.

A conflict of interest policy is aimed at ensuring employees 
act in the best interests of the Group and do not profit from 
their position in the company.

The policy governs employees’ relationships with suppliers, 
serving as office bearers on external organisations and 
industry bodies, and receiving gifts and hospitality from 
suppliers.

The corporate fraud policy sets out the responsibility of staff 
and management towards the detection, prevention and 
Reporting of fraud. A tip-offs anonymous hotline which is run 
independently is available to all employees and other 
stakeholders to Report suspected incidents of fraud or 
dishonesty.

Personal share dealings
An insider trading policy restricts directors and specific staff 
from dealing in the shares of Lewis Group during closed 
periods. The closed periods are effective from the end of 
the interim and annual Reporting periods until the financial 
results are disclosed on SENS. Embargoes are also placed 
on share dealing when the Group is trading under a 
cautionary statement.

Directors are required to obtain written clearance from the 
Chairman of the board prior to dealing.

The Chairman is required to obtain written permission from 
the Chairman of the Audit committee. It is mandatory  
to notify the Company secretary of any dealings in the 
company’s shares within three business days.  
This information must be published on SENS within  
24 hours of the notification of such dealing. A register of 
share dealings by directors is maintained by the Company 
secretary and reviewed by the board.

Non-compliance
The directors confirm that to their knowledge the Group  
was not involved in or associated with any material 
transgressions or associated penalties in the  
Reporting period. 
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Number of meetings 3 3 3 2 2 2
Non-executive directors
H Saven 3+ 3 3 2 2+ 2
F Abrahams 3 3* 3 2+ 2 2+

A Bodasing 3 3* 3 2 2 –
T Njikizana 3 3 3 2 2 –
D Motsepe 3 3 3 2 2 2
D Westcott 3 3+ 3+ 2 2 –
Executive directors
J Enslin 3 3* 3 2* 2* 2
J Bestbier 3 3* 3 – – –
+ 	 Chair.
*	 Attends by invitation.

http://www.lewisgroup.co.za
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REMUNERATION REPORT

Committee 
Chairperson’s Report

Committee activities
The main areas of focus for the committee during the year 
were as follows:

•	 Considered and approved the total guaranteed pay  
for executive directors and the internal audit executive  
for 2022 financial year.

•	 Reviewed and approved the Remuneration and 
Implementation Report included in the 2021 Integrated 
Report.

•	 Approving June 2021 awards under the 2019 Lewis 
Executive Retention Scheme (2019 LERS), 2019 Lewis 
Executive Performance Scheme (2019 LEPS) and the  
Cash Settled Long-Term and Short-Term Executive 
Performance Plan (CSLSPP).

•	 Setting the Group’s performance targets for all share 
incentive schemes, the cash settled plan and cash-based 
performance bonus for the 2022 financial year.

I am pleased to present the Lewis Group 
Remuneration Report, which sets out the Group’s 
Remuneration Policy and the Implementation 
Report. The board, through the Remuneration 
committee (the committee), continues to strive 
to create a performance-orientated culture which 
fairly rewards staff for their contribution in 
achieving the Group’s strategic, financial and 
operational objectives.

Scope of Report 
The Remuneration Report for the 2020 financial year covered 
the period up to 28 August 2020. Consequently, this year’s 
Report covers the period from 29 August 2020 to the date of 
this Report, being 9 June 2021.

Committee composition and meetings
The committee met on 24 March 2021 and 25 May 2021. 

The composition of the committee for the Reporting period 
was as follows: 

Director Status

Prof. Fatima Abrahams Independent non-executive director
Adheera Bodasing Non-executive director
Daphne Motsepe Independent non-executive director
Tapiwa Njikizana Independent non-executive director
Hilton Saven Independent non-executive director
Duncan Westcott Independent non-executive director

The Chief executive officer attends meetings at the invitation 
of the committee.

Non-binding advisory votes 
At the annual general meeting in October 2020,  
the Remuneration Policy was endorsed by shareholders and 
received 93.0% of the votes cast while the Implementation 
Report received 56.0% support (79.9% and 82.9% respectively 
in 2019). In accordance with the recommendations of the 
King IV Report on Corporate Governance for South Africa, 
2016 and paragraph 3.84(j) of the JSE Limited Listings 
Requirements, dissenting shareholders were invited to 
participate in an engagement process through an 
announcement published on SENS on 23 October 2020.  
The engagement process was held on 16 November 2020. 
There was one participant representing less than 1% of the 
shares held. The Remuneration committee considered matters 
that were raised.

•	 Considered the measurement of the actual performance 
against targets for the 2021 financial year for the Lewis 
Long-term and Short-term Executive Performance 
Scheme (LSPS), 2019 LEPS and CSLSPP.

•	 Considered the measurement of the actual performance 
against targets for the 2021 financial year for the  
cash-based performance bonus.

The committee is satisfied that it has fulfilled the 
requirements of its charter and that the objectives  
of the Remuneration Policy have been met, without  
material deviation.  

Prof. Fatima Abrahams
Chairperson

9 June 2021

Lewis Group strives to create a 
performance-oriented culture 
which fairly rewards staff for 
their contribution in achieving 
the Group’s strategic, financial 
and operational objectives.  
Key to the Group’s 
remuneration philosophy is 
recognising employees’ 
contribution to the success of 
the business. 
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REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED

Remuneration Policy
Remuneration philosophy 
Lewis Group strives to create a performance-oriented culture 
which fairly rewards staff for their contribution in achieving 
the Group’s strategic, financial and operational objectives.  
Key to the Group’s remuneration philosophy is recognising 
employees’ contribution to the success of the business.  
The growth and sustainability of the business is dependent  
on the Group’s ability to attract, retain and motivate 
competent people. 

Remuneration principles
Remuneration practices are structured to encourage 
sustainable, long-term wealth creation through the following:

•	 Aligning remuneration practices with the Group’s strategy.

•	 Aligning executive reward systems with the interests of 
stakeholders. 

•	 Promoting a performance-based culture across the 
business.

•	 Offering appropriate short-term and long-term 
performance-related rewards that are fair and achievable.

•	 Attracting and retaining talented individuals in the 
furniture retail and financial services industries.

•	 Rewarding, retaining and motivating talented people while 
still managing employment costs effectively. 

Remuneration governance
The board is accountable for the remuneration philosophy, 
policy and practices. Responsibility for oversight of the 
Group’s remuneration policies and practices has been 
delegated to the committee.

The committee is chaired by an Independent non-executive 
director and the Chief executive officer attends meetings at 
the invitation of the committee. The committee may at its 
discretion invite other executives or external advisers to 
attend meetings but no individual may be present during any 
discussion on their own performance or remuneration.

The responsibilities of the committee are as follows:

•	 Ensuring the Remuneration Policy is aligned with the 
Group’s strategic objectives and encourages superior 
individual performance.

•	 Reviewing and approving compensation of executive 
management, executive and non-executive directors and 
the internal audit executive.

•	 Ensuring executive directors are equitably rewarded based 
on market benchmarks, surveys, individual performance 
and contribution.

•	 Reviewing incentive and bonus schemes to ensure 
continued alignment to the enhancement of shareholder 
value.

•	 Approving the award of share incentives for equity and 
cash settled schemes.

•	 Setting the performance targets for the incentive and 
bonus schemes.

•	 Ensuring employee benefits are suitably disclosed.

•	 Recommending non-executive directors’ fees for 
shareholder approval based on market information.

•	 Ensuring practices are compliant with relevant legislation 
and regulation.

Non-binding advisory vote
The Group’s Remuneration Policy and Implementation Report 
are subject to non-binding advisory votes by shareholders at 
the AGM each year. This enables shareholders to express their 
views on the Remuneration Policy and the implementation of 
the policy, and for the board to take these views into account. 

In the event that either the Remuneration Policy or the 
Implementation Report are not adopted by a vote of at least 
75%, the committee shall follow a shareholder engagement 
process and take proactive measures to address shareholders’ 
concerns. 

Remuneration benchmarking
Remuneration is market-based and competitive owing to the 
portability of skills in the retail and financial services sectors. 
External remuneration surveys are used to benchmark 
executive and non-executive remuneration in comparable 
positions. Market surveys assist in ensuring executives are 
competitively rewarded in line with their performance and 
contribution. Remuneration packages are determined by 
considering market trends, the importance of a position 
relative to the Group’s business, the required skills set, job 
specific expertise, performance and contribution  
of individuals.

Remuneration structure
Remuneration is optimised through a combination of annual 
guaranteed pay, benefits, and short- and long-term incentives. 

Executive directors  
and senior management
The remuneration structure of executive directors and senior 
management is closely linked to the achievement of the 
Group’s financial and operating targets, and is therefore 
closely aligned to the interests of shareholders.

Executive director and senior management remuneration 
packages comprise the following elements, with a significant 
portion of remuneration being performance-related:

•	 Annual guaranteed pay.

•	 Annual cash-based performance bonus.

•	 Medium- and long-term share-based incentives.

The CEO and CFO have service contracts and are subject to 
24-month and 12-month notice periods from either party 
respectively.

Annual guaranteed pay
Annual guaranteed pay includes a cash salary and company 
contributions to retirement and healthcare funding.  
Cash salaries are set at the market median and are 
benchmarked against peers in comparable positions in similar 
companies. Salaries are reviewed annually by the committee 
and the level of increase is merit-based in relation to 
individual and group performance, and also considers market 
pay movements. Increases are effective from 1 April at the 
start of the financial year.

Annual cash-based performance bonus
Executive directors and senior management participate in a 
performance bonus scheme which is linked to their base 
salary. No portion of any participant’s bonus is guaranteed. 
Bonus payments are based on group performance relative 
to board-approved budgeted targets. The performance of 
the executive directors and senior management is evaluated 
against all or some of the following financial and operating 
targets:

•	 Revenue growth.

•	 Merchandise sales growth.

•	 Gross profit margin.

•	 Operating cost management.

•	 Debtor cost management and debtor performance.

•	 Net profit before taxation.

•	 Headline earnings per share.

The targets for revenue growth, merchandise sales growth, 
net profit before taxation and headline earnings per share 
are not disclosed as this is considered by the board to be 
market and price sensitive information. The performance 
against the targeted net profit before tax is disclosed on 
page 87.

The sustainability of the Group’s business is critical in 
determining remuneration therefore, performance targets 
are designed to discourage undue risk taking by the 
executives.

The bonus conditions are:

•	 Below 90% of target results, no bonus would accrue;

•	 Between 90% and 100% of target, 50% of the bonus 
amount increasing pro rata to 100% of the bonus amount 
at 100% of target;

•	 In the event of target results being exceeded by 6%, the 
bonus amount would double. Any result between target 
and 106% would result in a pro rata increase in the bonus 
amount; and 

•	 In the event of target results being exceeded by 10%,  
the committee have the discretion to increase the bonus  
of an executive director to a maximum of 150% of  
cash salary.

The achievement of performance targets is reviewed by the 
committee before any incentive payments are made to 
executive directors. Bonuses are paid at the end of the first 
quarter of the following financial year.

Annual cash-based performance bonus for executive directors and senior management

Percentage of annual cash 
salary for performance bonus 

Below threshold  
(<90% of target)

Between 90% and 
100% of target

Between 100% and 
106% of target

Maximum  
(>110% of target)

CEO, CFO and  
executive directors 0% 25% increasing 

pro rata to 50% 
50% increasing 

pro rata to 100%
100% increasing 
pro rata to 150%

Senior management 0%
12.5 % to 17.5%  

increasing pro rata to 
25% to 35%

25% to 35% 
increasing pro rata to 

50% to 70%
–

Medium- and long-term share-based 
incentives
Share incentive schemes are aimed at motivating the 
executive directors and senior management to contribute  
to the long-term growth and sustainability of the Group, 
attracting and retaining talented people and aligning 
rewards with shareholder interests.

The Group’s equity-settled share schemes are operated 
through the Lewis Employee Share Incentive Scheme Trust 
specifically for this purpose. Awards will only be paid if the 
participant is in the employ of the Group at the time of 
vesting, other than in the event of death, ill-health, 
retirement or retrenchment. 

The Group also adopted a cash settled scheme in May 2019 
which mirrors many of the terms and conditions of the 
equity-settled schemes operated through the Lewis 
Employee Share Incentive Scheme Trust. The main 
difference is that, instead of delivery of shares, the value of 
shares is paid in cash.  

Participation in both the equity and cash-settled schemes is 
at the discretion of the committee and limited to the 
executive directors of Lewis Group and the directors, 
general managers and selected senior staff (executives) of 
Lewis Stores, the Group’s main operating subsidiary.  
Awards are usually made annually in June. Special awards 
can be made when the committee deems it appropriate.

Incentive awards to the management group are split into 
two groups, those participating in the equity-settled 
schemes and the remainder in the cash-settled scheme.  
This will limit shareholder dilution.
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REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED

Lewis Executive Retention Scheme (LERS) 
The first awards under the LERS were made on  
30 June 2015. Currently, awards made under this scheme on 
30 June 2018 and 30 June 2019 were are still outstanding as 
at 31 March 2021.

The LERS is aimed at retaining executives who play a key role 
in the operation of Lewis Group and can influence the 
performance of the business. The Lewis Group operates a 
cash-based performance bonus scheme in terms of which 
bonuses are determined and paid annually based on Lewis 
Group performance relative to board approved targets. 
Executives will be offered the opportunity to invest all or 
part of their net after tax annual performance bonus in the 
company’s shares. 

Executives elect the percentage of their net bonus to be 
invested in shares, subject to a minimum of 10% of their 
respective net bonuses. Shares are then purchased on the 
market on behalf of the executive. These invested shares are 
held on the executive’s behalf in a nominee capacity for a 
period of three years, where after the registered ownership 
of the shares is transferred to the executive. These invested 
shares are exposed to normal market fluctuations like any 
other shareholder.

Where invested shares are acquired, the company issues 
matching share options to the executive at no consideration 
in a pre-determined ratio such that the value of the matching 
share option at the date of grant is equivalent to the 
percentage of the gross bonus which the executive elected to 
invest.  There are no additional performance criteria which are 
required to be complied with for exercise of the matching 
share options as executives have already met the 
performance targets and/or standards determined by the 
committee. The matching share options vest on the third 
anniversary of the date of grant of the matching share 
options, provided that the executive remains in the employ of 
the Lewis Group. 

The trust will purchase shares for the purpose of the LERS on 
the open market to avoid dilution of ordinary shareholders. 
It remains company policy not to allow the trust to purchase 
shares on the open market during prohibited periods. The 
company will utilise a maximum of one million shares for 
purposes of the LERS, irrespective of the source of those 
shares. The maximum number of shares that can be awarded 
to an individual executive is 400 000 shares over the lifetime 
of the LERS. 

Lewis 2019 executive Retention Scheme 
(2019 LERS)
The first awards were made on 28 August 2020. Currently, 
awards under this scheme were made on 28 August 2020 
and 9 June 2021.

The terms of the scheme are substantively the same as the 
LERS above except for the following changes:

•	 The percentage of the cash-based performance bonus that 
can be invested in the scheme is at the discretion of the 
Remuneration committee with the minimum percentage 
being 25% and the maximum percentage is 100%. 

•	 The Group is entitled to a clawback of shares through the 
repurchase and cancellation of shares held by the 
participant and/or an equivalent in money where shares 
have not been repurchased and cancelled where the 
executive:

	– is dismissed for misconduct involving fraud, 
misrepresentation and/or dishonesty and failure to 
materially perform their duties; and

	– where the executive is accused of serious misconduct 
that would warrant dismissal, he or she resigns from 
his/her employment prior to the outcome of the 
disciplinary proceedings.

The company will utilise a maximum of 1.5 million shares for 
purposes of the 2019 LERS, irrespective of the source of 
those shares. The maximum number of shares that can be 
awarded to an individual executive is 600 000 shares over 
the lifetime of the 2019 LERS. 

Lewis Long-Term and Short-Term Executive 
Performance Share Scheme (LSPS) 
This scheme was approved by shareholders at the AGM  
held on 24 June 2015. Currently, short-term awards made 
under this scheme on 30 June 2018 were still outstanding as 
at 31 March 2021.

The purpose of the LSPS is to: 

•	 motivate executives to continue to contribute to the 
growth and sustainability of the Lewis Group and to 
maintain a performance-orientated culture;

•	 align executive rewards with the interests of stakeholders;

•	 attract and retain talented individuals in the furniture 
retail and financial services industries; and 

•	 offer appropriate short-term and long-term performance-
related rewards that are fair and achievable. 

Granting awards to executives provides them with the 
opportunity to acquire shares, thereby aligning the interests 
of the Lewis Group and its stakeholders. 

Awards made under the LSPS offer executives the right  
to acquire shares for no consideration, subject to the 
achievement of performance targets determined by the 
committee. The following types of awards may be granted 
in terms of the LSPS: 

Short-term awards
•	 Three-year awards which vest three years after the grant 

date;

Long-term awards
•	 Four-year awards which vests as follows:

	– 50% on the third anniversary of the grant date.

	– The remaining 50% on the fourth anniversary of the 
grant date.

•	 Five-year awards which vests as follows:

	– One third on the third anniversary of the grant date.

	– One third on the fourth anniversary of the grant date.

	– The remaining third on the fifth anniversary of the 
grant date.

•	 Alternate awards on such vesting dates as the committee 
may determine. It is anticipated that this type of award 
will only be used in exceptional circumstances.

Performance targets for short-term awards
Performance targets can either be set at the grant date for 
the entire performance period or for each financial year 
during the performance period, which shall be determined 
by the committee within three months after the 
commencement of each financial year or such later date as 
the committee may determine if extraordinary 
circumstances exist, as determined by the committee.

The committee shall select any or all of the following 
performance criteria for determining the performance 
targets in respect of short-term awards:

•	 Headline earnings per share

•	 Quality of the debtors book

	– satisfactory paid accounts

	– debtor costs as a percentage of net debtors

•	 Gross margin

Performance targets for long-term awards
Performance targets will be set for the performance period  
as at the grant date. The performance criteria set by the 
committee shall be as follows:

•	 Headline earnings per share; and

•	 At least one of the following performance criteria: 

	– return on average shareholders’ equity

	– after tax return on average capital employed

	– pre tax return on average capital employed 

	– pre tax return on average assets managed

	– gearing ratio

The committee has the discretion to determine what portion 
of an award shall relate to a particular performance target, 
such that if some, but not all of the performance targets  
are met, then only the specified portion shall vest.  
Furthermore, the committee has the ability to allocate a 
greater proportion of an award to performance targets 
which the executive has the ability to influence having due 
regard to his or her employment responsibilities. 

Performance targets may be adjusted where material 
changes (both positive and negative) have been made to 
accounting policies resulting from IFRS becoming effective 
after the grant date. The committee shall be entitled in 
exceptional circumstances (both positive and negative)  
to amend performance targets having regard to all 
circumstances including, but not limited to, changes to 
international and national macro-economic circumstances, 
the performance of the Lewis Group relative to the industry 
in which it operates and any corporate actions undertaken 
by the Lewis Group during the relevant performance period. 

The trust will purchase shares for the purpose of the LSPS 
on the open market to avoid dilution of ordinary 
shareholders. It remains company policy not to allow the 
trust to purchase shares on the open market during 
prohibited periods. The company will utilise a maximum of 
3.5 million shares for purposes of the LSPS, irrespective of 
the source of those shares. The maximum number of shares 
that can be awarded to an individual executive is 1.25 million 
shares over the lifetime of the LSPS.

Lewis Cash Settled Long-Term and  
Short-Term Executive Performance Plan 
(CSLSPP) 
The committee has approved a new incentive scheme which 
will operate on the same basis as the LSPS described above, 
except that it will be a cash settled scheme. The only 
difference between the CSLSPP and the LSPS schemes is 
that under the CSLSPP scheme, no shares are delivered, but 
the value of shares at date of vesting will be paid in cash.  
All other terms and the performance targets in the CSLSPP 
scheme are the same as that of the LSPS.  

The first awards were made on 30 June 2019. 

The Group will voluntarily disclose the number of notional 
shares issued under the scheme to provide equivalent 
disclosure required for equity settled schemes. 

Lewis 2019 Executive Performance Scheme 
(2019 LSPS)
This scheme was approved at the AGM held on 25 October 
2019. Awards under this scheme were made on 28 August 
2020 and 9 June 2021.

The terms of the scheme are substantively the same as the 
LSPS above except for the following changes:

•	 The Group is entitled to a clawback of shares through  
the repurchase and cancellation of shares held by the 
participant and/or an equivalent in money where shares 
have not been repurchased and cancelled where the 
executive:

	– is dismissed for misconduct involving fraud, 
misrepresentation and/or dishonesty and failure to 
materially perform his/her duties; and

	– where the executive is accused of serious misconduct 
that would warrant dismissal, he/she resigns from  
his/her employment prior to the outcome of the 
disciplinary proceedings

•	 the scheme allows for a vesting at certain percentages 
where the performance target has not been met. The 
table below sets out the percentages:

Equal or greater than 100% of target� 100% vested

97.5% to 100% of target� 25% vested

95% to 97.5% of target� 10% vested

Less than 95% of target� No vesting

The company will utilise a maximum of 2.25 million shares 
for purposes of the 2019 LSPS, irrespective of the source of 
those shares. The maximum number of shares that can be 
awarded to an individual executive is 850 000 shares over 
the lifetime of the 2019 LSPS. 

Management
Managers and selected staff of Lewis Stores receive an 
annual guaranteed salary, which includes retirement and 
healthcare benefits. They may also participate in the annual 
performance bonus scheme and the medium and long-term 
share-based incentive schemes described above, at the 
discretion of the committee. Salaries are reviewed annually 
and the level of increase is based on group and individual 
performance. 
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REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED

Implementation Report 2021
Approvals granted by shareholders 
The Group’s Remuneration Policy and Implementation Report was proposed to shareholders for a non-binding advisory vote 
at the AGM on 25 October 2020. The Remuneration Policy was endorsed by shareholders and received 93% of the votes while 
the Implementation Report received 56% support as set out below. 

Votes for
(%)

Votes against
(%)

 Abstentions
(%)

Resolution 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019

Approval of the 
company’s  
Remuneration Policy

93.0 79.9 5.9 20.1 1.1 0

Approval of the 
company’s 
Implementation 
Report

56.0 82.9 42.9 17.1 1.1 0

In accordance with the recommendations of the King IV Report on Corporate Governance for South Africa, 2016 and 
paragraph 3.84(j) of the JSE Limited Listings Requirements, dissenting shareholders were invited to participate in an 
engagement process through the SENS published on 23 October 2020. The engagement process was held on  
16 November 2020. The number of participants was less than 1% of the shareholders, both in terms of number of shareholders 
and shares held. Shareholders also approved the fees payable to non-executive directors for the 2021 financial year by a vote 
of 95.8%. 

Annual salary increase
The average annual staff increase, excluding unionised staff, was 4% for April 2021 (2020:4%). Increases for senior 
management and executives were merit-based and averaged 6% in April 2021 and 4% in April 2020. Increases as a result of 
promotions were excluded from these averages.

Annual cash-based performance bonus scheme
The committee approved a net profit before taxation target of R347.1 million for the 2021 financial year. The Group achieved 
R604.4 million or 174% of target and executive directors and senior management qualified for cash bonuses of between 50% 
and 150% of annual cash salary. 

For the 2020 financial year, the Remuneration committee agreed that the Covid-19 adjustments be excluded from the 2020 
profit before tax for calculating the bonus subject to the stipulation that the maximum bonus for 2020 that an executive could 
be awarded was 65% of cash salary, despite this being only 43.3% of the maximum amount that could have been achieved for 
if the Covid-19 lockdown had not occurred.

Staff
Staff receive a base salary, performance-linked incentives or a 13th cheque, retirement and healthcare funding. The Group 
subsidises membership of designated healthcare schemes in each of the countries in which it operates. Staff benefits include 
educational bursaries, discounts on staff purchases and low-cost funeral and personal accident insurance. Membership of one of 
the Group’s five retirement funds is compulsory for all permanent staff. Salaries are reviewed annually and the level of increase is 
based on group and individual performance. 

Salespersons earn a commission on gross profit above a prescribed threshold. Operational management are incentivised on a 
balanced set of targets including sales, collections, write-offs, stock management and expense control.

Non-executive directors
Non-executive directors are paid a fee for their services as directors. In addition, fees are paid for serving on board committees. 
The fees are benchmarked externally against comparable companies and based on an assessment of the non-executive director’s 
time commitment and increased regulatory and governance obligations. 

In line with best governance and remuneration practice, non-executives do not participate in the Group’s incentive schemes. None 
of the non-executive directors have service contracts with the Group, with the exception of Adheera Bodasing who provides 
certain consulting services to Lewis Stores (Pty) Limited through Polarity Consulting. These consulting fees are not material to 
either Lewis or Polarity Consulting.

The remuneration of non-executive directors is reviewed annually by the committee and recommended to shareholders for 
approval at the AGM.
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REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED

Lewis Executive Retention Scheme (LERS)
The LERS allows executives to invest their net cash bonus in Lewis Group shares and the company issues matching share options 
to executives at no cost. The matching share options vest on the third anniversary subject to the executive still being in the 
employ of the company. 

Year
Vesting 

date
Average 

share price of award
Total shares purchased

 for executives
Total matching 

share awards

2019 Awards 30/06/2022 R33.03 243 864 442 805
2018 Awards 30/06/2021 R29.99 239 996 435 581
2017 Awards – – – –
2016 Awards – – – –
2015 Original award(*) 30/06/2018 R98.88 65 660 111 294

(*) The 2015 matching share awards vested on 30 June 2018 at an average price of R31.11.

As no cash bonuses were earned by executives in June 2016 and June 2017 based on the company performance criteria,  
there were no allocations in terms of this scheme. Furthermore, no discretionary cash bonuses were paid to executives during this 
period. 

The movement in the outstanding shares under this scheme for the respective financial years (ie from 1 April to 31 March) is as 
follows: 

Lewis 
Executive 
Retention 

Scheme

2021
Beginning of year 887 688
Granted –
Forfeited  (9 302)
Vested –

End of year 878 386

Maximum awards available over the life  
of the scheme 1 000 000
Utilised for the scheme to date 989 680

Invested shares 483 860

2020
Beginning of year 439 308

Granted 448 380

Forfeited –

Vested –

End of year 887 688

Maximum awards available over the life  
of the scheme 1 000 000

Utilised for the scheme to date 998 982

Invested shares 489 348

Lewis 2019 Executive Retention Scheme
This scheme was approved at the general meeting on  
25 October 2019. This scheme is similar to that of the Lewis 
Executive Retention Scheme with amendments dealing with a 
clawback of shares provision in the case of fraud, dishonesty, 
misrepresentation and failure materially to perform their 
duties and an amendment which allows the committee to set 
the percentage of the bonus to be invested. The details of the 
outstanding awards as at 9 June 2021 are reflected below:  

June 2021 
Awards

August 2020 
Awards

Vesting date 9/6/2024 28/8/2023

Average share price of award R33.60 R17.17
Total shares purchased for 
executives 266 979 161 245

Total matching share awards 485 417 292 241

Lewis Long-term and Short-term Executive 
Performance Scheme (LSPS)
Short-term awards – Three-year awards
The performance targets are set by the Remuneration 
committee at the beginning of the each of the three years 
and are based on a weighting set for each executive, 
depending on their employment responsibilities, of the 
following:

•	 Headline earnings per share

•	 Quality of the debtors book

	– Level of satisfactory paid customers

	– Debtor costs as a percentage of net debtors

•	 Gross margin

The short-term award share allocations for executive  
directors are disclosed in the outstanding share awards table 
on page 90.

For the 2021 financial year, all the targets for the respective measures were met as set out below. 

2021 Targets
2021 

Target
2021 

Actual
2021 

Award

Headline earnings per share 315.9 cents 616.5 cents Achieved
Quality of the debtors book

– Level of satisfactory paid customers ≥ 67.0% 74.4% Achieved
– Debtor costs as percentage of net debtors ≤ 15.0% 14.3% Achieved
Gross margin ≥ 40.0% 41.8% Achieved

With respect to the 2020 targets, these were impacted by the Covid-19 lockdown and subsequent restrictions and the 
Remuneration committee amended the performance targets as allowed in clause 4.11 of the scheme rules.

2020 Targets
2020 

Target
2020 

Actual
2020 

Adjusted
2020 

Award

Headline earnings per share 404.2 cents 260.2 cents 544.4 cents Achieved

Quality of the debtors book

– Level of satisfactory paid customers ≥ 70.0% 70.5% 70.5% Achieved

– Debtor costs as percentage of net debtors ≤ 14.0% 17.6% 12.1% Achieved

Gross margin ≥ 40.0% 41.0% 41.0% Achieved

The Remuneration committee approved the vesting of these awards based on the achievement of the following targets as 
originally set:

2019 Targets
2019 

Target
2019 

Actual
2019 

Award

Headline earnings per share 318.3 cents 367.4 cents Achieved

Quality of the debtors book

– Level of satisfactory paid customers ≥ 67.0% 71.4% Achieved

– Debtor costs as percentage of net debtors ≤ 19.9% 13.3% Achieved

Gross margin ≥ 40.0% 41.2% Achieved

2018 Targets
2018 

Target
2018 

Actual
2018 

Award

Headline earnings per share 264.4 cents 302.6 cents Achieved

Quality of the debtors book

– Level of satisfactory paid customers ≥ 67.0% 68.4% Achieved

– Debtor costs as percentage of net debtors ≤ 19.9% 17.5% Achieved

Gross margin ≥ 38.0% 41.4% Achieved

2017 Targets
2017 

Target
2017 

Actual
2017 

Award

Headline earnings per share 608.0 cents 400.1 cents Not achieved

Quality of the debtors book

– Level of satisfactory paid customers ≥ 68.8% 68.5% Not achieved

– Debtor costs as percentage of net debtors ≤ 17.1% 19.1% Not achieved

Gross margin ≥ 39.1% 41.6% Achieved
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REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED

Below are the outstanding shares under this scheme as at 31 March 2021, detailed per each award: 

Lewis Long-Term and Short-Term Executive Performance Scheme

2015 
Share award

2016 
Share award

2017 
Share award

2018 
Share award

Total 
Share awards 

Share price at award date R99.45 R45.95 R32.57 R30.55

Number 
of shares

Number 
of shares

Number 
of shares

Number 
of shares

Three year awards 203 660 900 058 1 570 988 1 133 581 3 808 287
Total forfeitures-staff leaving (32 736) (147 446) (147 672) (80 522) (408 376) 
Total forfeitures – non-performance (91 770) (223 729) – – (315 499)
Shares vested (79 154) (528 883) (1 423 316) – (2 031 353)

Shares remaining – 31 March 2021 – – – 1 053 059 1 053 059

Long-term awards – Four-year awards
Long-term awards were awarded on 30 June 2015. These awards vested on 30 June 2018 and 30 June 2019 respectively with  
only 10% of the award vesting for those participants in the employ of the Group at the vesting dates. No further long-term awards 
were made.

Lewis Cash Settled Long-Term and Short-Term Executive Performance Scheme
As noted above, this scheme operates on the same basis as the LSPS described above, except that it will be a cash settled 
scheme. The only difference between the CSLSPP and the LSPS schemes is that under the CSLSPP scheme, no shares are 
delivered, but the value of shares at date of vesting will be paid in cash. All other terms and the performance targets in the 
CSLSPP scheme are the same as that of the LSPS.  

Below is a table setting out the movements for 2021 and 2020 financial years (ie. from 1 April to 31 March):

Lewis Cash Settled Long-Term and Short-Term Executive Performance Plan – Notional Shares

Number of shares 2021 2020

Beginning of year 1 157 435 –

Granted 1 037 873 1 200 299

Forfeited (12 770) (42 864)

Vested – –

End of year 2 182 538 1 157 435

30 June 2019 – three year award 1 144 665 1 157 435

28 August 2020 – three year award 1 037 873

On 9 June 2021, awards under the CSLSPP were made to selected executives. The outstanding awards under this scheme as at 
9 June 2021 are as follows:

Year
Vesting 

date

Average 
share price 

of award

Total 
outstanding 

award shares

June 2021 awards 9/6/2024 R33.44 529 439
August 2020 awards 28/8/2023 R14.90 1 037 873
June 2019 awards 30/6/2022 R33.38 1 144 665

Lewis 2019 Executive Performance Scheme
This scheme was adopted at the 2020 AGM. The terms of the scheme which are substantively the same as the LSPS above 
except for amending the scheme for a clawback of shares provision in the case of fraud, dishonesty, misrepresentation and failure 
to materially perform their duties and for providing for vesting at certain percentages where the performance target has not been 
met (95% to 100% of target). Full details of the scheme are provided on page 84.

The Remuneration committee approved the granting of the first awards under this scheme on 28 August 2020. The following 
awards are outstanding as at 9 June 2021: 

Lewis 2019 Executive Performance Scheme

Summary of three year awards as at 9 June 2021
2020 

Share award
2021 

Share award

Total 
share

 awards 

Share price at award date R14.90 R33.44 –

Number of 
shares

Number of 
shares

Three year awards 1 148 374 549 496 1 697 870
Total forfeitures-staff leaving – – –
Total forfeitures – non-performance – – –
Shares vested  – – –

Shares awards – 9 June 2021 1 148 374 549 496 1 697 870

Summary of all equity-settled awards as at 31 March 2021

Lewis 2019 Executive 
Retention Scheme

Lewis 2019 Executive
 Performance Scheme

2021
Beginning of year – –
Granted 292 241 1 148 374
Forfeited – –
Vested – –

End of year 292 241 1 148 374

Maximum awards available over the life of the scheme 1 500 000 2 250 000
Utilised for the scheme to date 292 241 1 148 374

Invested shares 161 245 –

Lewis Executive 
Retention Scheme

Lewis Long-Term and 
Short-Term Executive

 Performance

2021 
Beginning of year 887 688 3 266 973
Granted – –
Forfeited (9 302) (205 262)
Vested – (571 383)

End of year 878 386 2 490 328

Maximum awards available over the life of the scheme 1 000 000 3 500 000
Utilised for the scheme to date 989 680 3 391 127

Invested shares 483 860 –
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REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED

Executive directors’ remuneration disclosure per financial year

Lewis Group Limited 
Executive director’s remuneration

Number 
of shares

Share price 
Rand

J Enslin (CEO)

Number 
of shares

J Bestbier (CFO) 

2021
R’000

2020
R’000

2021
R’000

2020
R’000

Cash remuneration
Total Guaranteed Pay 5 241 5 000 3 120 3 000

Cash Performance Bonus 2 698 5 756 1 681 3 491

Total GP and CPB   7 939 10 756 4 801 6 491

Share awards
LERS – matching award – – – –

– Face value of award – – – – – –

– Share price performance – – – – – –

Add: LSPS – three-year award 2 731 3 506 1 482 756

– Face value of award 219 498 32.57 7 149 6 892 119 107 3 879 1 485

– Performance criteria – (2 235) – (482)

– Share price performance 219 498 (20.13) (4 418) (1 151) 119 107 (2 397) (248)

Add: LSPS – four-year award – 200 – 50

– Face value of award  5 933  1 483

– Performance criteria  (5 339)  (1 335)

– Share price performance  (393)  (98)

Total share awards   2 731 3 707 1 482 806

Total earned remuneration   10 670 14 463 6 283 7 297

Outstanding shares for Lewis Group Executive Directors as at 9 June 2021
Outstanding share awards for executive directors 
Equity-settled schemes Share price Vesting date J Bestbier J Enslin

Lewis Short-Term and Long-Term  
Executive Performance Scheme 
30 June 2018 – Short-term award R30.55 30 June 2021 114 284 188 397

Lewis 2019 Executive Performance Scheme
28 August 2020 – Short-term award R14.90 28 August 2023 270 771 438 977
9 June 2021 – Short-term award R33.44 9 June 2024 128 769 210 794

Lewis Executive Retention Scheme 
30 June 2018 29.99 30 June 2021 48 493 119 154
30 June 2019 R33.03 30 June 2022 70 256 115 816

Lewis 2019 Executive Retention Scheme

28 August 2020 R17.17 28 August 2023 63 635 102 147
9 June 2021 R33.60 9 June 2024 78 047 126 533

774 255  1 301 818 

Invested shares

J Bestbier J Enslin

Lewis Executive Retention Scheme 65 315 129 240
Lewis 2019 Executive Retention Scheme 77 925 125 774

As at 9 June 2021 143 240 255 014

Outstanding notional shares – Cash-settled schemes Share price Vesting date J Bestbier J Enslin

Lewis Cash-Settled Short-Term and Long-Term Executive 
Performance Scheme – New Scheme
30 June 2019 R33.38 30 June 2022 116 217 187 347

Non-executive directors’ remuneration disclosure per financial year
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R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000
2021
Hilton Saven 644 133 93 73 102 73 245 76 1 439
Fatima Abrahams 311 133 93 149 43 149 179 76 1 133
Adheera Bodasing 310 133 93 73 43 652
Daphne Motsepe 311 133 93  73 43 73 726
Tapiwa Njikizana 265 133 93 73 43 607
Alan Smart* 16 5 21
Duncan Westcott 310 310 150 73 43 179 154 1 219
Total 2 151 975 615 514 317 295 619 311 5 797
2020
Hilton Saven 611 128 90 71 99 71 172 73 1 315
Fatima Abrahams 293 128 90 144 42 144 172 73 1 085
Adheera Bodasing 293 128 90 71 42 623
Daphne Motsepe 293 128 90 71 42 71 694
Tapiwa Njikizana 186 81 57 45 26 45 440
Alan Smart 293 128 90 71 42 71 245 73 1 012
Duncan Westcott 293 299 144 71 42 172 148 1 168

Total 2 261 1 018 652 544 332 402 761 367 6 337

* Retired 2 April 2020. 

Proposed non-executive director fees for 2022

Board/committee position
%

 Increase

Proposed 
fees for 2022

R’000

Fees earned 
for 2021

R’000
Non-executive chairman 5.4 680 645
Non-executive director 5.2 325 309
Audit committee chairman 6.3 335 315
Audit committee member/invitee 5.9 143 135
Risk committee chairman 5.3 160 152
Risk committee member 5.3 100 95
Remuneration committee chairman 5.3 160 152
Remuneration committee member 5.3 79 75
Nomination committee chairman 5.8 110 104
Nomination committee member 6.8 47 44
Social, ethics and transformation committee chairman 5.3 160 152
Social, ethics and transformation committee member 5.3 79 75

Directors’ shareholding as at 31 March
At 31 March 2021, the directors’ beneficial direct and indirect interest in the company’s issued shares was as follows:

2021 2021 2020 2020

Director Direct Indirect Direct Indirect

Hilton Saven 6 440 6 440
Jacques Bestbier  120 255 100 314 1 148 65 315
Johan Enslin  425 536 185 421 206 038 129 240
Alan Smart  319 070 

Total  545 791 292 175 526 256 200 995
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SHAREHOLDER ANALYSIS
AS AT 31 MARCH 2021 

2.1%

65.3%10.7%

5.8%

16.1%
3.9%

74.6%

12.6%

6.8%
2.1%

Beneficial shareholders By fund manager

South Africa

USA and Canada

United Kingdom

Europe

Rest of World

Shareholders’ spread
Number of

 shareholders
Number of

shares
Total % Total %

1 – 1 000 shares  1 406 63.20  350 120 0.48
1 001 – 10 000 shares  510 22.92  1 656 133 2.32
10 001 – 100 000 shares  202 9.08  6 817 034 9.53
100 001 – 1 000 000 shares  90 4.04  29 104 967 40.69
1 000 001 shares and over  17 0.76  33 607 659 46.98

Total  2 225 100.00  71 535 913 100.00

Distribution of shareholders 
Number of

 shareholders
Number of

shares
Total % Total %

Public:  2 213 99.47  70 146 901 98.06

Unit trusts/Mutual funds  28 464 237 39.79
Pension funds  15 414 883 21.55
Other  26 267 781 36.72

Non-public:  12 0.53  1 389 012 1.94

Lewis Employee Incentive Scheme Trust  1 0.05  27 009 0.04
Directors:

Lewis Group Limited

Direct 2 0.09  545 791 0.76
Indirect 3 0.13  292 175 0.41

Lewis Stores Proprietary Limited

Direct 3 0.13  348 229 0.49
Indirect 3 0.13  175 808 0.24

 2 225 100.00  71 535 913 100.00

Major shareholdings
According to the company’s register of disclosures of beneficial interests made by registered shareholders acting in a nominee 
capacity, and the disclosures made by fund managers in terms of section 56 of the Companies Act of 2008, the following 
entities owned in excess of 5% of the company’s shares as at 31 March 2021:

Number 
of shares

Total %

Beneficial shareholders:
Coronation Balanced Plus Fund (SA) 3 684 418  5.15 
Corolife Special Opportunities Portfolio (SA) 3 387 269  4.74 

By fund manager:
Coronation Fund Managers (SA) 21 158 866  29.58 
36One Asset Management (SA) 4 587 648  6.41 
Mianzo Asset Management (SA) 4 391 975  6.14 
Ninety One (SA) 3 960 600  5.54 

Geographic analysis of shareholders
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Primary statements
The primary statements are included in the 
beginning of the annual financial statements and 
include note references to specific underlying 
detailed notes.

Notes to the  
annual financial statements
The notes to the annual financial statements have 
been ordered on the basis set out in note 1.1.

Accounting policies
The principle accounting policies applied in the 
preparation of these annual financial statements are 
included in the specific notes to which they relate 
and are indicated with a light blue background.

Significant accounting estimates 
and judgements
The areas involving a high degree of judgement or 
complexity, or areas where assumptions and 
estimates are significant to the annual financial 
statements, are included in the specific notes to 
which they relate and are indicated with a grey 
background.
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Postal address: 
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Auditors: 
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Bankers: 
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Standard Bank of South Africa Limited
Nedbank Limited

Company  
information



LEWIS GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2021 2

Statutory  
information

Primary 
statements

Notes to annual  
financial statements

Company annual 
financial statements

Appendices to the  
audit committee report

Directors’ responsibility statement

Management have prepared the annual financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRS”) and the Companies Act of South Africa.

The annual financial statements, which present the results and financial position of the company and its subsidiaries, are the 
responsibility of the directors.

In fulfilling its responsibility, the Board of Directors has approved the accounting policies applied and established that 
reasonable and sound estimates and judgements have been made by management when preparing the annual financial 
statements.

Adequate accounting records and an effective system of internal controls have been maintained to ensure the integrity of the 
underlying information. Internal audit has performed a written assessment confirming the effectiveness of the company’s 
system of internal control and risk management, including internal financial controls. The Board is satisfied that the system of 
internal controls, which includes internal financial controls, operates effectively.

A well-established control environment, which incorporates risk management and internal control procedures, exists to 
provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that assets are safeguarded and the risk facing the business is being 
adequately managed. The Board confirms that during the period under review the group has maintained an efficient and 
effective process to manage key risks. The directors are not aware of any current or anticipated key risks that may threaten 
the sustainability of the business.

The Board of Directors has reviewed the business of the group together with budget and cash flows for the year to 
31 March 2022 as well as the current financial position and have no reason to believe that the group will not be a going 
concern for the foreseeable future. The going concern basis has therefore been adopted in preparing the annual financial 
statements.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. (“PwC”), as external auditors, have examined the annual financial statements and their report 
appears on pages 4 to 9.

The annual financial statements of the group and the company for the year-ended 31 March 2021, which appear on  
pages 17 to 97 have been approved by the Board of Directors and signed on their behalf by:

	 	
H Saven	 J Enslin	 J Bestbier
Chairman	 Chief executive officer 	 Chief financial officer

Cape Town
27 May 2021



LEWIS GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2021 3

Statutory  
information

Primary 
statements

Notes to annual  
financial statements

Company annual 
financial statements

Appendices to the  
audit committee report

In line with paragraph 3.84(k) of the JSE Limited (“JSE”) Listings Requirements, the Chief executive officer and  
Chief financial officer hereby confirm that:

•	 the annual financial statements set out on pages 17 to 97, fairly present in all material respects the financial position, 
financial performance and cash flows of the issuer in terms of IFRS;

•	 no facts have been omitted, or untrue statements made that would make the annual financial statements false or 
misleading;

•	 internal financial controls have been put in place to ensure that material information relating to the issuer and its 
consolidated subsidiaries have been provided to effectively prepare the annual financial statements of the issuer; and

•	 the internal financial controls are adequate and effective and can be relied upon in compiling the annual financial 
statements, having fulfilled our role and function within the combined assurance model pursuant to principle 15 of the 
King IV Report on Corporate Governance for South Africa, 2016. Where we are not satisfied, we have disclosed to the 
Audit committee and the auditors the deficiencies in design and operational effectiveness of the internal financial 
controls and any fraud that involves directors, and have taken the necessary remedial action.

	
J Enslin	 J Bestbier
Chief executive officer	 Chief financial officer

27 May 2021

Chief executive officer and  
Chief financial officer’s responsibility statement

Preparation and presentation  
of audited annual financial statements

The preparation of the audited annual financial statements was supervised by Mr J Bestbier CA(SA).

Company secretary certificate

Compliance with the Companies Act, 2008
In terms of the Companies Act and for the year-ended 31 March 2021, I certify that the company has filed all returns and 
notices required by the Companies Act with the Companies and Intellectual Property Commission and that all such 
returns and notices are true, correct and up to date.

INT Makomba
Company secretary

27 May 2021
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Independent auditor’s report
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF LEWIS GROUP LIMITED

Report on the audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements  

Our opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated and separate financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated 
and separate financial position of Lewis Group Limited (the company) and its subsidiaries (together the group) as at  
31 March 2021, and its consolidated and separate financial performance and its consolidated and separate cash flows for 
the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and the requirements of the 
Companies Act of South Africa.

What we have audited
Lewis Group Limited’s consolidated and separate financial statements set out on pages 17 to 95 comprise:

•	 the consolidated and company balance sheets as at 31 March 2021;

•	 the consolidated income statement for the year then ended;

•	 the consolidated and company statements of comprehensive income for the year then ended;

•	 the consolidated and company statements of changes in equity for the year then ended;

•	 the consolidated and company cash flow statements for the year then ended; and

•	 the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated and separate financial 
statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence
We are independent of the group in accordance with the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors’ Code of Professional 
Conduct for Registered Auditors (IRBA Code) and other independence requirements applicable to performing audits of 
financial statements in South Africa. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IRBA Code 
and in accordance with other ethical requirements applicable to performing audits in South Africa. The IRBA Code is 
consistent with the corresponding sections of the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code 
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards).

Our audit approach
Overview

Overall group materiality

•	 R67 million, which represents 1% of total consolidated revenue.

Group audit scope

•	 The consolidated financial statements are a consolidation of the company and eleven 
subsidiaries (directly and indirectly held, and which represent trading entities, dormant 
entities, an insurance company and a management services company). The group has six 
operating subsidiaries in South Africa, Botswana, Lesotho, Eswatini and Namibia.

•	 All subsidiaries within the group, in the five geographical locations considered to be 
financially significant, were subject to full scope audits Analytical review procedures were 
performed over the remaining components. We also performed procedures in respect of 
the consolidation process, in order to gain sufficient evidence over the consolidated 
financial statements.

Key audit matters

•	 Expected credit losses (ECL) on trade receivables; and

•	 Valuation of the right-of-use assets and lease liabilities in terms of IFRS 16 ‘Leases’.

materiality

group 
scoping

key audit 
matters

The examination of controls over the maintenance and integrity of the Group’s website is beyond the scope of the audit of the financial statements. 
Accordingly, we accept no responsibility for any changes that may have occurred to the financial statements since they were initially presented  
on the website.
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Independent auditor’s report continued

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the 
consolidated and separate financial statements. In particular, we considered where the directors made subjective 
judgements; for example, in respect of significant accounting estimates that involved making assumptions and considering 
future events that are inherently uncertain. As in all of our audits, we also addressed the risk of management override of 
internal controls, including among other matters, consideration of whether there was evidence of bias that represented a 
risk of material misstatement due to fraud.

Materiality
The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. An audit is designed to obtain reasonable 
assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. Misstatements may arise due to fraud or 
error. They are considered material if individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the consolidated financial statements.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined certain quantitative thresholds for materiality, including the overall 
group materiality for the consolidated financial statements as a whole as set out in the table below. These, together with 
qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the nature, timing and extent of our audit 
procedures and to evaluate the effect of misstatements, both individually and in aggregate on the financial statements as a 
whole.

Overall group materiality R67 million.

How we determined it 1% of total consolidated revenue.

Rationale for the materiality  
benchmark applied

We selected total consolidated revenue as the benchmark because, in our view, it most 
appropriately reflects the activity levels of the group. It is a benchmark against which the 
performance of the group can be consistently measured and thus would be most relevant 
to users of the consolidated financial statements, given the relatively low and volatile 
profit margins over the last five years, whilst the other key elements of the consolidated  
financial statements have remained constant. 

We chose 1% based on our professional judgement, after consideration of the range of 
quantitative materiality thresholds that would typically apply when using consolidated 
revenue to compute materiality.

How we tailored our group audit scope  
We tailored the scope of our audit in order to perform sufficient work to enable us to provide an opinion on the 
consolidated financial statements as a whole, taking into account the structure of the group, the accounting processes and 
controls, and the industry in which the group operates.

The group comprises the company and its eleven subsidiaries (directly and indirectly held, and which represent trading 
entities, dormant entities, an insurance company and a management services company). It operates mainly through its 
operating subsidiary, Lewis Stores Proprietary Limited, and provides insurance cover to customers through its registered 
short-term insurer subsidiary, Monarch Insurance Company Limited. The group operates across five different geographical 
locations – South Africa, Botswana, Lesotho, Eswatini and Namibia.

All subsidiaries within the group, in the five geographical locations considered to be financially significant, were subject to 
full scope audits by auditors from within the PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC) network of firms. Analytical review 
procedures were performed over the remaining components. We also performed procedures in respect of the 
consolidation process, in order to gain sufficient evidence over the consolidated financial statements.

In establishing the overall approach to the group audit, we determined the extent of the work that needed to be performed 
by us, as the group engagement team, and other component auditors from other PwC network firms, operating under our 
instruction, in order to issue our audit opinion on the consolidated financial statements of the group. Where the work was 
performed by component auditors, we determined the level of involvement necessary in the audit work at those 
components to be able to conclude whether sufficient appropriate audit evidence has been obtained as a basis for our 
opinion on the consolidated financial statements as a whole.

Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated and separate financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our 
audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not 
provide a separate opinion on these matters.

We communicate the key audit matters that relate to the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current 
period in the table below. We have determined that there are no key audit matters in respect of the separate financial 
statements to communicate in our report.
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Independent auditor’s report continued

Key audit matter  How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Expected credit losses (ECL) on trade receivables

Refer to note 4 (Trade, other receivables and debtor costs) to the 
consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 March 2021, the gross value of trade receivables was R5.6 billion, 
against which an ECL of R2.3 billion was recognised.

The ECL was calculated by applying IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’  
(“IFRS 9”). 

The Group elected to apply the simplified model under IFRS 9 and 
measures the impairment allowance at an amount equal to the lifetime 
ECL of all trade receivables. Lifetime ECL’s are based on probability 
weighted cash flows considering a range of possible outcomes and 
discounting these cash flows at the original effective interest rate, that 
includes initiation fees as they are integral to the effective interest rate. 

In calculating the ECL, the key areas of significant management 
judgement and estimation applied included the following:

•	 Calculation of the probability weighted cash flows using the trade 
receivables population payment behaviour in combination with a 
transition matrix and conditional probabilities. The transition matrix  
and payment performance for each payment state has been developed 
using the group’s customer payment history. The transition matrix 
predicts the population’s payment behaviour and probability of the 
account being in a particular payment state and transitioning into 
future payment states;

•	 Determination of the write-off point: Write-offs take place where 
the customer’s payment behaviour cannot be rehabilitated after all 
reasonable commercially and economically appropriate collection 
methods have been utilised and exhausted. The bad debt write-
offs are initiated where the customer has not made a qualifying 
payment in the three months preceding the write-off for the 
certain categories of customers; and

Forward-looking information:

•	 In the current year the group could not identify reliable statistical 
relationships between macroeconomic variables and credit losses due 
to the severity and uniqueness of current economic conditions.  
The forecasted impact of future events and economic conditions in 
determining ECL include the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic and 
expected regulatory changes on ECL.

•	 The model used by the Group to determine ECL uses the most recent 
12 months of data and therefore the effect of Covid-19 is inherent in  
the loss rate used in determining the ECL, without including an explicit 
macroeconomic link. Management has calibrated the ECL model to 
allow for the distressed macroeconomic environment and future 
customer experience.

•	 Management has further determined separate event-driven ECL 
overlays to cater for specific events which are not included in the ECL 
models, such as another hard lockdown, the ceasing of Covid-19 social 
grants and the impact of government employees’ wage freeze on their 
ability to service debt. Management increases the results produced by 
the modelled output, which are not yet captured by the ECL models.

We considered the ECL on trade receivables to be a matter of most 
significance to our current year audit of the consolidated financial 
statements due to the following:

•	 the degree of subjective judgement and estimation applied by 
management in determining the ECL; 

•	 the continued uncertainty the Covid-19 pandemic and related 
regulatory changes has on the macroeconomic environment and its 
impact on the ECL; and

•	 the magnitude of the ECL recognised in the consolidated financial 
statements.

Utilising our actuarial expertise we tested the 
calibration of ECL statistical model components as 
follows, noting no aspects which required further 
consideration, as well as no material exceptions:

•	 We assessed the appropriateness of the 
methodology applied by management in their 
IFRS 9 model documentation, which forms the 
basis of the ECL calculation, with reference to 
the requirements of IFRS 9; 

•	 We tested the reasonability of the key 
assumptions, i.e. effective interest rate and  
probability weighted cash flows applied in the 
ECL calculation, through independent 
recalculation with reference to independent 
sources of information obtained where 
applicable; and

•	 We tested the accuracy of the methodology 
applied by management’s experts in their 
calculation of the ECL by performing an 
independent recalculation of the ECL values  
as at 31 March 2021. 

Determination of the write-off point:

We accepted management’s write-off point 
following evaluation of management’s assessment 
of historical post write-off recoveries performed by 
them to determine the point at which there was no 
reasonable expectation of further recovery. Through 
recalculation of the write-off point for all customers, 
we tested the application of the group’s write-off 
policy using historical data. We excluded post 
write-off recoveries from expected cash flows for 
purposes of recalculating the ECL.

Making use of our actuarial expertise we performed 
the following procedures in respect of the forward-
looking information included by management in 
their calculation of ECL:

•	 We evaluated the impact of economic stresses 
and the effect of Covid-19 by creating an 
independent ECL model that adjusted historical 
data (specifically loss rates) for the expected 
impact of Covid-19, based on industry 
benchmarks. We compared the results of our 
model to management’s ECL model and found 
no material differences;

•	 We assessed the reasonableness of the separate 
event driven ECL overlays raised by 
management, with reference to our 
understanding of the group and industry, 
emerging risks and regulatory changes.  
We reperformed the overlay calculations 
performed by management and noted no 
material differences. Furthermore, based on our 
wider independent recalculation of the ECL,  
we considered effects already taken into account 
by management in their ECL models to assess 
whether the impact of the overlays were double 
counted. We noted no material exceptions.
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Independent auditor’s report continued

Key audit matter  How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Valuation of the right-of-use assets and lease liabilities in term of IFRS 16 ‘Leases’

Refer to note 17 (Leases) to the consolidated financial 
statements.

The group leases various properties. Leases are recognised as 
a lease liability and a corresponding right-of-use (“ROU”) asset 
at the date of commencement of the lease agreement in terms 
of IFRS 16 ‘Leases’ (“IFRS 16”).

On initial recognition, the ROU asset and lease liability is 
measured at the present value of the future lease payments 
discounted over the lease term using the Group’s relevant 
incremental borrowing rate. The lease term may include future 
lease periods for which the Group has extension options which 
it is reasonably certain to exercise. 

ROU assets are tested for impairment whenever circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount may exceed its recoverable 
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair 
value less costs to sell and value-in-use (“VIU”). An impairment 
loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying 
amount exceeds its recoverable amount.

The group considers each store to be a separate cash-
generating unit (“CGU”) for purposes of its impairment 
assessment, and calculated the recoverable amount of each 
CGU to be its VIU.

VIU is based on discounted future cash flow forecasts, 
requiring management to make judgements on certain key 
inputs, including expected sales growth, collection rates, 
growth in expenses, weighted average cost of capital and 
terminal growth rates.

We considered this matter to be of most significance to our 
current year audit of the consolidated financial statements due 
to the following:

•	 the degree of judgement and estimation applied by 
management in determining the lease term and discount 
rate;

•	 the magnitude of the ROU asset and lease liability due to 
the high number of leases; and

•	 the degree of judgement applied by management in 
determining the impairment charge relating to ROU assets.

We performed the following procedures:

•	 For a sample of new leases and modifications, we evaluated 
the lease terms, including the renewal periods where 
appropriate. We inspected the underlying contracts to 
assess management’s judgements made in respect of the 
lease periods applied in the lease calculation, and to 
evaluate whether they are accurate and complete. We noted 
no material exceptions.

•	 We assessed the accuracy of the discount rates determined 
by management with reference to entity-specific borrowing 
rates and external market information. We compared 
management’s discount rates used to our range of 
independently determined discount rates. We found that 
management’s rates fell within our range of rates.

•	 For a sample of new leases and modifications, we tested the 
accuracy of the underlying lease data by agreeing the 
leases to original contracts or other underlying information. 
We noted no material exceptions. 

•	 We tested the completeness of the lease data by reconciling 
the lease expenses recognised in the current year, to the 
lease data underpinning management’s IFRS 16 calculations. 
We noted no material differences.

•	 We recalculated the ROU assets and lease liabilities for all 
leases. We compared our results to that of management, 
noting no material differences.

We performed the following procedures on the impairment 
assessment of ROU assets:

•	 We tested management’s impairment calculation of the 
ROU assets by recalculating the VIU determined by 
management for a sample of stores. 

•	 Utilising our valuation expertise, we tested the 
reasonableness of the discount rate used in the VIU 
calculations, by calculating a range of independent discount 
rates based on relevant market data as at year-end.  
We found that management’s discount rate fell within our 
independent range of discount rates. 

•	 We assessed the reasonableness of management’s cash 
flow forecasts by agreeing prior year forecasts to actual 
results. We noted no matters in this regard requiring further 
consideration.

•	 We assessed the reasonability of the growth rates used in 
the forecast period as well as terminal growth rate used. 
These were assessed with reference to historical 
performance of the CGU and for that of the Group as 
applicable, as well as industry reports. Based on our 
procedures performed, we accepted the assumptions used 
by management in the impairment models.
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Independent auditor’s report continued

Other information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the 
document titled “Lewis Group Limited Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2021”, which includes the 
Directors’ Report, the Audit Committee Report and the Company Secretary Certificate as required by the Companies Act 
of South Africa, which we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, and the document titled “Lewis Group – 
Integrated Report 2021”, which is expected to be made available to us after that date. The other information does not 
include the consolidated or the separate financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. 

Our opinion on the consolidated and separate financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not 
and will not express an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
consolidated and separate financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s 
report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.  
We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated and separate financial 
statements
The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated and separate financial 
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act  
of South Africa, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of 
consolidated and separate financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated and separate financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group and 
the company’s ability to continue as a going-concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 
the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the group and/or the company or to 
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated and separate financial 
statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated and separate financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated and separate financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

•	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated and separate financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting 
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the group’s 
and the company’s internal control.

•	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by the directors.

•	 Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going-concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 
on the group’s and the company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated and 
separate financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on 
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the 
group and/or company to cease to continue as a going concern.

•	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated and separate financial statements, including 
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated and separate financial statements represent the underlying transactions 
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
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Independent auditor’s report continued

•	 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities 
within the group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, 
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear 
on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the 
audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. 
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or 
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the 
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such 
communication.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 
In terms of the IRBA Rule published in Government Gazette Number 39475 dated 4 December 2015, we report that 
PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. has been the auditor of Lewis Group Limited for 30 years.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc.
Director: MC Hamman
Registered Auditor

Cape Town, South Africa
27 May 2021
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Audit committee report
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

The Audit committee (“the committee”) has pleasure in submitting its report for the year-ended 31 March 2021 in 
compliance with the Companies Act, No. 71 of 2008, as amended (“the Companies Act”).

Introduction
The committee is a statutory committee which carries out its statutory duties in accordance with the Companies Act. 
In addition to its statutory duties the committee provides independent oversight over external audit, internal audit and the 
finance function in terms of the recommendations of the King IV Report on Corporate Governance. The committee 
operates in accordance with a documented charter and complies with all relevant legislation, regulation and governance 
codes. The committee’s terms of reference are reviewed annually and approved by the Board.

The committee executed its duties in terms of the requirements of the Companies Act and King IV.

The committee acts as the Audit committee for all the subsidiaries in the Lewis Group except for Monarch Insurance 
Company Limited (“Monarch”) which has its own Audit and Risk committee.

Objectives
The objectives of the committee are:

•	 To assist the Board to discharge its duties relating to the safeguarding of assets, the operation of adequate systems and 
controls, overseeing integrated reporting, reviewing of financial information and the preparation of interim and annual 
financial statements in compliance with all applicable legal requirements and accounting standards.

•	 To facilitate and promote communication and liaison between the Board of Directors and the company’s management 
in respect of the matters referred to above.

•	 To recommend the introduction of measures which the committee believes may enhance the credibility and objectivity 
of financial statements and reports concerning affairs of the company.

•	 To perform their statutory functions under section 94 of the Companies Act.

•	 To advise on any matter referred to the committee by the Board of Directors.

Relationship with the Monarch Audit and Risk committee
•	 Due to the integrated nature of the group’s systems and processes, the Lewis Group Audit committee has responsibility 

relating to overseeing:

	– internal and external audit management; and

	– maintenance of an effective internal control system.

•	 In order for the Monarch Audit and Risk committee to discharge its responsibilities under the Insurance Act, the Lewis 
Group Audit committee refers any issues to the Monarch Audit and Risk committee where such issues impact 
on Monarch.

•	 The duty and scope of the Monarch Audit and Risk committee in monitoring the compliance with legal and regulatory 
requirements has been extended to include the Financial Advisory and Intermediary Services Act due to its 
interrelationship with the insurance activities of the group.

•	 The minutes of all Monarch Audit and Risk committee meetings are tabled at the meetings of the Lewis Group  
Audit committee.

Membership
The committee consists of three independent non-executive directors:

DJ Westcott (Chairman)

D Motsepe 

T Njikizana

During the year there were no changes to the membership of the committee.

Biographical details of the committee members are provided in Appendix A.

The Chief executive officer, Chief financial officer, other relevant members of management and representatives of the 
internal and external auditors attend the meetings as invitees.

The committee meets separately with external auditors, without members of executive management being present, 
at least once a year. The effectiveness of the committee is assessed as part of the annual Board and committee 
self-evaluation process.
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Audit committee report continued
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

Committee activities
The committee met three times during the year under review. The number of meetings held during the year was affected 
by the national lockdown declared in terms of the Disaster Management Act, 2002 by the government on 27 March 2020.

Attendance of the members has been set out in Appendix B.

The committee attended to the following material matters:

Financial statements
As required by its terms of reference, the committee performed the following with respect to the financial statements.

•	 Reviewed the interim results and year-end financial statements, including the public announcements of the company’s 
financial results, and made recommendations to the Board for their approval. In the course of its review the committee:

	– took appropriate steps to ensure that the financial statements were prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”);

	– considered the appropriateness of accounting policies and disclosures and material judgements applied; and

	– completed a detailed review of the going concern assumption and confirmed that the going concern assumption was 
appropriate in the preparation of the financial statements.

Integrated Report
The committee fulfils an oversight role regarding the company’s Integrated Report and the reporting process.

The committee considered the company’s Integrated Report and assessed its consistency with operational, financial and 
other information known to the audit committee members, and for consistency with the annual financial statements.

The committee satisfied itself that the Integrated Report will be materially accurate, complete, reliable and consistent with 
the annual financial statements.

The committee recommended the Integrated Report for the year-ended 31 March 2021 for approval by the Board on 
25 May 2021.

External auditors
With regards to external audit the committee performed the following functions:

•	 Reviewed the independence of PwC, the company’s external auditors, and the designated auditor, before 
recommending to the Board that their re-election be proposed to shareholders (refer section on Independence of 
External Auditors).

•	 Approved, in consultation with management, the audit fee and engagement terms for the external auditors for the 2021 
financial year. The fees paid to the auditors are disclosed in note 23.3 to the annual financial statements.

•	 Determined the nature and extent of allowable non-audit services and approved the policy for the provision of 
non-audit services. It is the policy of the group that the auditor is restricted from rendering accounting, IT consulting 
services, company secretarial, internal audit and human resource services.

•	 Reviewed and approved the external audit plan, ensuring that material risk areas were included and that coverage of the 
significant business processes was acceptable.

•	 Reviewed the external audit reports and management’s response, considered their effect on the financial statements 
and internal financial control.

The committee was not required to deal with any complaints relating to accounting practices or internal audit, nor to the 
content or audit of the group’s financial statements, the internal financial controls and related matters.
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Internal audit
With regards to internal audit the committee performed the following functions:

•	 Reviewed and approved the existing internal audit charter which ensures that the group’s internal audit function is 
independent and has the necessary resources, standing and authority within the organisation to enable it to discharge 
its duties.

•	 Satisfied as to the credibility, independence and objectivity of the internal audit function.

•	 Reviewed and approved the annual internal audit plan, ensuring that material risk areas were included and that the 
coverage of significant business processes was acceptable.

•	 Reviewed the quarterly internal audit reports, covering the effectiveness of internal control, material fraud incidents and 
material non-compliance with group policies and procedures. The committee is advised of all internal control 
developments and advised of any material losses, with none being reported during the year.

•	 Considered and reviewed with management and internal auditors any significant findings and management responses 
thereto in relation to reliable financial reporting, corporate governance and effective internal control to ensure 
appropriate action is taken.

•	 Oversaw the co-operation between internal audit and external auditors, and the committee is satisfied that the 
company has optimised the assurance coverage obtained from management, internal and external assurance providers 
in accordance with an appropriate combined assurance model.

•	 Assessed the performance and qualification of the internal audit function and found them to be satisfactory.

Internal financial control and compliance
•	 Reviewed and approved the group’s existing treasury policy and reviewed the quarterly treasury reports prepared by 

management.

•	 Reviewed the quarterly legal and regulatory reports setting out the latest legislative and regulatory developments 
impacting the group.

•	 Reviewed the quarterly report on taxation.

•	 Reviewed information technology reports.

•	 Considered and, where appropriate, made recommendations on internal financial control.

Internal audit has performed a written assessment of the effectiveness of the company’s system of internal control and risk 
management, including internal financial controls. This written assessment by internal audit, as well as other information 
available to the committee, formed the basis for the committee’s recommendation to the Board, on the effectiveness of 
the system of internal controls to be included in the Integrated Report.

Governance of risk
The Board has assigned oversight of the company’s risk management function to the Risk committee. The minutes of the 
Risk committee are made available to the Audit committee to assist it in fulfilling its oversight role with respect to financial 
reporting risks arising from internal financial controls, fraud and information technology risks.

Evaluation of expertise and experience of the Chief financial officer and finance function
•	 In terms of the JSE Listings Requirements, the committee satisfied itself as to the appropriateness of the expertise and 

experience of the group’s Chief financial officer.

•	 The committee has considered and has satisfied itself of the appropriateness of the expertise and adequacy of 
resources of the finance function and experience of the senior members of management responsible for the financial 
function.

Audit committee report continued
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
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Independence of external auditors
The committee is satisfied that PwC is independent of the group. This assessment was made after considering the 
following:

•	 Confirmation from the external auditors that they, or their immediate family, do not hold any significant direct or indirect 
financial interest or have any material business relationship with Lewis. The external auditors also confirmed that they 
have internal monitoring procedures to ensure their independence.

•	 The auditors do not, other than in their capacity as external auditors or rendering permitted non-audit services, receive 
any remuneration or other benefits from the group.

•	 The auditor’s independence was not impaired by the non-audit work performed having regard to the quantum of audit 
fees relative to the total fee base and the nature of the non-audit work undertaken.

•	 The auditor’s independence was not prejudiced as a result of any previous appointment as auditor. In addition, an audit 
partner rotation process is in place in accordance with the relevant legal and regulatory requirements.

•	 The criteria specified for independence by the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors.

•	 The audit firm and the designated auditor is accredited with the JSE.

The designated auditor is Thinus Hamman who was appointed on 4 December 2017.

The committee confirms it has functioned in accordance with its terms of reference for the 2021 financial year.

D Westcott
Chairman, Audit Committee

25 May 2021

Audit committee report continued
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
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Directors’ report
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

Nature of business
Lewis Group Limited is a holding company listed on the JSE, operating through two main subsidiaries, Lewis Stores 
Proprietary Limited and Monarch Insurance Company Limited (“the group”).

The group offers a selected range of furniture and appliances through 483 Lewis, 144 Best Home and Electric and 
137 Beares stores. Sales are mainly on credit. United Furniture Outlets Proprietary Limited (“UFO”) is a cash furniture 
retailer with a retail footprint of 43 stores.

Monarch Insurance Company Limited, the group’s insurer, offers optional microinsurance products to South African 
customers.

In addition, there are also trading subsidiaries in Botswana, Lesotho, Namibia and Eswatini operating under the Lewis, 
Best Home and Electric and Beares brands. The store presence outside South Africa now amounts to 126 stores.

The nature of the business of the subsidiaries is set out in note 22.

Review of financial results and activities
The financial results and affairs of the group are reflected in the annual financial statements set out on pages 17 to 97.

Segmental analysis
Segmental information is set out in note 10 to the annual financial statements.

Share capital
During the financial year, 5 363 177 shares (2020: 3 310 986 shares) were repurchased in terms of section 48 of the 
Companies Act.

Refer to note 13.4 for more detail. The number of shares in issue at the end of the financial year is 71 535 913 
(2020: 76 899 090).

Treasury shares
The Lewis Employee Share Incentive Scheme Trust (“the Trust”) effectively holds 27 009 shares (2020: 26 437 shares),  
all of which will be utilised to cover share awards granted to executives.
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Dividends
The following dividends have been declared or proposed for the financial year-ended 31 March 2021:

Dividend
per share

Date
declared

Date
payable

Interim – declared 133 cents 25 November 2020 25 January 2021
Final – proposed 195 cents 27 May 2021 26 July 2021

For the year 328 cents

Notice is hereby given that a final gross cash dividend of 195 cents per share in respect of the year-ended 31 March 2021 
has been declared payable to holders of ordinary shares. The number of shares in issue as of the date of declaration is 
71 535 913. The dividend has been declared out of income reserves and is subject to a dividend tax of 20%. The dividend 
for determining the dividend tax is 195 cents and the dividend tax payable is 39 cents for shareholders who are not 
exempt. The net dividend for shareholders who are not exempt will therefore be 156.00000 cents. The dividend tax rate 
may be reduced where the shareholder is tax resident in a foreign jurisdiction which has a Double Tax Convention with 
South Africa and meets the requirements for a reduced tax rate. The company’s tax reference number is 9551/419/15/4.

The following dates are applicable to this declaration:

Last date to trade “cum” dividend 20 July 2021

Date trading commences “ex” dividend 21 July 2021

Record date 23 July 2021

Date of payment 26 July 2021

Share certificates may not be dematerialised or rematerialised between 21 July 2021 and 23 July 2021, both days inclusive.

Directors
The directors as at 31 March 2021 are as follows:

•	 Mr Hilton Saven

•	 Prof. Fatima Abrahams

•	 Mr Jacques Bestbier

•	 Mrs Adheera Bodasing

•	 Mr Johan Enslin

•	 Mrs Daphne Motsepe

•	 Mr Tapiwa Njikizana

•	 Mr Duncan Westcott

Company secretary
Ms INT Makomba remained the company secretary throughout the financial year. The address of the company secretary is 
that of registered offices as stated on page 1. 

Directors’ report continued
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
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Directors’ interests
At 31 March 2021, the directors’ beneficial direct and indirect interest in the company’s issued shares were as follows:

2021 2020
Direct Indirect Direct Indirect

H Saven 6 440 6 440
J Bestbier 120 255 100 314 1 148 65 315
J Enslin 425 536 185 421 206 038 129 240
AJ Smart 319 070

545 791 292 175 526 256 200 995

There has been no change in the above directors’ interest between the end of the financial year and the date of approval 
of the annual financial statements.

Full details of the terms and conditions in relation to these share awards are set out in note 14.2 to the annual financial 
statements. 

During the course of the year, no director had a material interest in any contract of significance with the company or any 
of its subsidiaries that could have given risen to a conflict of interest. 

No material related party transactions in terms of the JSE Limited Listing Requirements took place between the group and 
its directors or their associates, other than remuneration for services rendered to the company as set out in note 14.2 to 
the annual financial statements.

Subsidiary companies
Details of the company’s subsidiaries are set out in note 22.

The company’s interest in the aggregate profits and losses after taxation of the subsidiary companies is as follows:

2021
Rm

2020
Rm

Profit 471.2 206.3
Losses (38.3) (23.9)

Borrowing powers
There were no borrowings at 31 March 2021 (2020: R922.1 million). Borrowings are subject to the treasury policy adopted 
by the Board of Directors. In terms of the Memorandum of Incorporation, the group has unlimited borrowing powers.

Directors’ report continued
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
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Notes
2021

Rm
2020

Rm

Revenue 9  6 725.9  6 453.3 

Retail revenue  4 747.7  4 475.3 

Merchandise sales  3 931.2  3 685.5 
Ancillary services  816.5  789.8 

Insurance revenue  707.2  666.1 
Effective interest income  1 271.0  1 311.9 

Cost of merchandise sales 11  (2 288.8)  (2 173.5)
Operating costs  (3 741.6)  (4 026.1)

Debtor costs 4.2  (813.0)  (1 010.1)

Bad debts net of recoveries  (923.3)  (799.2)
Movement in debtors’ impairment provision  110.3  (210.9)

Employment costs  14.1  (1 259.1)  (1 214.4)
Administration and IT  (325.3)  (359.7)
Transport and travel  (241.9)  (273.2)
Marketing  (184.2)  (298.7)
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 16  (343.0)  (375.5)
Other operating costs  (575.1)  (494.5)

Operating profit before investment income  695.5  253.7 
Investment income  5.2  39.1  53.6 

Profit before net finance costs  734.6  307.3 
Net finance costs  (130.2)  (34.5)

Interest paid  6.2  (105.3)  (98.0)
Interest received  6.2  17.2  34.2 
Forward exchange contracts  6.2  (42.1)  29.3 

Profit before taxation  604.4  272.8 
Taxation  15  (171.5)  (90.4)

Net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders  432.9  182.4 

Earnings per share � (cents)  13.1  576.4  232.1 
Diluted earnings per share�  (cents)  13.1  565.3  225.4

Lewis Group Limited:
Consolidated income statement
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
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Lewis Group Limited:
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

Note
2021

Rm
2020

Rm

Net profit for the year 432.9 182.4
Items that may be subsequently reclassified to income statement:
Movement in other reserves (2.8) (3.4)

Fair value adjustments 19.1 (35.7)

Changes in the fair value of debt instruments at fair value through other 
comprehensive income – FVOCI debt investments 26.5 (49.5)
Tax effect (7.4) 13.8

Disposal of FVOCI debt investments (0.4) 1.0 

Disposal (0.5) 1.3 
Tax effect 0.1 (0.3)

Foreign currency translation reserve (21.5) 31.3

Items that may not be subsequently reclassified to income statement:
Retirement benefit remeasurements (8.6) 37.3

Remeasurements of the retirement asset and liabilities 14.5.2 (11.9) 51.1
Tax effect 3.3 (13.8)

Other comprehensive income (11.4) 33.9

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to ordinary shareholders 421.5 216.3
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Lewis Group Limited:
Consolidated balance sheet
AS AT 31 MARCH 2021

Notes
2021

Rm 
2020

Rm

Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 18 386.0 324.4
Right-of-use assets 17.2 635.0 693.7
Intangible assets 19 114.2 120.6
Goodwill 20 182.4 187.6
Deferred taxation 15 112.2 166.1
Retirement benefit asset 14.5 105.4 106.8
Financial assets – insurance investments 5.1 253.6 228.0

1 788.8 1 827.2

Current assets
Inventories 11 947.8 740.7
Trade, insurance and other receivables 4.1 3 367.3 3 326.1
Taxation 15 48.8 54.9
Financial assets – insurance investments 5.1 223.7 245.9
Cash-on-hand and deposits 6.1 447.0 1 193.4

5 034.6 5 561.0

Total assets 6 823.4 7 388.2

Equity and liabilities
Capital and reserves
Share capital and premium 13.4 0.9 0.9
Treasury shares 13.4 (0.4) (1.0)
Other reserves 13.6 33.6 52.3
Retained earnings 13.7 4 838.6 4 657.3

4 872.7 4 709.5

Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities 17.1 556.0 611.1
Deferred taxation 15 20.6 23.3
Retirement benefit liability 14.5 79.1 70.7

655.7 705.1

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 7 674.5 547.9
Payments in advance 8 162.8 150.1
Insurance liabilities 5.3 123.1 104.8
Short-term interest-bearing borrowings 6.1 – 922.1
Lease liabilities 17.1 249.8 226.8
Taxation 15 84.8 21.9

1 295.0 1 973.6

Total equity and liabilities 6 823.4 7 388.2



Statutory  
information

Primary 
statements

Notes to annual  
financial statements

Company annual 
financial statements

Appendices to the  
audit committee report

LEWIS GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2021 20

Lewis Group Limited:
Consolidated statement of changes in equity
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

Notes
2021

Rm
2020

Rm

Share capital and premium 13.4
Opening balance 0.9 0.9
Cost of own shares acquired (112.6) (101.7)
Transfer of cost of cancelled shares 112.6 101.7

0.9 0.9

Treasury shares 13.4
Opening balance (1.0) (0.5)
Share awards to employees 23.6 20.5
Cost of own shares acquired (23.0) (21.0)

(0.4) (1.0)

Other reserves 13.6
Opening balance 52.3 48.4
Other comprehensive income for the year:

Changes in fair value of FVOCI debt investments 19.1 (35.7)
Disposal of FVOCI debt investments (0.4) 1.0
Foreign currency translation reserve (21.5) 31.3

Equity-settled share-based payments 24.3 29.0
Transfer of share-based payments reserve to retained earnings on vesting (40.2) (20.9)
Transfer of other reserve to retained earnings – (0.8)

33.6 52.3

Retained earnings 13.7
Opening balance as previously reported 4 657.3 4 827.3
IFRS 16 Transitional adjustments – (92.8)

Opening balance 4 657.3 4 734.5
Net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders 432.9 182.4
Distribution to shareholders 13.2 (147.0) (196.4)
Transfer of cost of cancelled shares (112.6) (101.7)
Transfer of share-based payments reserve to retained earnings on vesting 40.2 20.9
Retirement benefit remeasurements (8.6) 37.3
Share awards to employees (23.6) (20.5)
Transfer of other reserve to retained earnings – 0.8

4 838.6 4 657.3

Balance as at 31 March 4 872.7 4 709.5
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Lewis Group Limited:
Consolidated cash flow statement
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

Notes

2021

Rm

2020
Restated

Rm

Cash flow from operating activities
Cash flow from trading 12.1 1 053.3 879.0
Changes in working capital 12.2 (138.7) (255.8)

Cash flow from operations 914.6 623.2
Interest received other than from trade receivables 55.8 86.5
Interest paid 12.3 (90.4) (98.0)
(Losses)/gains on forward exchange contracts (16.6) 13.1
Taxation (paid)/refunded 15 (55.3) 25.2

 808.1 650.0

Cash utilised in investing activities
Purchases of insurance investments 5.1 (61.1) (76.0)
Disposals of insurance investments 84.2 172.0
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 18, 19 (121.3) (108.1)
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment 2.6 4.0

(95.6) (8.1)

Cash flow from financing activities
Dividends paid 13.2 (147.0) (196.4)
Payment of principal portion of lease liabilities 17.1 (254.2) (256.2)
(Repayments)/advances of borrowings 6.1 (922.1) 922.1

Purchase of own shares (135.6) (122.7)

(1 458.9) 346.8

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (746.4) 988.7
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 1 193.4 204.7

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 447.0 1 193.4
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Lewis Group Limited:
Consolidated financial statements
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

1.1	 Basis of preparation
The financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), 
the IFRS Interpretations Committee interpretations, the SAICA Financial Reporting Guides as issued by the 
Accounting Practices Committee, Financial Pronouncements as issued by the Financial Reporting Standards Council 
and the requirements of the Companies Act. The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost 
convention, as modified by the revaluation of certain financial instruments to fair value. The financial statements are 
prepared on a going concern basis. 

The accounting policies applied are consistent with those applied in the previous consolidated annual financial 
statements. 

The following new or revised IFRS and interpretations became effective for the first time for 31 March 2021 year-end 
and have therefore been applied:

•	 Amendments to IFRS 3, “Business combinations”.

•	 Amendment to IAS 1, “Presentation of financial statements” and IAS 8, “Accounting policies, changes in 
accounting estimates and errors” on the definition of material.

None of the new or revised standards and interpretations have had a material impact on the results and financial 
position of the group.

The group has moved to a trading cycle of 1 April to 31 March aligned with its statutory year-end. In prior periods, 
the trading cycle ended on the fifth day after the month being reported on, unless such day fell on a Sunday, in 
which case it ended on the fourth day. For the current financial year, the trading period was from 5 April 2020  
to 31 March 2021. The impact of the change was insignificant due to the Covid-19 lockdown implemented on 
27 March 2020 where stores were closed in accordance with Level 5 regulations.

The group and company discloses its significant accounting policies, including its measurement basis or bases, 
as part of its disclosures in each note in order to assist the users of these statements in understanding how 
transactions, events and conditions are reflected in the primary financial statements. The group presents its notes 
on the following basis:

•	 Incorporate all related disclosures, accounting policies, significant judgements, risk management disclosure and 
other information relating to a particular balance sheet and/or income statement item together to provide a 
complete overall picture of such items.

•	 The notes are, as far as possible, ordered in terms of materiality and significance to the business.  
(Refer to navigation on contents page)

1.2	 Significant accounting estimates and judgements
Preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain accounting estimates. It also 
requires management to exercise judgement in the process of applying the group’s accounting policies. The areas 
involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to 
the financial statements are disclosed as significant judgements.

The following significant judgements have been identified:

Note reference

Impairment of receivables 4.1
Debtor costs 4.2 
Insurance liabilities 5.3
Payments in advance 8
Retail revenue 9.2 
Share-based payments 14.3
Retirement benefits 14.5
Normal and deferred taxation 15
Leases 17
Useful lives and residual values of fixed assets 18
Goodwill 20

1.	 do not delete
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Lewis Group Limited:
Consolidated financial statements continued
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
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2.	 Risk management 
The Board of Directors is responsible for risk management and views it as an integral part of providing a responsible 
return on shareholders’ equity.

To assist the Board, the group is managed through a system of internal controls functioning throughout the entity. 
The Board delegated risk matters to a group Risk committee comprising six independent non-executive directors, 
one non-executive director and two executive directors which operates in compliance with a formal charter.  
The committee assists the Board by, inter alia: 

•	 reviewing the risk management policy and plan annually;

•	 making recommendations on risk tolerance and appetite;

•	 evaluate and agree the nature of and extent of the risks that the company should be willing to take in pursuit  
of its strategic objectives;

•	 reviewing the risk register of strategic and operational risks annually;

•	 monitoring implementation of the risk management policy and plan; and

•	 exercise ongoing oversight of risk management.

Risk management disclosures are categorised as follows:

Credit risk
The risk that the counterparty to the financial instruments that Lewis Group holds will cause loss to Lewis Group as 
a result of the counterparty failing to discharge its obligations.

Price risk 
The risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument that Lewis Group holds will fluctuate 
because of changes in market prices, other than due to the interest rate risk or currency risk.

Interest rate risk
The risk that the fair value of future cash flows of financial instrument (whether an asset or liability) will fluctuate 
because of changes in market interest rates.

Currency risk
The risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument (whether an asset or liability) will fluctuate 
because of changes in the foreign exchange rates.

Liquidity risk
The risk that Lewis Group will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities that are 
settled by cash or another financial asset.

Insurance risk
The risk that results from fluctuations in the timing, frequency and severity of insured events. It includes the risk 
that premiums may be insufficient to compensate for future claims and that provisions for reported and unreported 
claims are inadequate.

Actuarial risk
The risk that defined benefit liabilities expose the group to the risk of these promised benefits exceeding the 
accumulated assets set aside to meet these obligations which will result in additional funding from the group.



Statutory  
information

Primary 
statements

Notes to annual  
financial statements

Company annual 
financial statements

Appendices to the  
audit committee report

Lewis Group Limited:
Consolidated financial statements continued
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

LEWIS GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2021 24

2.	 Risk management continued
The risk disclosures per risk category have been set out as follows:

Note reference

Credit risk
Trade receivables 4.1
Insurance investments 5.1
Cash 6.1

Price risk
Insurance investments 5.1
Borrowings 6.1

Interest rate risk
Trade receivables 4.1
Insurance investments 5.1
Net finance costs 6.2
Lease liabilities 17.1

Currency risk
Net finance costs 6.2

Liquidity risk
Borrowings 6.1
Lease liabilities 17.1

Insurance risk
Insurance liabilities 5.3

Actuarial risk
Defined benefit retirement plans 14.5.4
Post-retirement healthcare benefits 14.5.5

3.	 Financial instruments
The group holds the following financial instruments:

Note reference

Trade and other receivables 4.1
Insurance investments 5.1
Cash-on-hand and deposits 6.1
Borrowings 6.1
Trade payables 7
Lease liabilities 17.1

Accounting policies
(i)	 Initial recognition of financial assets

On initial recognition, financial instruments are measured at fair value. Purchases and sales of financial 
assets are recognised on the trade date, being the date that the group commits to the transaction.

Subsequently, financial instruments are measured as follows: 

•	 Amortised cost.

•	 Fair value through other comprehensive income.

•	 Fair value through profit or loss or designated as at fair value through profit or loss.

(ii)	 Business model assessment
For debt instruments, IFRS 9 requires that a business model assessment is carried out which reflects 
how the group manages the assets in order to generate cash flows. The assessment is at a portfolio level 
which is the level at which the portfolio is managed. Factors considered in determining the business 
model for a group of assets include past experience on how cash flows were collected, how the assets’ 
performance is evaluated and reported, risks that affect the assets’ performance and how these risks are 
assessed and managed and the reasons, frequency, volume and timing of sales in prior periods.
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3.	 Financial instruments continued

Accounting policies continued
Debt instruments are those instruments that meet the definition of a financial liability from the issuer’s 
perspective such as trade and other receivables, insurance assets and deposits.  With the adoption of 
IFRS 9, debt instruments have been classified into the following categories:

•	 Amortised cost.

•	 Fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”).

•	 Fair value through profit and loss (“FVTPL”).

The group reclassifies debt instruments when and only when its business model for those financial 
assets changes. Such changes are expected to be very infrequent.

The group’s business models for managing debt instruments and the contractual cash flow 
characteristics of the debt instruments determine the following categories:

•	 Amortised cost

Financial assets within a business model whose objective is solely to hold assets to collect contractual 
cash flows and the contractual terms of these assets are solely payments of principal and interest.

•	 FVOCI (Hold to collect and sell):

Financial assets held within a business model whose objective is both to hold these assets to collect 
contractual cash flows and to sell these assets and that the contractual terms of financial assets are 
solely payments of principal and interest.

Movements in the carrying amount are taken through other comprehensive income, except for the 
recognition of impairment gains or losses, interest revenue and foreign exchange gains or losses on 
the instrument’s amortised cost which are recognised in profit or loss. When the financial asset is 
derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in OCI is reclassified from equity to 
the income statement. Interest income from these financial assets is included in interest received and 
calculated using the effective interest rate method.

•	 FVTPL (Hold to sell/manage in a fair value basis):

Financial assets are held within a business model where the objective is to sell and manage these 
assets on a fair value basis. In addition, financial assets can also be included in this category if:

•	 the use of this classification removes or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch;

•	 financial assets which do not meet the SPPI criteria (see below).

(iii)	 Solely payment of principal and interest (“SPPI”)
Where the business model is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows or to collect contractual 
cash flows and sell, the group assesses whether the assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of 
principal and interest (the SPPI test). In making this assessment, the group considers whether the 
contractual cash flows are consistent with a basic lending arrangement. Where the contractual terms 
introduce volatility or exposure to risks that are inconsistent with a basic lending arrangement, the 
financial asset is classified and measured at FVTPL.

(iv)	 Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets other than trade receivables
The expected credit loss (“ECL”) model applies to financial assets classified at amortised cost and/or 
FVOCI. ECL is a probability-weighted estimate of losses. A credit loss is the difference between the cash 
flows that are due to the entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows it expects to receive, 
discounted at the original effective interest rate implicit in the financial asset.

The general model for impairment is recognised as follows:

•	 Stage 1:

ECL is recognised on initial recognition and measured at an amount equal to the portion of lifetime 
expected credit losses that result from default events possible within the next 12 months.
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3.	 Financial instruments continued

Accounting policies continued

Financial assets other than trade receivables continued
•	 Stage 2:

At each reporting date the group assesses whether there has been a significant increase in credit risks 
(“SICR”) since initial recognition. Where evidence exists that there has been a SICR, the ECL is based on 
expected credit losses over the lifetime of the asset.

•	 Stage 3:

Financial assets become credit impaired as a result of a loss event that has occurred after initial 
recognition. ECL is based on estimated credit losses over the lifetime of the asset. For these credit 
impaired assets, the interest or return on these assets are calculated on the amortised cost. Amortised 
cost is defined as the gross carrying value on initial recognition (adjusted for any modifications) less the 
impairment provision.

The impairment gains or losses are presented as follows:

•	 For amortised cost assets, through the income statement.

•	 For debt instruments that are financial assets classified as FVOCI, through the income statement.

Trade receivables
The group’s trade receivables are amounts due from customers for merchandise sold or services 
performed in the ordinary course of business. These receivables contain a significant financing 
component with terms of business varying from 6 to 36 months, with a significant portion conducted 
on 36 months.

In accordance with paragraph 5.5.15 (a)(ii), the group has elected to measure the impairment allowance 
at an amount equal to the lifetime expected credit losses. This policy will be applied to all trade 
receivables. 

The ECL is a probability-weighted estimate and represents the difference between the cash flow that is 
due to the entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows the entity expects to receive, 
discounted at the original effective interest rate (contractual interest rate and initiation fee included in 
the customer contract).

Where trade receivables have become credit impaired as a result of loss events that have occurred after 
initial recognition, those receivables are classified as stage 3. The effective interest recognised on these 
assets is calculated on the amortised cost being defined as gross carrying value on initial recognition 
(adjusted for any modification) less the impairment provision.

(v)	 Current and non-current financial assets and financial liabilities
Current assets and liabilities have maturity terms of less than 12 months, except for instalment sale 
receivables. Instalment sale receivables, which are included in trade and other receivables, have 
maturity terms of between 6 to 36 months but are classified as current as they form part of the normal 
operating cycle.

(vi)	 Set off
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the balance sheet only when 
there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle 
on a net basis, or to realise the financial asset and settle the financial liability simultaneously.

(vii)	 Derivative instruments
Derivative instruments are utilised to hedge exposure to foreign currency fluctuations. Although the 
derivatives have not been designated in a hedge relationship, they act as an economic hedge and will 
substantially offset the underlying transactions when they occur. Derivatives are recognised at fair value 
on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently re-measured at their fair value. 
These derivative instruments have been classified as fair value through profit and loss and changes in 
the fair value are recognised in the income statement.

(viii)	 Derecognition
Financial assets are only derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments 
have expired or the group has transferred the contractual rights to receive the cash flows of the 
financial asset.
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3.	 Financial instruments continued
(i) Categories

Amortised
cost
Rm

FVOCI
debt

Rm
Total

Rm

2021
Assets
Insurance investments – 477.3 477.3
Trade and other receivables 3 367.3 – 3 367.3
Cash-on-hand and deposits 447.0 – 447.0

Liabilities
Lease liabilities 805.8 – 805.8
Trade payables 175.6 – 175.6

2020
Assets
Insurance investments – 473.9 473.9
Trade and other receivables 3 326.1 – 3 326.1
Cash-on-hand and deposits 1 193.4 – 1 193.4

Liabilities
Borrowings 922.1 – 922.1
Lease liabilities 837.9 – 837.9
Trade payables 196.5 – 196.5

(ii) Maturity profile of financial assets
The maturity profiles of financial assets are as follows:

0 to 12 
months

Rm

1 to 2 
years

Rm 

3 to 5 
years

Rm

>5 
years

Rm
Total

Rm

2021
Insurance investments 223.7 – – 253.6 477.3
Trade and other receivables 2 162.5 868.4 336.4 – 3 367.3
Cash-on-hand and deposits 447.0 – – – 447.0

2 833.2 868.4 336.4 253.6 4 291.6

2020
Insurance investments 245.9 – – 228.0 473.9
Trade and other receivables 2 153.9 854.5 317.7 – 3 326.1
Cash-on-hand and deposits 1 193.4 – – – 1 193.4

3 593.2 854.5 317.7 228.0 4 993.4
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3.	 Financial instruments continued
(iii) Maturity profile of financial liabilities
The maturity profiles of undiscounted financial liabilities are as follows:

0 to 12
 months

Rm

1 to 2
 years

Rm 

3 to 5 
years

Rm

>5 
years

Rm
Total

Rm

2021
Lease liabilities (249.8) (190.0) (285.2) (80.8) (805.8)
Interest on lease liabilities (49.3) (33.7) (44.3) (7.9) (135.2)
Trade payables (175.6) – – – (175.6)

(474.7) (223.7) (329.5) (88.7) (1 116.6)

2020
Borrowings (922.1) – – – (922.1)
Interest on borrowings to maturity (69.1) – – – (69.1)
Lease liabilities (226.8) (203.3) (306.7) (101.1) (837.9)
Interest on lease liabilities (86.0) (40.3) (46.3) (11.9) (184.5)
Trade payables (196.5) – – – (196.5)

(1 500.5) (243.6) (353.0) (113.0) (2 210.1)

(iv) Interest rate profile
The interest rate profiles of financial instruments are as follows:

Term of
investment

Average
closing effective

interest rate %
Floating or
fixed rate

Carrying
value

Rm

2021
Assets
Gross instalment sale receivables Up to three years 21.2 Fixed 5 691.4
Fixed income securities Varies (refer note 5) 8.1 Fixed 253.6
Money market investments Up to 12 months 4.8 Floating 223.7

Liabilities
Short-term interest-bearing borrowings Varies (refer note 6) 5.9 Floating –
Lease liabilities Varies 8.0 Fixed 805.8

2020
Assets
Gross instalment sale receivables Up to three years 22.9 Fixed 5 746.5
Fixed income securities Varies (refer note 5) 8.1 Fixed 228.0
Money market investments Up to 12 months 7.7 Floating 245.9

Liabilities
Short-term interest-bearing borrowings Varies (refer note 6) 7.6 Floating 922.1
Lease liabilities Varies 8.9 Fixed 837.9

(v) Interest received and paid on financial instruments

2021
Rm

2020
Rm

Interest received on financial assets
Insurance investments 38.6 52.3
Trade and other receivables 1 421.8 1 414.3
Cash-on-hand and deposits 17.2 12.4

1 477.6 1 479.0

Interest paid on financial liabilities
Borrowings 14.3 20.1
Lease liabilities 66.0 71.5

80.3 91.6
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4.	 Trade, other receivables and debtor costs
4.1	 Trade, insurance and other receivables

2021
Rm

2020
Rm

Trade and insurance receivables 5 691.4 5 746.5

Trade receivables 5 551.5 5 599.5

Insurance receivables 139.9 147.0

Provision for impairment (2 423.7) (2 534.0)

Trade receivables (2 338.5) (2 469.0)
Insurance receivables (85.2) (65.0)

Trade and insurance receivables (net) 3 267.7 3 212.5

Due within 12 months 2 098.5 2 040.3
Due after 12 months 1 169.2 1 172.2

Other receivables 99.6 113.6

Total trade, insurance and other receivables 3 367.3 3 326.1

Debtors’ impairment provision as percentage of debtors at gross carrying value� (%) 42.6 44.1

Amounts due from trade receivables after one year are reflected as current, as they form part of the normal 
operating cycle. The credit terms of trade receivables range from 6 to 36 months.

Other receivables consist of prepayments, VAT, foreign reinsurance receivables and investment in insurance cell 
captive (refer to note 5).

Accounting policies
Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for merchandise sold or services performed in the ordinary 
course of business. They are recognised initially at fair value and are subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest rate, less a provision for impairment. Trade receivables are classified as financial 
instruments in terms of IFRS.

Significant accounting estimates and judgements
(i)	 Business model

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for merchandise sold or services performed in the 
ordinary course of business. These receivables contain a significant financing component with terms of 
business varying from 6 to 36 months, and a significant portion of the business being conducted on 36 
months.

Trade receivables are held to collect contractual cash flows and the contractual terms of the trade 
receivables are solely payments of principal and interest. Accordingly, the assessment of the business 
model is that of holding to collect and, therefore, trade receivables are accounted for on an amortised 
cost basis.

(ii)	 Modifications
The ECL is calculated with reference to the original contract with the customer. No modifications are 
made to the contract or the contractual cash flows as contemplated by IFRS 9.

(iii)	 Impairment modelling
In accordance with paragraph 5.5.15(a)(ii) of IFRS 9, the group has elected to apply the simplified model 
and measures the impairment allowance at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses. This 
policy has been applied to all trade receivables. Lifetime expected credit losses are assessed by 
determining cash flows on a probability-weighted basis and discounting these at the effective interest 
rate including initiation fees.

The probability-weighted cash flows are calculated using the following:

•	 Transition matrix and conditional probabilities.

•	 Payment performance for each payment state. 
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4.	 Trade, other receivables and debtor costs continued
4.1	 Trade, insurance and other receivables continued

Significant accounting estimates and judgements continued
(iii)	 Impairment modelling continued

The transition matrix and conditional probabilities are calculated using the trade receivables population 
payment behaviour for each payment state and has been developed using the group’s customer 
payment history over the last five years. The transition matrices have been developed for each of the 
countries which predicts the population’s payment behaviour and probability of the account being in a 
particular payment state and transitioning into future payment states. The key states in the transitional 
matrix are the following:

•	 Customers’ lifetime payment rating which measures the customers actual payments received over  
the lifetime of the account relative to the contractual instalments due.

•	 Age of the account.

•	 Term of the contract.

For each term, lifetime payment rating and age, the transitional matrix maps the probability  
of an account transitioning into future lifetime payment ratings for the remaining months on book.  
Cash flows are forecasted until the account is settled or written off.

The payment performance for each payment state is calculated using the actual payment history  
for each payment rating over the last 12 months.

Forward-looking information
IFRS 9 requires that the ECL impairment provision considers potential future changes in the economic 
environment. To achieve this, an economic overlay model (“standard model”) has been developed by 
performing a regression analysis between key economic variables with reference to the non-performing 
category. This analysis is done on an annual basis to identify the relevant economic variables and assess 
the degree of correlation with the non-performing category. 

To allow for the potential impact of Covid-19, an expanded economic overlay model (“expanded model”) 
was introduced as the primary model at 31 March 2020. This model applied a regression analysis 
between payment behaviour and expected GDP growth. Base, upside and downside scenarios were 
created for GDP growth with a five-year horizon. Management assigned a probability of 15% to the 
upside scenario, 50% to the base scenario and 35% to the downside scenario. The weighted average of 
the three scenarios projected a forward-looking impact of R294.5 million on the impairment provision 
for the year-ended 31 March 2020. The expanded model was based on the expected future contraction 
of GDP on 31 March 2020 and has now become obsolete.

Due to the severely disrupted economic environment, a lower statistical correlation was observed when 
performing the standard model assessment and a distortion is expected in the historical relationship 
between the macroeconomic variables and the non-performing category in the short- to medium-term. 
Management therefore concluded that a statistical model based on macroeconomic variables is not 
appropriate at this time.

Covid-19 continues to pose a significant threat to the economy and management are of the view that 
trading conditions will become tougher. The impairment model uses the last 12 months’ payment 
performance and is therefore calibrated to allow for a distressed macroeconomic environment in the 
new financial year, similar to the experience of the year-ended March 2021.

To incorporate the potential further impact of Covid-19 on the forward-looking information, the impact 
of event risk not accounted for was quantified by building stressed macroeconomic variables into the 
impairment model. These include further economic strain that could result from another hard lockdown, 
the discontinuation of Covid-19 social grants and the impact of government employees wage freeze on 
their ability to service debt. The combined impact on the group’s ECL for these variables is R114.1 million. 
Management’s areas of judgement include the probabilities of these scenarios occurring, the severity of 
the scenarios and the potential impact it might have on payment performance. 

A sensitivity analysis has been performed and the impact is deemed to be immaterial.
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4.	 Trade, other receivables and debtor costs continued
4.1	 Trade, insurance and other receivables continued

Significant accounting estimates and judgements continued
(iv)	 Credit impaired (Stage 3)

The criteria for credit impaired accounts (i.e. when the account moves to stage 3 as a result of loss 
events that have occurred after initial recognition) are as follows:

•	 Non-performing accounts (i.e. customers who have paid less than 55% of the amounts due over the 
contract period).

•	 In duplum accounts (the National Credit Act section providing that all charges ceases to accrue once 
the sum of the charges equals the amount of capital outstanding at the time).

•	 Accounts in debt counselling (as governed by the National Credit Act).

•	 As a backstop, accounts not included in the above categories, where no payment has been received 
over the last three consecutive months. This category was specifically created for IFRS 9 purposes.

A credit impaired account will cure when the customer does not meet the criteria for being a credit 
impaired account.

Curing occurs in the following instances: 

•	 Non-performing accounts: Accounts in this category will only cure when their lifetime payment rating 
improves to the extent that the customer has paid 55% or more of the amounts due over the contract 
period. Generally, this will require a significant improvement in the customer’s payment behaviour.

•	 In duplum accounts: Accounts in this category will cure when they no longer meet the requirements 
of the National Credit Act for being defined as an in duplum account.

•	 Accounts in debt counselling: Accounts in this category will cure when the customer is no longer in 
debt counselling in terms of the requirements of the National Credit Act.

•	 For accounts where no payment has been received in the last three consecutive months, it will cure 
once in receipt of a payment. This category has a high probability of curing.

With regard to credit impaired accounts, interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest 
rate to the net carrying value, i.e. gross carrying value less impairment provision, resulting in lower 
interest revenue.

(v)	 Unpaid insurance
Insurance receivables and the impairment of insurance receivables are recognised and measured in 
terms of IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts.

Credit risk of trade receivables
Credit risk is the risk of suffering financial loss, should any of the group’s customers and counterparties fail to fulfil 
their contractual obligations with the group. The main credit risk faced is that customers will not meet their 
payment obligations in terms of the sale agreements concluded.

Lewis has a large, diverse and widespread customer base. Therefore, the group does not consider there to be  
any significant concentration of credit risk. There is no significant exposure to any specific industries affected  
by Covid-19.

Credit granting
The group has developed advanced credit granting systems to properly assess the credit worthiness of customers. 
The credit underwriting process flows through the following stages:

•	 Credit scoring: This involves the gathering of appropriate information from the client, use of credit bureaus and 
third parties such as employers. These input variables are run through the various credit scorecards. Lewis deals 
with its new customers and existing customers differently when credit scoring takes place.

The process is as follows:

	– For new customers, application risk scorecards predict the risk with the emphasis for such an evaluation on 
information from credit bureaus and third-party information.

	– For existing customers, behavioural scorecards have been developed to assess the risk through predictive 
behaviour with the emphasis on the customer’s payment record with Lewis, bureau and other information 
being considered.
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4.	 Trade, other receivables and debtor costs continued
4.1	 Trade, insurance and other receivables continued 

Credit granting continued
•	 Assessing client affordability: This process involves collecting information regarding the customer’s income 

levels, expenses and current debt obligations. Lewis has its own priority expense model based on surveys 
conducted with customers in addition to the National Credit Regulator’s expense table.

•	 Determining the credit limit for the customer: The customer’s risk score determined by the scorecard together 
with the affordability assessment and outstanding obligations are used to calculate a credit limit within the 
customer’s affordability level.

The credit granting systems enable the group to determine its appetite for risk. In determining the acceptable level 
of risk, the potential loss is weighed up against the revenue potential using the predictive behavioural models 
inherent in the credit granting system. The group continuously monitors any variances from the level of risk that has 
been adopted.

The group manages its risk effectively by assessing the customer’s ability to service the proposed monthly 
instalment.

Impairment provision
The customer’s payment profile is managed by using payment ratings. Payment ratings are determined on an 
individual customer level and aggregated over all the customer’s sub-accounts. Payment ratings measure the 
customer’s actual payments received over the lifetime of the account relative to the instalments due in terms of the 
contract. These payment ratings are used to categorise and report on customers at the store level to follow up the 
slow paying and non-performing customers.

In accordance with IFRS 9, the group has elected to measure the impairment allowance equal to the lifetime ECL. 
The lifetime ECL is calculated by determining cash flows on a probability-weighted basis and discounting these at 
the effective interest rate in the contract, including initiation fees. The discounted cash flow is compared to the 
balance owing at point of assessment to determine the ECL.

The probability-weighted cash flows are calculated using the debtor book population’s payment behaviour in 
combination with a transition matrix. The transition matrix and payment performance for each payment state has 
been developed utilising customer payment history. The transition matrix predicts the population’s payment 
behaviour and probability of the account being in a particular payment state and transitioning into future payment 
states. The key states in the transitional matrix are the customer’s lifetime payment rating, time on book and 
contractual term. For modelling purposes, cash flows are forecast until the account is written off or settled.

The impairment provision applicable to each payment rating and the trending thereof, is evaluated with collection 
rates and customer payment data produced by the credit risk information systems.

The key indicators that are reviewed include, inter alia, the following:

•	 Number of satisfactorily paid customers. The key operational objective is to have as many satisfactory paid 
customers as possible as it is the group’s expectation that these customers will settle their accounts, albeit that 
certain categories of satisfactory paid customers may settle past their contractual term. Satisfactory paid 
customers are the source of future repeat business which is one of the core strengths of the business model.

•	 The level of impairment provision applicable to each payment rating and the trend thereof. The impairment 
calculation is performed on a monthly basis taking into account the payment behaviour of the debtors book 
having regard to the customer’s lifetime payment rating, time on book and contractual term.

Contractual arrears
The key aspect of the arrear calculation is Lewis’ policy not to reschedule arrears nor to amend the terms of the 
original contract. In other words, the contractual arrears calculated is the actual arrears in terms of the originally 
signed agreement.

From the onset of the agreement, contractual arrears are calculated by comparing payments made life to date with 
the originally calculated instalments due life to date, causing a customer who is paying less than the required 
contracted instalment to immediately fall into arrears. Once the customer exceeds the term of the agreement by 
paying less than the required contracted instalments, the full balance owing will be in arrears. The group does not 
consider arrears the leading indicator, but rather payment ratings for the reasons mentioned above.
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4.	 Trade, other receivables and debtor costs continued
4.1	 Trade, insurance and other receivables continued 

Combined impairment and contractual arrears table 
The table reflects the following:

•	 A summary of the main groupings of payment ratings describing payment behaviour. 

•	 For each of the main groupings of payment ratings, the following is disclosed:

	– Number of customers.

	– Gross carrying value.

	– Impairment provision allocated to each grouping.

	– Contractual arrears for each grouping have been categorised by number of instalments in arrears.

The table referred to above is set out on the following page:
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4.	 Trade, other receivables and debtor costs continued
4.1	 Trade, insurance and other receivables continued

Analysis of gross trade receivables

Not credit
impaired

Rm

Credit
impaired

Rm
Total

Rm

As at 31 March 2021
Opening balance 4 063.5 1 683.0 5 746.5

New accounts 2 158.6 – 2 158.6
Accounts settled (628.7) (67.0) (695.7)
Receivables derecognised (Bad debts written off) – (1 133.0) (1 133.0)
Change in value due to transactions(1) (361.5) (23.5) (385.0)
Transfers: 

Cured (from “Credit impaired” to “Not credit impaired”) 104.0 (104.0) –
New credit impaired (from “Not credit impaired” to “Credit impaired”) (1 108.9) 1 108.9 –

Closing balance 4 227.0 1 464.4 5 691.4

As at 31 March 2020
Opening balance 3 964.2 1 563.6 5 527.8

New accounts 2 319.4 – 2 319.4
Accounts settled (617.3) (82.3) (699.6)
Receivables derecognised (Bad debts written off) – (979.9) (979.9)
Change in value due to transactions(1) (622.8) 201.6 (421.2)
Transfers: 

Cured (from “Credit impaired” to “Not credit impaired”) 85.3 (85.3) –
New credit impaired (from “Not credit impaired” to “Credit impaired”) (1 065.3) 1 065.3 –

Closing balance 4 063.5 1 683.0 5 746.5

Analysis of impairment allowance

Not credit
impaired

Rm

Credit
impaired

Rm
Total

Rm

As at 31 March 2021
Opening balance 1 231.9 1 302.1 2 534.0

New accounts 551.3 – 551.3
Accounts settled (77.7) (36.4) (114.1)
Receivables derecognised (Bad debts written off) – (846.7) (846.7)
Change in value due to transactions(1) 262.9 36.3 299.2
Transfers: 

Cured (from “Credit impaired” to “Not credit impaired”) 59.3 (59.3) –
New credit impaired (from “Not credit impaired” to “Credit impaired”) (795.5) 795.5 –

Closing balance 1 232.2 1 191.5 2 423.7

ECL coverage (%) 29.2 81.4 42.6

As at 31 March 2020
Opening balance 1 072.4 1 250.7 2 323.1

New accounts 796.9 – 796.9
Accounts settled (5.7) (52.3) (58.0)
Receivables derecognised (Bad debts written off) – (743.7) (743.7)
Change in value due to transactions(1) 88.0 127.7 215.7
Transfers:

Cured (from “Credit impaired” to “Not credit impaired”) 57.9 (57.9) –
New credit impaired (from “Not credit impaired” to “Credit impaired”) (777.6) 777.6 –

Closing balance 1 231.9 1 302.1 2 534.0

ECL coverage (%) 30.3 77.4 44.1

(1)	 This line includes movements relating to amounts charged to accounts and payments received where accounts have not yet been fully settled.
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4.	 Trade, other receivables and debtor costs continued
4.1	 Trade, insurance and other receivables continued

Interest rate risk
Interest rates charged to customers are fixed at the date the contract is entered into. Consequently, there is no cash 
flow interest rate risk associated with these contracts during the term of the contract.

The average effective interest rate on instalment sale receivables is 21.2% (2020: 22.9%) and the average term of the 
sale is 32.4 months (2020: 32.8 months).

Fair value
In terms of paragraph 29(a) of IFRS 7, the carrying amounts reported in the balance sheet approximate fair value.

4.2	 Debtor costs
2021

Rm
2020

Rm

Bad debts  982.2  877.5 

Bad debts before adjustment for interest on credit impaired accounts  1 133.0  979.9 
Adjustment for interest on credit impaired accounts  (150.8)  (102.4)

Bad debt recoveries  (58.9)  (78.3)
Movement in debtors’ impairment provision  (110.3)  210.9 

Closing balance  2 423.7  2 534.0 
Opening balance  (2 534.0)  (2 323.1)

Total debtor costs  813.0  1 010.1 

Debtor costs as a percentage of debtors at gross carrying value 	 (%)  14.3  17.6 

“Bad debts before adjustment for interest on credit impaired accounts” is the gross carrying amounts of the trade 
receivables written off. Interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost 
(gross carrying value less impairment provision), resulting in lower bad debts.

Accounting policy
Debtor costs
The group writes off trade receivables when it has exhausted all practical recovery efforts and has concluded 
that there is no reasonable expectation of recovery.

Impairment losses on trade receivables are included in debtor costs. Subsequent recoveries of amounts 
previously written off are credited against the same line item.

Significant accounting estimates and judgements
Bad debt write-offs take place at the end of each reporting period (i.e. September and March). Bad debt 
write-offs take place where the customer’s payment behaviour cannot be rehabilitated after all reasonable 
commercially and economically appropriate collection methods have been utilised and exhausted. The bad 
debt write-offs are initiated where the customer has not made a qualifying payment in the three months 
preceding the write-off for the following categories:

•	 Customers significantly in arrears.

•	 Non-performing customers in terms of the business’ credit management practices.

•	 Customers with out-of-term accounts.

Strong collection drives precede the write-offs and there is no reasonable prospect of significant recoveries 
once the customer account has been written off. Where receivables have been written off, the group continues 
to engage in enforcement activity to attempt to recover the receivable due. 
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5.	 Insurance
5.1	 Insurance investments

2021
Rm

2020
Rm

Financial assets – insurance investments
Listed investments

Fixed income securities – FVOCI debt investments 253.6 228.0
Unlisted investments

Money market – FVOCI debt investments 223.7 245.9

477.3 473.9

Analysed as follows:
Non-current 253.6 228.0
Current 223.7 245.9

477.3 473.9

Movement for the year 
Beginning of the year 473.9 616.8
Additions to investments 61.1 76.0
Disposals of investments (119.8) (219.5)
Interest 36.1 48.8
Fair value adjustment 26.0 (48.2)

End of the year 477.3 473.9

A register of listed investments is available for inspection at the company’s registered office. 

Accounting policy
Insurance investments are those investments made by the group’s insurance company to meet statutory 
solvency requirements and comprise fixed income securities and money market instruments.  Insurance 
investments is classified as financial instruments in terms of IFRS.

Significant accounting estimates and judgements
The group holds the following investments:

•	 Fixed income securities

•	 Money market investments (floating rate notes)

From a business model assessment, these assets are held to collect the contractual cash flows and to sell the 
assets. The fixed income securities and money market investments meet the SPPI test and are accounted for 
at FVOCI.

Fixed income securities are risk-free government bonds. Money market investments (floating rate notes) are 
invested with credit-worthy financial institutions. Both foreign and local credit ratings are monitored to assess 
credit-worthiness. An ECL assessment was performed and no ECL has been provided as it was found to be 
immaterial due to the probability of default being extremely low.

Stage 1 with no movement between stages. No amount for 12-month expected credit loss has been recognised 
as the amount is immaterial.
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5.	 Insurance continued
5.1	 Insurance investments continued

Credit risk
Fixed income securities are risk-free government bonds.

The following table provides information regarding the credit risk exposure of the government bonds:

Name of investment
2021

Credit rating
2020

Credit rating Maturity profile
2021

Rm
2020

Rm

RSA 7.00% 280231 Ba2 Ba1 7 to 12 years 103.2 90.8
RSA 6.25% 310336 Ba2 Ba1 12+ years 103.4 93.5
RSA 6.5% 280241 Ba2 Ba1 12+ years 47.0 43.7

Total 253.6 228.0

The money market investments are invested with credit-worthy financial institutions.

The Moody’s credit rating and maximum exposure to credit risk for money market investments per institution is 
detailed in the table below:

Financial institutions
2021 2020 2021

Rm
2020

RmLong-term Short-termLong-term Short-term

FNB Ba2 NP Ba1 NP 41.3 45.3
Absa Ba2 NP Ba1 NP 42.3 40.3
Nedbank Ba2 NP Ba1 NP 46.4 50.6
Standard Bank Ba2 NP Ba1 NP 43.3 45.3
Investec Ba2 NP Ba1 NP 46.3 51.5
Other 4.1 12.9

Total 223.7 245.9

The long-term and short-term ratings above are foreign ratings. Foreign ratings are heavily influenced by the 
country’s overall credit rating.

Price risk
There is exposure to securities price risk because of investments held by Monarch Insurance Company Limited 
(“Monarch”). These investments are classified as FVOCI debt.

Monarch holds investments in order to meet the insurance liabilities and solvency margins required by the 
Insurance Act, No. 18 of 2017. The investments are managed by Sanlam Investment Management Proprietary Limited 
(“Sanlam”) on Monarch’s behalf. 

The overall management objectives of the Monarch investment portfolio are:

•	 preservation of capital over the long-term;

•	 managing market risk over the short- to medium-term; and

•	 to ensure the portfolio is adequately diversified.

Monarch’s Board controls the investment strategy adopted by Sanlam. At each of the Board’s quarterly meetings, 
a comprehensive report from Sanlam is presented and discussed. Particular emphasis is placed on: 

•	 current market conditions and future expectations;

•	 asset allocations considering the above;

•	 returns under each asset category;

•	 detailed reviews of the positioning of the bond portfolio; and

•	 recommendations of the asset manager going forward. 

The Monarch Board considers the recommendations of the asset managers. The investment strategy is then 
formulated for the following quarter and authority given to the Monarch Chief executive officer to implement the 
strategy. The performance of this portfolio is presented to the group’s Audit Committee on a quarterly basis.
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5.	 Insurance continued
5.1	 Insurance investments continued

Price risk continued
The market risk of the fixed security portfolio is monitored through the modified duration of the portfolio, a 
measure which approximates the movement in the fair value of such securities relative to interest rate movements. 
The modified duration of the fixed income portfolio at the respective year-ends and the JSE All Bond Index are 
as follows: 

2021 2020

Modified duration of Monarch’s fixed income portfolio 7.6 7.5
Modified duration of the JSE All Bond Index 6.3 6.4

2021
Rm

2020
Rm

Interest rate risk
Interest rate volatility arises from insurance investments in two ways:
– Money market investments in the form of floating rate notes
– Fixed income securities in the form of fixed coupon rates

The interest rate prevailing on money market deposits at year-end was 4.8% (2020: 7.7%). 
Assuming the current levels of money market deposits throughout the year, the impact of 
changes to the coupon rate on net profit after tax is as follows:

+50 basis points 0.8 0.9
-50 basis points (0.8) (0.9)

The coupon rate on fixed income securities prevailing at year-end was 8.1% (2020: 8.1%). 
Assuming no change in current level of fixed income securities, the impact of changes 
in the coupon rate on net profit after tax is as follows:

+50 basis points 1.3 1.3
-50 basis points (1.3) (1.3)

Liquidity risk
Monarch manages liquidity requirements by matching the maturity of the assets invested to the corresponding 
insurance liabilities and the required solvency margin. The insurance liabilities and the required solvency margin are 
covered by fixed income securities and money market deposits. The maturity analysis of insurance investments are 
presented in note 3 and the maturity analysis of insurance liabilities are presented in note 5.4.

Fair value hierarchy
The following table presents the assets recognised and subsequently measured at fair value:

Level 2
Rm

Total
Rm

2021
Insurance investments:

Fixed income securities – FVOCI debt investments 253.6 253.6
Money market floating rate notes – FVOCI debt investments 223.7 223.7

477.3 477.3

2020
Insurance investments:

Fixed income securities – FVOCI debt investments 228.0 228.0
Money market floating rate notes – FVOCI debt investments 245.9 245.9

473.9 473.9
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5.	 Insurance continued
5.1	 Insurance investments continued

Fair value hierarchy continued
A description of the categorisation of the valuation techniques used to value the assets at fair value is set out 
below:

Level 1:

Financial instruments valued with reference to quoted prices in active markets where the quoted price is readily 
available and the price represents actual and recurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis. An active 
market is one in which transactions occur with sufficient volume and frequency to provide pricing information on an 
ongoing basis.

Level 2:

Financial instruments valued using inputs other than quoted prices as described for Level 1, but which are 
observable for the asset, either directly or indirectly, such as:

•	 quoted prices for similar assets in an active market;

•	 quoted prices for identical or similar assets in inactive markets;

•	 valuation model using observable inputs; or

•	 valuation model using inputs derived from/corroborated by observable market data.

Level 3:

Financial instruments valued using inputs that are not based on observable market data. The group only has 
goodwill that falls into this category (refer to note 20).

Insurance investments are valued with reference to observable market data on the JSE and are categorised under 
Level 2.

5.2	 Investment income
2021

Rm 
2020

Rm

Interest and other income – insurance business 38.6 52.3
Realised gain on disposal of insurance investments 0.5 1.3

39.1 53.6

Accounting policy
Investment income is recognised as follows:

•	 Interest on investments is recognised on a time proportion basis taking into account the effective interest 
rate method on the assets.

•	 The group has debt investments measured at FVOCI. For these investments, changes in fair value are 
accumulated within the FVOCI reserve within equity. The accumulated changes in fair value are transferred 
to profit or loss when the investment is derecognised or impaired.



Statutory  
information

Primary 
statements

Notes to annual  
financial statements

Company annual 
financial statements

Appendices to the  
audit committee report

Lewis Group Limited:
Consolidated financial statements continued
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

LEWIS GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2021 42

5.	 Insurance continued
5.3	 Insurance liabilities

2021
Rm

2020
Rm

Unearned premiums 33.5 38.6

Opening balance 38.6 48.2
Released to the income statement (5.1) (9.6)

Outstanding claims and IBNR 89.6 66.2

Opening balance 66.2 54.5

Charged in the income statement 252.7 189.9

Claims paid (200.4) (150.7)
Claims management fee (28.9) (27.5)

Total insurance liabilities 123.1 104.8

Accounting policies
Classification
Insurance contracts are those contracts that transfer significant risk. The group defines significant insurance 
risk as the possibility of having to pay benefits on the occurrence of an insured event in terms of the cover 
given to the insured.

Insurance contracts entered into by the group’s insurer under which the contract holder is another insurer 
(inwards re-insurance) are included with insurance contracts.

Provision for unearned premiums
The provision for unearned premiums represents that part of the current year’s premiums relating to risk 
periods that extend to the subsequent years. The unearned premiums are calculated on a straight-line basis 
over the period of the contract.

Unexpired risk reserve
Provision will be made by the group for underwriting losses if it is anticipated that the unearned premiums at 
reporting date will not be sufficient to cover future claims, including claims handling fees and related 
administration costs. This liability adequacy test is performed annually to ensure the adequacy of short-term 
insurance liabilities.

Outstanding claims
Provision is made for the estimated final cost of all claims notified but not settled at the accounting date and 
claims arising from insurance contingencies that occurred before the close of the accounting period, but which 
had not been reported by that date. Claims and expenses are charged to income as incurred based on the 
estimated liability for compensation owed to insurance policyholders. The group’s own assessors individually 
assess claims. Outstanding claims provisions are not discounted.

A liability is also recognised for claim events that have occurred but have not yet been reported (“IBNR”).  
The liability is measured using appropriate statistical techniques with historical data.
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5.	 Insurance continued 
5.3	 Insurance liabilities continued

Significant accounting estimates and judgements
In estimating the provision for claims reported but not yet paid, the notified claims at balance sheet date are 
reviewed and predetermined formulae based on experience are applied. 

The IBNR reserve is calculated for each class of business at 31 March 2021 by projecting ultimate claims for each 
loss quarter using: 

•	 The Chain-Ladder method (“CL”),  

•	 Bornhuetter-Ferguson method (“BF”); or 

•	 The Loss Ratio method (“LR”). 

The IBNR is calculated from the projected ultimate claims per origin quarter, after deducting paid claims to 
date and provision for outstanding claims for that origin quarter.

Below is the sensitivity analysis of the net profit after tax should the IBNR increase or decrease by 10%:

2021 2020

IBNR increases by 10 basis points  (4.2) (3.8)

IBNR decreases by 10 basis points 4.2  3.8

5.4	 Maturity analysis

0 to 12
 months

Rm

1 to 2 
years

Rm

3 to 5 
years

Rm

>5 
years

Rm
Total

Rm

2021
Insurance liabilities  (103.5)  (19.6) – –  (123.1)

2020
Insurance liabilities  (80.8)  (24.0) – – (104.8)

Refer to note 3 for the maturity analysis of insurance investments.

Insurance risk
The risks covered under insurance contracts entered into with customers by the group’s insurer, Monarch,  
and external insurer’s in neighbouring foreign countries are as follows:

•	 Replacement of customer’s goods or settlement of balances in the event of damage or theft of goods.  
Where the goods are replaced, the cost of the claim is determined with reference to the cost of the  
goods acquired.

•	 Settlement of customer’s outstanding balance in the event of death or permanent disability.

•	 Settlement of customer’s outstanding balance or up to 12 months instalments due for temporary disability and 
loss of income.

As Monarch is part of the group, the underwriting of the above insurance risks forms part of the credit assessment 
made prior to entering an instalment sale or loan with the customer for the purchase of goods.

The risk under the insurance contract is the possibility that the insured events as detailed above occur and the 
uncertainty of the amount of the resulting claim. By the very nature of the insurance contract, this risk is random 
and therefore unpredictable.

A prominent risk that the group faces is that the actual claims exceed the amount of the insurance claims 
provisions. This could occur because the frequency or severity of claims are greater than estimated. Insurance 
events are random and the actual number of claims will vary from year-to-year from the estimated claims provision 
established using historical claims patterns and actuarial techniques.
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5.	 Insurance continued

Insurance risk continued 

The development of insurance claims provisions provides a measure of the group’s ability to estimate the ultimate 
value of the claims. The group does not underwrite long-term risks and, consequently, the uncertainty about the 
amount and timing of claim payments is limited. Regular estimates of claims are performed in reviewing the 
adequacy of the insurance claims provisions. Claims development is reviewed by management on a regular basis. 
Insurance claim provisions will generally be settled within one year.

The frequency and severity of claims can be affected due to unforeseen factors such as patterns of crime, 
pandemic and employment trends. The group manages these risks through its underwriting strategy and proactive 
claims handling. The geographical spread of the group ensures that the underwritten risks are well-diversified.  
No significant concentrations of insurance risk exist.

Catastrophe cover has been placed with third-party insurers in order to reduce the potential impact of a  single 
catastrophic event on the earnings and capital of Monarch. Due to the nature of the insurance risk, claims can be 
measured reliably. Past experience has indicated that claims provision estimates approximates the actual claims 
costs. The insurance result is dependent on the trend in the group’s merchandising sales. There is no insurance 
business other than with the group’s customers.

Regulatory requirements
The group’s wholly owned insurance company, Monarch is subject to the regulations as set out in the Short-Term 
Insurance Act, No. 53 of 1998, as amended and the Insurance Act, No. 18 of 2017 (“Insurance Acts”).

The Insurance Acts, including the Financial Soundness Standards for Insurers and Microinsurers, became effective 
on 1 July 2018 and stipulate the calculation of the value of assets, liabilities and the solvency capital requirement of 
Microinsurers as well as Short-Term Insurers and requires Monarch to hold certain prescribed assets to meet its 
insurance liabilities and solvency capital requirement. Management confirms that Monarch meets the standards in 
terms of the requirements of the Insurance Acts.

5.5	 Insurance cell captive
2021

Rm
2020

Rm

Investment in insurance cell captive included in other receivables 10.7 21.1

The company has an economic interest in cell captives. These “cells” issue contracts that transfer insurance risk. 
The risks and rewards associated with these contracts are transferred to the company through a cell agreement. 
The company is required at all times to maintain the cell in a financially sound condition. The net profit or loss  
after tax from the cells is accounted for by the company in insurance revenue in the income statement. The net 
investment in the cells is shown under other receivables in the balance sheet. In determining the net insurance  
result from the cell captive contracts, the group insurance accounting policies are applied. The amounts payable  
to the company in terms of the contract are subject to certain liquidity and solvency requirements of the  
insurance company.
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6.	 Borrowings, cash and net finance costs
6.1	 Borrowings, banking facilities and cash

2021
Rm

2020
Rm

Interest-bearing borrowings
Short-term banking facilities – (922.1)
Cash-on-hand and deposits 447.0 1 193.4

Net cash 447.0 271.3

Available facilities
Banking facilities 1 150.0 1 150.0
Domestic Medium-Term Note programme 2 000.0 2 000.0

3 150.0 3 150.0

Available funds 3 597.0 3 421.3

Interest rate profile
Interest rate profile of borrowings is as follows:
– �Bank borrowings include revolving credit and overnight facilities. Revolving credit 

facilities are at interest rates linked to three-month JIBAR. The interest rates on the 
overnight facilities are based on rates as determined by each of the banks based on 
market conditions. The weighted average interest rate at the end of the reporting 
period is 5.9% (2020: 7.6%). – 922.1

– 922.1

The exposure of the group’s borrowings to interest rate changes and the contractual 
repricing dates at the end of the reporting period are set out below in terms of years 
subsequent to reporting date:

Variable interest rates:
One year – 922.1
Two years – –
Three years – –

– 922.1

The above borrowings are unsecured. The group has committed and overnight facilities 
with banks and financial institutions of R1 150 million (2020: R1 150 million) and has 
established a Domestic Medium-Term Note programme (“DMTN”) in October 2013, 
under which the group can issue notes up to R2 billion.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash-on-hand and deposits 447.0 1 193.4

447.0 1 193.4
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6.	 Borrowings, cash and net finance costs continued
6.1	 Borrowings, banking facilities and cash continued

Liabilities from  
financing activities
Banking
facilities 

due within 
one year

Rm

Banking
facilities 

due after 
one year

Rm
Total

Rm

Net debt as at 1 April 2019 – – –
Cash flows 942.2 – 942.2
Interest payments which are presented as operating cash flows (20.1) – (20.1)

Net debt as at 31 March 2020 922.1 – 922.1
Cash flows (936.4) – (936.4)
Interest payments which are presented as operating cash flows 14.3 – 14.3

Net debt as at 31 March 2021 – – –

Accounting policies
Borrowings comprise committed facilities with banks and financial institutions and notes issued under a  
DMTN programme.

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash-on-hand and deposits held on call with banks and demand loans. 

Borrowings and cash and cash equivalents are classified as financial instruments in terms of IFRS.

Interest income on cash and cash equivalents calculated utilising the effective interest rate method is 
recognised in the income statement as part of interest received.

Capital management

2021
Rm 

2020
Rm

Interest-bearing borrowings 805.8 1 760.0
Less: Cash and cash equivalents (447.0) (1 193.4)

Net debt 358.8 566.6

Shareholders’ equity 4 872.7 4 709.5
Gearing ratio� (%) 7.4 12.0

Capital is monitored on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by equity capital.  
Net debt is calculated as total interest-bearing borrowings less cash and cash equivalents.

The gearing ratio is in line with the actual capital structure.

The group’s objectives when managing capital are to:

•	 safeguard the group’s ability to continue as a going concern;

•	 provide returns for shareholders;

•	 provide benefits for other stakeholders; and

•	 maintain an optimal capital structure as approved by the Board.

In order to maintain the optimal capital structure, dividends paid to shareholders may be adjusted, capital could be 
returned to shareholders or new shares could be issued.



Statutory  
information

Primary 
statements

Notes to annual  
financial statements

Company annual 
financial statements

Appendices to the  
audit committee report

Lewis Group Limited:
Consolidated financial statements continued
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

LEWIS GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2021 47

6.	 Borrowings, cash and net finance costs continued
6.1	 Borrowings, banking facilities and cash continued

Credit risk
Credit risk may also arise when an entity has its credit rating downgraded causing the fair value of the group’s 
investment in that entity’s financial instruments to fall. The credit ratings of the financial institutions holding 
deposits on our behalf and those whose securities we hold are monitored on a regular basis.

Stage 1 with no movement between stages. No amount for 12-month expected credit loss has been recognised  
as the amount is immaterial.

Deposits are placed with high-quality South African institutions. Included in the cash-on-hand and deposits are 
bank balances held in foreign currency amounting to R47.6 million (2020: R65.0 million).

The Moody’s credit rating and maximum exposure to credit risk for cash and cash equivalents per institution  
is detailed in the table below:

2021 2020 2021 2020
Financial institutions Long-term Short-term Long-term Short-term Rm Rm

FNB Ba2 NP Ba1 NP 172.5 132.5
Absa Ba2 NP Ba1 NP 91.9 228.4
Investec Ba2 NP Ba1 NP 0.1 300.2
Standard Bank Ba2 NP Ba1 NP 39.3 200.2
RMB Ba2 NP Ba1 NP 8.7 162.0
Nedbank Ba2 NP Ba1 NP 67.9 164.5
Sanlam Ba2 NP Ba1 NP 61.2 –
Other 5.4 5.6

Total 447.0 1 193.4

Liquidity risk
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities and the availability 
of funding through an adequate amount of committed facilities. Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying 
business, the group maintains flexibility in funding through the use of committed facility lines.

Management monitors the group’s cash flows through the monitoring of actual inflows and outflows against 
forecasted cash flows and the utilisation of borrowing facilities. A quarterly analysis is presented to the  
Audit committee. 

As noted above, the group has adequate facilities to meet its liquidity requirements.

Fair value
Cash and cash equivalents are stated at cost which approximates fair value due to the short-term nature of these 
instruments.

The fair value of borrowings approximates its carrying value as it is linked to market-related interest rates.
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6.	 Borrowings, cash and net finance costs continued
6.2	 Net finance costs

Notes 
2021

Rm 
2020

Rm

Interest paid (105.3) (98.0)

Borrowings 3 (14.3) (20.1)
Lease liabilities 17.1 (66.0) (71.5)
Other (25.0) (6.4)

Interest received – bank 17.2 12.4
Interest received – other – 21.8
Forward exchange contracts (42.1) 29.3

Net finance costs (130.2) (34.5)

Accounting policies
Foreign currency transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates at the dates 
of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and 
from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at year-end exchange 
rates are recognised in the income statement.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to forward exchange contracts are presented in the income 
statement, within net finance costs.

Derivative instruments
Derivative instruments are utilised to hedge exposure to foreign currency fluctuations. Although the derivatives 
have not been designated in a hedge relationship, they act as an economic hedge and will substantially offset 
the underlying transactions when they occur. Derivative instruments are classified as financial instruments 
under IFRS.

Interest rate risk
The principal objective of interest rate management is to:

•	 minimise the impact of interest rate volatility on profits in the short-term; and

•	 ensure that the group is protected from volatile interest rate movements for the medium- to long-term.

As part of the process of managing floating rate interest-bearing debt, the interest rate characteristics of 
borrowings are positioned according to the expected movements in interest rates. The Chief financial officer may 
recommend to the Audit committee (‘the committee’) the use of fixed interest debt and interest rate swaps as 
circumstances dictate. The use of such instruments must be specifically approved by the committee. During the 
current year, no fixed rate loans or interest rate swaps were entered into.

Interest rate profiles are analysed by the changes in its borrowing levels and the interest rates applicable to the 
facilities available to the group. The sensitivity analysis for a 50 basis points change in the interest on net profit 
after tax is set out below, assuming the current level of borrowings at year-end is maintained throughout the year:

2021
Rm

2020
Rm

Interest increases by 50 basis points – (3.6)
Interest decreases by 50 basis points – 3.6
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6.	 Borrowings, cash and net finance costs continued
6.2	 Net finance costs continued

Foreign exchange risk
Foreign exchange risk is present in respect of imports of merchandise. Merchandise is sourced from foreign 
suppliers, particularly in the Far East. In order to minimise exposure to foreign currency fluctuations, forward cover 
is taken out to cover forward purchase commitments made with foreign suppliers. 

During the year, 37.0% (2020: 28.9%) of the purchases were in foreign denominated currencies. Below is a summary 
of the amounts payable under forward contracts:

Term Average rate 

Foreign
currency

FCm

Rand
equivalent

Rm 

Fair value
loss/(gain)

Rm

2021
US dollar Less than six months Rate at R16.19 15.3 237.2 8.1

2020
US dollar Less than six months Rate at R16.15 9.9 173.8 (12.8)

Below is a sensitivity analysis of the effect of currency movements of 10% on the year-end valuation of the forward 
exchange contracts on net profit after tax:

2021
Rm

2020
Rm

Currency appreciates by 10% 17.1 12.5
Currency depreciates by 10% (17.1) (12.5)
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7.	 Trade and other payables
2021

Rm 
2020

Rm

Trade payables 175.6 196.5
Accruals and other payables 211.6 122.0
Employment provisions 150.1 106.5
Refund obligation 81.2 81.5
Restoration provision 32.4 37.1
Cash-settled share-based payments (refer to note 14.3.2) 23.6 4.3

674.5 547.9

Restoration
provision

Rm

Employment
provisions

Rm

2021
Opening balance 37.1 106.5
Additions and modifications during the year (7.9) 137.2
Utilised (0.4) (93.6)
Interest 3.6 –

Closing balance 32.4 150.1

2020
Opening balance – 109.7
Reallocated from lease liabilities (refer to note 17.1) 33.4 –
Additions during the year 4.1 15.7
Utilised (0.4) (18.9)

Closing balance 37.1 106.5

Accounting policies
Trade payables
Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of 
business from suppliers. Trade payables are classified as financial instruments in terms of IFRS.

The accounting policies for financial instruments are included in note 3.

Provisions
A provision is recognised when the group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past 
events, for which it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to 
settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made.

Employment provisions
Employee entitlements to annual leave and bonus are recognised as they accrue to employees when there is a 
legal or constructive obligation to make such payments as a result of past performance. An accrual is made for 
the estimated provision still owing as a result of services provided by employees up to the balance sheet date.

Refund obligation
Full details is set out in note 9.2 to the financial statements.

Restoration provision
A provision is recognised for the restoration costs associated with leased property. This is an estimate of costs 
to be incurred to restore the leased property back to its original state, as per the lease agreement. Restoration 
costs are provided for at the present value of expected future costs to settle the obligation and are recognised 
as part of the cost of the right-of-use asset. The future expected costs are based on past experience of 
management and is discounted at an appropriate discount rate. The estimated future costs of restoration are 
reviewed annually and adjusted accordingly. 

Cash-settled share-based payments
Full details of the accounting policy is set out in note 14.3 to the financial statements.
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8.	 Payments in advance
2021

Rm
2020

Rm

Opening balance 150.1 158.0
Revenue recognised in the period previously included in the opening balance (100.0) (101.0)
Liability raised during the current period 112.7 93.1

Closing balance 162.8 150.1

Payments in advance arise:

•	 in the case of a maintenance contract (refer note 9.2) where customers have settled their accounts or where 
customers have paid in advance of Lewis’ performance obligations, which will typically be satisfied over a period 
of three years from the date of that maintenance contract; and

•	 in the case where customers have paid in advance for goods still to be delivered under the sales contract, which 
will be satisfied when those goods are delivered to the customer.

Management expects that R108.0 million (2020: R100.0 million) of the transaction price allocated to the unsatisfied 
contracts as at 31 March 2021 will be recognised as revenue during the next reporting period and the remaining 
R54.8 million (2020: R50.1 million) during the following reporting period.

9.	 Revenue
9.1	 Revenue

2021
Rm

2020
Rm

Retail revenue – revenue from contracts with customers 4 747.7 4 475.3

Merchandise sales 3 931.2 3 685.5
Ancillary services 816.5 789.8

Insurance revenue 707.2 666.1
Effective interest income 1 271.0 1 311.9

Finance charges and initiation fees earned 1 421.8 1 414.3
Adjustment for interest on credit impaired accounts (150.8) (102.4)

6 725.9 6 453.3
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9.	 Revenue continued
9.1	 Revenue continued

Accounting policies
Revenue
Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with a customer and comprises 
merchandise sales net of discounts, earned finance charges and initiation fees, earned maintenance contracts, 
delivery and insurance premiums earned. Value added tax is excluded.

(i)	 Retail revenue

Merchandise sales

Revenue from the sale of merchandise is recognised on the date of delivery. Sales are mainly conducted 
as follows:

(a)	 By instalment sale and loan agreements. Such agreements are subject to credit legislation in the 
jurisdictions that the group operates.

(b)	 Cash and open accounts.

It is policy to sell goods with the right of return in terms of current consumer legislation. Such sales are 
cancelled where the right of return is exercised. Under IFRS 15, a refund liability for the expected refunds 
is recognised as an adjustment to revenue and trade and other payables. The corresponding right to 
recover the product from the customer is an adjustment to cost of sales and inventory.

Ancillary services

Maintenance contracts

Revenue from maintenance contracts is recognised as follows:

•	 the income is deferred until the expiry of the one-year supplier’s warranty; and

•	 for the two subsequent years of the maintenance contract, revenue is recognised in accordance with 
the percentage stage of completion method using the expected costs of providing the service as an 
appropriate measure of the stage of completion. To establish the expected cost to provide the 
service, the group reviews its historic incidence records on a rolling three-year period.

Other

Revenue from the provision of other services (mainly delivery and service fees) is recognised when the 
services are rendered.

(ii)	 Effective interest income

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying value of 
financial assets except for financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired (or “stage 3”) 
for which interest revenue is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to their net carrying value 
(i.e. gross carrying value less impairment provision). The effective interest rate calculation does not 
consider expected credit losses but include initiation fees as they are integral to the effective 
interest rate.

(iii)	 Insurance revenue

Insurance revenue consists of gross insurance premiums. Insurance premiums are recognised on a 
straight-line basis over the period of the contract, after an appropriate allowance is made for unearned 
premiums.
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9.	 Revenue continued
9.2	 Retail revenue – revenue from contracts with customers

Traditional
Rm

Cash
Rm

Group
Rm

2021
Merchandise sales
– Cash 1 434.4 566.5 2 000.9
– Credit 1 930.3 – 1 930.3
Ancillary services
– At a point in time 153.5 10.4 163.9
– Over time 652.6 – 652.6

 4 170.8 576.9 4 747.7

2020
Merchandise sales
– Cash 1 058.6 530.1 1 588.7
– Credit 2 096.8 – 2 096.8
Ancillary services
– At a point in time 167.8 10.3 178.1
– Over time 611.7 – 611.7

 3 934.9 540.4 4 475.3

Significant accounting estimates and judgements
Disaggregation of revenue
The disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers is in accordance with the reportable segments 
as this represents how the group is managed in terms of its sales channels. 

Transaction price 
All transaction prices for ancillary services are stand alone and are at arms length (i.e. no services are bundled 
with the purchase of merchandise). Consequently, there are no allocations of transaction prices required. 

Refund obligation
The accumulated experience of the portfolio has been utilised to estimate such returns at the time of sale. 
Our assessment is that no significant change in the level of returns will occur. The assumptions and the 
estimates underlying the refund liability are reassessed at each reporting date and there has been no material 
change in these assumptions and estimates for the current period.

Maintenance contracts
The maintenance contract is a two-year contract irrespective of the term of the instalment sale agreement. 
The first year is covered by a supplier’s warranty. The group provides two-year extended warranty coverage in 
the second and third year. Revenue from maintenance contracts is recognised in accordance with the 
percentage stage of completion method using the expected costs of providing the service as an appropriate 
measure of the stage of completion. To establish the expected cost to provide the service, the group reviews 
its historic incidence records on a rolling three-year period. 

Delivery fees
Revenue from delivery fees is recognised at a point in time when delivery of the customer’s ordered goods is 
made and the transaction finally approved. The customer has the non-obligatory option to select delivery for 
their purchased goods at an additional cost. 

Service fees
Service fees are the fees charged monthly in connection with the routine administration cost of maintaining 
a credit agreement and consequently, in accordance with paragraph 5.4.3 (a) of appendix B (implementation 
guidance) to IFRS 9, it is accounted for under IFRS 15.

Service fees are fixed and are not charged on a variable basis by the group (i.e. not based on the price of the 
goods sold).

Revenue from service fees is recognised when the service is performed on a monthly basis over the duration 
of the credit agreement.
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9.	 Revenue continued
9.3	 Insurance revenue

2021
Rm

2020
Rm

Gross premiums written 702.1 656.5
Changes in unearned premiums 5.1 9.6

Net premiums earned 707.2 666.1

10.	 Reportable segments

Primary
Traditional

Rm
 Cash

Rm 
Group

Rm 

2021
Segment income statement
Merchandise sales 3 364.7 566.5 3 931.2
Total revenue from external customers
Retail revenue – revenue from contracts with customers 4 170.8 576.9 4 747.7
Insurance revenue 707.2 – 707.2
Effective interest income 1 271.0 – 1 271.0

6 149.0 576.9 6 725.9
Cost of merchandise sales (1 978.1) (310.7) (2 288.8)
Operating costs (3 568.2) (173.4) (3 741.6)

Segment operating profit before investment income 602.7 92.8 695.5

Segment operating margin� (%) 17.9 16.4 17.7
Segment assets(1) 4 074.0 141.5 4 215.5
Capital expenditure 120.4 0.9 121.3
Depreciation and amortisation 269.4  39.8 309.2
Impairment  33.8 – 33.8

2020
Segment income statement
Merchandise sales 3 155.4 530.1 3 685.5
Total revenue from external customers
Retail revenue – revenue from contracts with customers 3 934.9 540.4 4 475.3
Insurance revenue 666.1 – 666.1
Effective interest income 1 311.9 – 1 311.9

5 912.9 540.4 6 453.3
Cost of merchandise sales (1 863.5) (310.0) (2 173.5)
Operating costs (3 839.5) (186.6) (4 026.1)

Segment operating profit before investment income 209.9 43.8 253.7

Segment operating margin� (%) 6.7 8.3 6.9
Segment assets(1) 3 828.9 124.3 3 953.2
Capital expenditure 106.0 2.1 108.1
Depreciation and amortisation 298.2 50.7 348.9
Impairment 26.6 – 26.6
(1)	 Segment assets include net instalment sale receivables of R3 267.7 million (2020: R3 212.5 million) and inventory of R947.8 million 

(2020: R740.7 million). 
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10.	 Reportable segments continued

Geographical
South Africa

Rm
Namibia

Rm
BLE(2)

Rm
Group

Rm

2021
Revenue 5 724.8 498.7 502.4 6 725.9
Non-current assets(3) 962.6 98.1 74.5 1 135.2

2020 – Restated
Revenue 5 492.7 475.9 484.7 6 453.3
Non-current assets(3) 930.4 114.9 93.4 1 138.7
(2)	Botswana, Lesotho and Eswatini.
(3)	Non-current assets are defined as property, plant and equipment, intangible assets (excluding goodwill) and right-of-use assets.

In the prior period, non-current assets for the BLE countries included intangible assets of R46.9 million related to 
South Africa. The comparative figures have been restated.

Accounting policy
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting to the chief operating 
decision-makers. The chief operating decision-makers, who are responsible for allocating resources and 
assessing performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the Chief executive officer and the 
Chief financial officer. 

The group has identified its operating segments based on the chains that it operates. These segments reflect 
how the group’s businesses are managed and reported to the chief operating decision-makers. All of the 
business segments operate in the furniture retail business. Set out below is a summary of the operations in 
each of the operating segments of the group:

(i)	 Traditional

Traditional business consists of the credit-focused brands:

Lewis
Lewis sells a range of household furniture, electrical appliances and home electronics to customers in 
the LSM* 4 to 7 categories.

Best Home and Electric
Best Home and Electric is a retailer of electrical appliances, sound and vision equipment and furniture, 
targeting the LSM* 4 to 7 customer.

Beares
Beares is a retailer of upmarket furniture, electrical appliances and home electronics to customers in 
the LSM* 6 to 9 categories.

(ii)	 Cash

This is the cash focused brand of UFO which retails luxury furniture to customers in the LSM* 9 + 
categories.

Information regarding the performance of each segment is disclosed in the segmental report. 
Performance is measured on the basis of the operating profit (which includes the insurance underwriting 
result), as management believes that this measure is useful in evaluating the results of the segments, 
both in relation to each other and in relation to their respective competition. Investment income, net 
finance costs and taxation (i.e. the items that reconcile total segment operating profit to profit 
attributable to ordinary shareholders) are reviewed on a group basis. With respect to assets and 
liabilities, the chief operating decision-makers only monitor the trade receivables and inventory for 
each segment. The remaining assets and the liabilities are reviewed on a group basis.

*	 Living Standards Measure (“LSM”) index as developed by the South African Audience Research Foundation (“SAARF”).
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11.	 Gross profit and inventories
2021

Rm
2020

Rm

Merchandise sales 3 931.2 3 685.5
Cost of merchandise sales (2 288.8) (2 173.5)

Purchases (2 495.9) (2 248.4)
Movement in inventory 207.1 74.9

Merchandise gross profit 1 642.4 1 512.0

Gross profit percentage� (%) 41.8 41.0

Inventories
Cost of merchandise 1 033.2 827.3
Less: Provision for obsolescence (85.4) (86.6)

947.8 740.7

Included in the above is an adjustment for stock with a right of return of R33.9 million (2020: R34.0 million).  
Refer to note 9 refund obligation.

Accounting policy
Inventory, comprising merchandise held for resale, is valued at the lower of cost or net realisable value. Cost is 
determined using the weighted average basis, net of trade and settlement discounts. It excludes borrowing 
costs. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less variable selling 
expenses. Provision is made for slow moving, redundant and obsolete inventory.

12.	 Cash flow from operations
2021

Rm

2020
Restated

Rm

12.1	 Cash flow from trading: 1 053.3 879.0

Operating profit before investment income 695.5 253.7
Adjusted for:

Share-based payments 43.6 33.3
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 343.0 375.5
Movement in debtors’ impairment provision (110.3) 210.9
Movement in other provisions 43.7 13.8
Other non-cash flow movements 37.8 (8.2)

Included in cash flow from trading is interest received on trade receivables of 
R1 421.8 million (2020: R1 414.3 million).

2021
Rm

2020
Rm

12.2	 Changes in working capital: (138.7) (255.8)

Increase in inventories (211.7) (85.0)
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables 30.3 (213.3)
Increase in trade and other payables 11.7 48.3
Increase/(decrease) in payments in advance 12.7 (7.9)
Increase in insurance liabilities 18.3 2.1

12.3	 Interest paid per cash flow statement:
Interest paid per the income statement (105.3) (98.0)
Non-cash flow movement 14.9 –

Interest paid per the cash flow statement (90.4) (98.0)
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12.	 Cash flow from operations continued
Restatement
The realised portion of gains and losses on forward exchange contracts in the prior year was restated from 
“cash flow from trading” to the face of the consolidated cash flow statement. This is reflected in a separate line 
item, “gains and losses on forward exchange contracts”. See below for the effect of the restatement:

Cash flow
from 

trading
Rm

Gains and
losses on
forward

exchange
contracts

Rm

March 2020 – previously reported 892.1 –
Restatement (13.1) 13.1

March 2020 – restated 879.0 13.1

13.	 Capital management
13.1	 Earnings

2021
Cents

2020
Cents

Earnings per share
Earnings per share 576.4 232.1
Diluted earnings per share 565.3 225.4

Headline earnings per share
Headline earnings per share 616.5 260.2
Diluted headline earnings per share 604.6 252.7

Headline earnings 
Gross

Rm

Income tax
 effect

Rm
Net
Rm

2021
Attributable earnings 432.9 – 432.9
Profit on disposal of fixed assets (0.1) – (0.1)
Impairment of right-of-use assets 33.8 (9.5) 24.3
Goodwill write-off 5.9 – 5.9

Headline earnings 472.5 (9.5) 463.0

2020
Attributable earnings 182.4 – 182.4
Loss on disposal of fixed assets 3.2 (0.9) 2.3
Impairment of right-of-use assets 26.6 (6.8) 19.8

Headline earnings 212.2 (7.7) 204.5
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13.	 Capital management continued
13.2	 Dividends

2021
Cents

2020
Cents

Dividends paid per share
Final dividend 2020 (2019) 65.0 129.0
Interim dividend 2021 (2020) 133.0 120.0

198.0 249.0

Dividends declared per share
Interim dividend 2021 (2020) 133.0 120.0
Final dividend 2021 (2020) 195.0 65.0

328.0 185.0

2021
Rm

2020
Rm

Dividends paid
Dividend number 30 declared on 22 May 2019 and paid on 22 July 2019 – 103.6
Dividend number 31 declared on 20 November 2019 and paid on 27 January 2020 – 95.0
Dividend number 32 declared on 25 August 2020 and paid on 21 September 2020 51.5 –
Dividend number 33 declared on 25 November 2020 and paid on 25 January 2021 98.4 –

Dividends received on treasury shares
Lewis Employee Share Incentive Scheme Trust (2.9) (2.2)

147.0 196.4

13.3	 Number of shares
2021
000’s

2020
000’s

Weighted average number of shares
Weighted average shares for earnings and headline earnings per share 75 109 78 615
Dilution resulting from share awards outstanding 1 471 2 321

Weighted average shares for diluted earnings and headline earnings per share 76 580 80 936

Diluted earnings and diluted headline earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares assuming that all share options will be 
exercised. The dilution is determined by the number of shares that could have been 
acquired at fair value (determined as the average annual market price of the shares) 
less the number of shares that would be issued on the exercise of all the share options.

Number of ordinary shares in issue 
Number of shares issued at beginning of year 76 899 80 210
Shares repurchased (5 363) (3 311)

Number of shares issued at end of year 71 536 76 899
Treasury shares held by:

Lewis Employee Share Incentive Scheme Trust (27) (26)

Effective number of shares in issue 71 509 76 873
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13.	 Capital management continued
13.4	 Equity

2021
Rm

2020
Rm

Share capital and premium
Share capital  1.0  1.0 

Share premium  1 916.9  2 029.5 

Reverse acquisition reserve  (2 123.1)  (2 123.1)

Cost of cancelled shares  206.1  93.5 

 0.9  0.9

Opening balance  0.9  0.9 

Cost of own shares acquired  (112.6)  (101.7)

Transfer of cost of cancelled shares  112.6  101.7 

 0.9  0.9 

Treasury shares
Opening balance  (1.0)  (0.5)

Cost of own shares acquired  (23.0)  (21.0)

Share awards to employees  23.6  20.5 

 (0.4)  (1.0)

Treasury shares  0.4  1.0 

Lewis Employee Share Incentive Scheme Trust   0.4  1.0 

During the financial year, shares were repurchased in terms of section 48 of the Companies Act as follows:

Number 
of shares

 repurchased

Average 
price

R

Total value 
repurchased 

Rm

In terms of the general authority granted by shareholders at the annual 
general meeting held on 25 October 2019. 1 882 760 17.09  32.1 
In terms of the general authority granted by shareholders at the annual 
general meeting held on 23 October 2020. 3 480 417 23.12  80.5 

 5 363 177  112.6 

	� The shares repurchased above have reverted to authorised but unissued equity securities of the issuer in 
accordance with section 35(5) of the Companies Act.

Reverse acquisition reserve
On listing, Lewis Group Limited (‘Lewis Group’) acquired the total shareholding of Lewis Stores Proprietary Limited 
(‘Lewis Stores’) through issuing shares to the shareholder at that date. In terms of IFRS 3 requirements for reverse 
acquisitions, Lewis Stores was the acquirer and Lewis Group the acquiree, although Lewis Group is the holding 
company and Lewis Stores the subsidiary. The group financial statements were in substance a continuation of the 
operations of Lewis Stores from the date that the reverse acquisition took place. 

Treasury shares
The Lewis Employee Share Incentive Scheme Trust effectively holds 27 009 shares (2020: 26 437 shares),  
all of which will be utilised to cover share awards granted to executives. 



Statutory  
information

Primary 
statements

Notes to annual  
financial statements

Company annual 
financial statements

Appendices to the  
audit committee report

Lewis Group Limited:
Consolidated financial statements continued
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

LEWIS GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2021 60

13.	 Capital management continued
13.5	 Beneficial shareholders

According to the company’s register of disclosures of beneficial interests made by registered shareholders acting in 
a nominee capacity, the following entities owned in excess of 5% of the company’s shares:

2021 2020

Number 
of shares

Number 
of shares

Total % holding Total % holding

Coronation Balanced Plus Fund (SA) 3 684 418  5.15  –    –   

Corolife Special Opportunities Portfolio (SA) 3 387 269  4.74 – –

Government Employees Pension Fund (SA)  –    –   7 890 768  10.26 

Trimark Global Endeavour Fund (Canada)  –    –   7 454 763  9.69 

Trimark Global Balanced Fund (Canada)  –    –   4 047 392  5.26 

13.6	 Other reserves

Fair value
 reserve

Foreign 
currency

 translation 
reserve

Share-based
 payments

 reserve Other Total
Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm

2021
Opening balance  (46.7)  35.8  63.2 –  52.3 
Fair value adjustments of FVOCI debt 
investments  19.1  19.1 
Disposal of FVOCI debt investments 
recognised  (0.4)  (0.4) 
Movement in foreign currency translation 
reserve  (21.5)  (21.5)
Transfer of share-based payments reserve  
to retained earnings on vesting  (40.2)  (40.2)
Equity-settled share-based payments  24.3  24.3 

Closing balance  (28.0)  14.3  47.3 –  33.6 

2020

Opening balance  (12.0)  4.5  55.1  0.8  48.4 
Fair value adjustments of FVOCI debt 
investments  (35.7)  (35.7)
Disposal of FVOCI debt investments 
recognised  1.0  1.0 
Movement in foreign currency translation 
reserve  31.3  31.3 
Transfer of share-based payments reserve  
to retained earnings on vesting  (20.9)  (20.9)

Equity-settled share-based payments  29.0  29.0 

Transfer of other reserve to retained earnings  (0.8)  (0.8)

Closing balance  (46.7)  35.8  63.2 –  52.3
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13.	 Capital management continued
13.7	 Retained earnings

2021
Rm

2020
Rm

Opening balance  4 657.3  4 827.3 

IFRS 16 Transitional adjustments –  (92.8)

Opening balance  4 657.3  4 734.5 

Net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders  432.9  182.4 

Distribution to shareholders  (147.0)  (196.4)

Transfer of cost of cancelled shares  (112.6)  (101.7)

Transfer of share-based payments reserve to retained earnings on vesting  40.2  20.9 

Retirement benefit remeasurements  (8.6)  37.3 

Share awards to employees  (23.6)  (20.5)

Transfer of other reserve to retained earnings –  0.8 

 4 838.6  4 657.3

	� Distribution by foreign subsidiaries of all their reserves at balance sheet date will potentially give rise to withholding 
taxes of R77.5 million (2020: R63.3 million). 

Accounting policy
Share capital 
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new ordinary 
shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction from the proceeds, net of tax.

Where any group company purchases the company’s equity share capital (treasury shares), the consideration 
paid, including the costs attributable to the acquisition, is deducted from the group’s equity until the shares are 
cancelled, reissued or disposed of. Where such shares are subsequently sold or reissued, any consideration 
received, net of transaction costs, is included in the group’s equity. The weighted average number of shares is 
reduced by the treasury shares for earnings per share purposes. Dividends received on treasury shares are 
eliminated on consolidation.

Where shares are cancelled, the consideration paid including the cost attributable to the acquisition will be 
applied to the share premium account and once the share premium account is fully utilised, then the excess will 
be allocated to retained earnings.
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14.	 Directors and employees
14.1	 Employee costs 

2021
Rm

2020
Rm

Employment costs 
Salaries, wages, commissions and bonuses  1 129.3  1 098.5 

Retirement benefit costs  70.8  74.6 

Equity-settled share-based payments (refer note 14.3.1) 24.3 29.0

Cash-settled share-based payments (refer note 14.3.2)  19.3  4.3

Other employment costs  15.4  8.0 

 1 259.1  1 214.4

Remuneration of key executives 
Salary  15.7  16.1 

Bonus  10.4  21.8 

Retirement and medical contributions  3.1  3.5 

Gains on share awards vested(*)  10.3  11.1 

 39.5  52.5

(*)  �The gain on shares vested is calculated with reference to the number of shares that vest and the price per share at the date of vesting less 
consideration payable (where applicable).

Key executives comprise the directors of Lewis Stores Proprietary Limited, the main operating subsidiary.  
Non-executive fees are disclosed in note 14.2. 

14.2	 Directors’ emoluments 

Non-executive directors – fees as directors
2021

R’000
2020

R’000

H Saven

– company  1 118  1 070 

– for subsidiary  321  245 

Prof. F Abrahams

– company  878  840 

– for subsidiary  255  245 

A Bodasing  652  623 

D Motsepe  726  694 

T Njikizana  607  395 

AJ Smart (Retired 2 April 2020)

– company –  694 

– for subsidiary  21  318 

D Westcott 

– company  886  848 

– for subsidiary  333  320 

 5 797  6 292 
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14.	 Directors and employees continued
14.2 	 Directors’ emoluments continued

2021 2020

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Executive directors J Bestbier J Enslin J Bestbier J Enslin

All emoluments are paid by the subsidiary.

Salary  2 690  4 361  2 586  4 169 

Bonuses paid during the year  1 681  2 698  3 491  5 756 

Contributions to pension scheme  430  698  414 667(1)

Contributions to medical aid –  182 –  164 

Gains on share awards  1 482  2 731  806  3 706 

 6 283  10 670  7 297  14 462
(1) 	 The contributions to pension scheme of J Enslin for the prior year has been restated with the correct amount.

2021 2020

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Gains on share awards J Bestbier J Enslin J Bestbier J Enslin

Share awards vested  119 107  219 498  24 128  110 985 
Offer date 1 June 2017 1 June 2017 30 June 2016/

30 June 2015
30 June 2016/
30 June 2015

Date vested 25 August 2020 25 August 2020 30 June 2019 30 June 2019

Market value on date of vesting  1 481 691  2 730 555  805 634  3 705 789 

Gain on share awards  1 481 691  2 730 555  805 634  3 705 789 

2021 2020

Outstanding share awards – Equity-Settled Schemes J Bestbier J Enslin J Bestbier J Enslin

Lewis Short-Term and Long-Term Executive  
Performance Scheme 
1 June 2017 – Short-term award – – 119 107 219 498

30 June 2018 – Short-term award 114 284 188 397 114 284 188 397

Lewis 2019 Executive Performance Scheme
28 August 2020 – Short-term award 270 771 438 977 – – 

Lewis Executive Retention Scheme 
30 June 2018 48 493 119 154 48 493 119 154

30 June 2019 70 258 115 816 70 258 115 816

Lewis 2019 Executive Retention Scheme
28 August 2020 63 635 102 147 – –

 567 441  964 491  352 142  642 865 

	� In terms of the following schemes, the Trust holds the following invested shares on behalf of the above directors by 
virtue of the investment of their bonuses into the scheme:

Invested shares 2021 2020

Lewis Executive Retention Scheme  194 555  194 555 

Lewis 2019 Executive Retention Scheme  91 180 –
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14.	 Directors and employees continued
14.2 	 Directors’ emoluments continued

2021 2020

Outstanding Notional Shares – Cash Settled Schemes J Bestbier J Enslin J Bestbier J Enslin

Lewis Cash-Settled Short-Term and Long-Term Executive 
Performance Scheme – New Scheme
30 June 2019 116 217 187 347 116 217 187 347

In terms of this scheme, the award is settled in cash based on the number of notional shares accruing to the 
participant in terms of the scheme.

	 Directors’ interests 
	 The directors’ interests are set out on page 16. 

14.3	 Share-based payments
2021

Rm
2020

Rm

14.3.1	 Equity-settled 
Value of services provided:

In respect of share awards granted.  24.3  29.0 

	 For further details of the equity-settled scheme, refer note 14.4.1.

Accounting policy
The group operates a number of equity-settled share incentive schemes under which the entity receives 
services from employees as consideration for equity instruments (options) of the group. The fair value of the 
employee services received in exchange for the grant of share awards and options is recognised as an expense. 
The total amount to be expensed over the vesting period is determined by reference to the fair value of share 
awards and options granted, excluding the impact of service and non-market performance vesting conditions. 
Non-market performance and service vesting conditions are included in the assumptions about the number of 
options that are expected to become exercisable. The total amount expensed is recognised over the vesting 
period, which is the period over which all vesting conditions are to be satisfied. At each balance sheet date,  
the group revises its estimates of the number of options that are expected to become exercisable. It recognises 
the impact of the revision of original estimates, if any, in the income statement, with a corresponding 
adjustment to equity. Any accelerated vesting of the share awards and options requires immediate recognition 
of the remaining expense. On vesting, the attributable value of share awards is transferred from the share-
based payment reserve to retained earnings.

Share awards granted by the company over its equity instruments to the employees of subsidiary undertakings 
in the group are treated as a capital contribution. The fair value of employee services received, measured by 
reference to the grant date fair value, is recognised over the vesting period as an increase to investment in 
subsidiary and a corresponding credit to equity.

Significant accounting estimates and judgements
As the fair value of the services received cannot be measured reliably, the services have been valued by 
reference to the fair value of shares granted. The fair value of such shares is measured at the grant date using 
the Black-Scholes model. The assumptions used in the Black-Scholes model are as follows:

2021 2020

Weighted average share price (R)  25.51  32.21 

Weighted average expected volatility (%)  91.8  80.0 

Weighted average expected dividend yield (%)  5.7  5.3 

Weighted average risk-free rate (bond yield curve at date of grant) (%)  8.4  8.6 

	



Statutory  
information

Primary 
statements

Notes to annual  
financial statements

Company annual 
financial statements

Appendices to the  
audit committee report

Lewis Group Limited:
Consolidated financial statements continued
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

LEWIS GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2021 65

14.	 Directors and employees continued
14.3 	 Share-based payments continued
14.3.2	 Cash-settled 

A new cash-settled scheme, the Lewis Cash-Settled Long-Term and Short-Term Executive Performance Plan,  
will operate on the identical basis as the Lewis Long-Term and Short-Term Executive Performance Scheme (“LSPS”) 
described below, except notional shares will be issued and vesting will take place in cash. Awards under this scheme 
were granted on 30 June 2019.

2021
Rm

2020
Rm

Opening balance  4.3 – 

Income statement charge before revaluation of liability  13.6  8.2 

Revaluation of liability  5.7  (3.9)

Payments made – –

Closing balance  23.6  4.3 

For further details of the cash-settled scheme, refer note 14.4.2.

Significant accounting estimates and judgements
As the fair value of the services received cannot be measured reliably, the services have been valued by 
reference to the fair value of shares granted as at year-end. The fair value of such shares is measured at 
year-end using the Black-Scholes model. The assumptions at year-end used in the Black-Scholes model are as 
follows:

2021 2020

Share price (R) 30.71  17.82 

Expected volatility (%)  77.7  90.0 

Expected dividend yield (%)  6.9  8.4 

Risk-free rate (bond yield curve at year-end) (%)  8.0  9.0 
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14.	 Directors and employees continued
14.4	 Share incentive schemes (Equity and cash-settled)
14.4.1	 Equity-settled schemes

The following employee share incentive schemes are in operation for directors holding salaried employment office 
and executives.

Shareholders at a general meeting held on 24 June 2015 approved the Lewis Executive Retention Scheme and the 
Lewis Long-Term and Short-Term Executive Performance Scheme. The awards for these schemes are reflected 
below. 

The Lewis 2019 Executive Retention Scheme and the Lewis 2019 Executive Performance Scheme were approved by 
shareholders at the general meeting on 25 October 2019. These schemes will ultimately replace the Lewis Executive 
Retention Scheme and the Lewis Long-Term and Short-Term Executive Performance Scheme as the maximum 
number of shares that can be utilised under these schemes has been reached.

The group is required to provide funding to the Lewis Employee Incentive Scheme Trust in terms of the 
Contribution Agreement. 

Lewis 2019 Executive 
Retention Scheme

Lewis 2019 Executive 
Performance Scheme 

2021
Beginning of year – –
Granted  292 241  1 148 374 
Forfeited – –
Vested – –

End of year  292 241  1 148 374 

Maximum awards available over the life of the scheme  1 500 000  2 250 000 
Utilised for the scheme to date  292 241  1 148 374 

Invested shares –

Lewis Executive 
Retention Scheme

Lewis Long-Term and 
Short-Term Executive 

Performance

2021
Beginning of year  887 688  2 490 328 
Granted – –
Forfeited  (9 302)  (13 953)
Vested –  (1 423 316)

End of year  878 386  1 053 059 

Maximum awards available over the life of the scheme  1 000 000  3 500 000 
Utilised for the scheme to date  989 680  3 377 174 

Invested shares –

2020

Beginning of year  439 308  3 266 973 

Granted  448 380 –

Forfeited –  (205 262)

Vested –  (571 383)

End of year  887 688  2 490 328 

Maximum awards available over the life of the scheme  1 000 000  3 500 000 

Utilised for the scheme to date  998 982  3 391 127 

Invested shares  489 348

	 The weighted average share price at vesting date was R12.44 (2020: R33.39).
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14.	 Directors and employees continued
14.4	 Share incentive schemes (Equity and cash-settled) continued
14.4.1	 Equity-settled schemes continued

The weighted average remaining contractual life for share options outstanding at the end of the period is 1.3 years 
(2020: 1 year).

Note: Invested shares are those shares paid through the investment of executives net bonuses.

Lewis Executive Retention Scheme
In terms of the scheme, senior executives have been offered the right to acquire shares of the group for no 
consideration subject to the achievement of performance targets. The committee will select executives who have 
achieved the requisite performance targets during the previous financial year as eligible for the scheme. The shares 
will vest after three years and is conditional upon the executive still being in the employ of the group other than in 
the event of death, ill-health, retirement or retrenchment.

These shares (vested shares) are deferred for three years and matching shares equal to the before-tax bonus are 
awarded for no consideration at the end of the period. The matching share award will lapse, should the executive 
terminate his or her employment before the completion of the three-year period other than in the event of death, 
ill-health, retirement or retrenchment.

Lewis Long-Term and Short-Term Executive Performance Scheme (“LSPS”)
Awards made under the LSPS offer executives the right to acquire shares for no consideration, subject to the 
achievement of performance targets determined by the committee. The vesting of shares is conditional upon  
the executive still being in the employ of the group other than in the event of death, ill-health, retirement or 
retrenchment.

Performance targets may be adjusted where material changes (both positive and negative) have been made to 
accounting policies resulting from IFRS becoming effective after the grant date. The committee shall be entitled,  
in exceptional circumstances (both positive and negative), to amend performance targets having regard to all 
circumstances including, but not limited to, changes to international and national macro economic circumstances, 
the performance of the Lewis Group relative to the industry in which it operates and any corporate actions 
undertaken by the Lewis Group during the relevant performance period. 

For purposes of determining the performance targets, awards are categorised as follows:

•	 short-term awards means three-year awards or alternative awards in respect of which all portions of the award 
vest on or before the third anniversary of the grant date; and

•	 long-term awards means the four-year awards, five-year awards and alternative awards of which any portion  
of the awards vests after the third anniversary of the grant date.

In respect of short-term targets, performance targets are set at the grant date for the entire period or for each 
financial year during the performance period. For long-term awards, the performance targets will be set for the 
entire performance period as at grant date.

For short-term awards, the committee shall select all or any of the performance targets from the following: 

•	 headline earnings per share;

•	 quality of debtors book being either level of satisfactory paid customers or debtor costs as a percentage  
of debtors at gross carrying value; and

•	 gross margin.

Current short-term awards under the scheme use all three performance measures.

For long-term awards, the committee must select the performance targets as follows: 

•	 Headline earnings per share (mandatory) and at least one of the targets below:

	– Return on shareholders’ equity.

	– After-tax return on average capital employed.

	– Before-tax return on average assets managed.

	– Gearing ratio.

There are no long-term awards outstanding.
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14.	 Directors and employees continued
14.4	 Share incentive schemes (Equity and cash-settled) continued
14.4.1	 Equity-settled schemes continued 

Lewis 2019 Executive Retention Scheme
The terms of this scheme are substantively the same as the Lewis Executive Retention Scheme except for the 
following changes:

•	 The percentage of the cash-based performance bonus that can be invested in the scheme is at the discretion of 
the Remuneration committee with the minimum percentage being 25% and the maximum percentage is 100%.

•	 The group is entitled to a clawback of shares through the repurchase and cancellation of shares held by the 
participant and/or equivalent in money where the shares have not been repurchased and cancelled where the 
executive:

	– is dismissed for misconduct involving fraud, misrepresentation and/or dishonesty and fails materially to 
perform his duties;

	– where the executive is accused of serious misconduct that would warrant dismissal, he or she resigns from  
his/her employment prior to the outcome of the disciplinary proceedings.

Lewis 2019 Executive Performance Scheme 
The terms of this scheme are substantively the same as the Lewis Long-Term and Short-Term Executive 
Performance Scheme except for the following changes:

•	 The group is entitled to a clawback of shares through the repurchase and cancellation of shares held by the 
participant and/or equivalent in money where the shares have not been repurchased and cancelled where the 
executive:

	– is dismissed for misconduct involving fraud, misrepresentation and/or dishonesty and fails materially to 
perform his duties;

	– where the executive is accused of serious misconduct that would warrant dismissal, he or she resigns from 
his/her employment prior to the outcome of the disciplinary proceedings.

•	 The scheme allows for the vesting at certain percentages where the performance target has not been met.  
The table below sets out the percentages:

Equal or greater than 100% of target	 100% vested

97.5% to 100% of target		  25% vested

95% to 97.5% of target			  10% vested

Less than 95% of target		  No vesting

14.4.2	 Cash-settled scheme
On 17 May 2019, the Remuneration committee adopted the Lewis Cash-Settled Long-Term and Short-Term 
Executive Performance Plan. Under this plan, notional shares are allocated to participants and on date of vesting, 
the notional shares are settled in cash. Other than these cash-settled aspects, the terms and conditions of this 
scheme are almost identical to that of the equity-settled Lewis Long-Term and Short-Term Executive Performance 
Scheme. For further details, refer the description of the Lewis Long-Term and Short-Term Executive Performance 
Scheme in note 14.4.1.

All awards are short-term awards and included all the performance criteria applicable to such awards. Below is a 
reconciliation of the notional shares granted under the plan:

Lewis Cash-Settled Long-Term and Short-Term Executive Performance Plan – Notional Shares

2021 2020

Beginning of year  1 157 435 –

Granted  1 037 873  1 200 299 

Forfeited  (12 770)  (42 864)

Vested – –

End of year  2 182 538  1 157 435 

The weighted average remaining contractual life for share options (“notional shares”) outstanding at the end of the 
period is 1.8 years (2020: 2.25 years).
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14.	 Directors and employees continued
14.5	 Retirement benefits
14.5.1	 Retirement plans and benefits

The group operates a number of retirement funds. All retirement fund assets are held separate from the group’s 
assets. There are four defined contribution funds; namely the Lewis Stores Provident Fund; the Lewis Stores 
Namibia Orion Pension Fund for Namibian employees; the SACCAWU Provident Fund for employees belonging to 
SACCAWU Trade Union and the Alexander Forbes Botswana Umbrella Pension Fund for Botswana employees.  
In addition, there are two defined benefit funds; namely the Lewis Stores Group Pension Fund which was closed to 
new members on 1 July 1997; and the Lewis Stores Retirement Fund for executive management. Both defined 
benefit plans are registered under the Pension Funds Act No. 24 of 1956.

Number of employees 

2021 2020

The number of employees on these plans are as follows:

Lewis Group Pension Fund  52  60 

Lewis Stores Retirement Pension Fund  31  33 

SACCAWU Provident Fund  2 235  2 276 

Lewis Stores Provident Fund  4 121  4 031 

Lewis Stores Namibia Orion Pension Fund  674  661 

Alexander Forbes Botswana Umbrella Pension Fund  245  229 

The group provides a subsidy of medical aid contributions to retired employees. Only those employees employed 
prior to 1 August 1997 qualify for this benefit. The liability was valued as at 31 March 2021 by a qualified actuary in 
accordance with the requirements of IAS 19. The group has a commitment to meet these unfunded benefits.

2021
Rm

2020
Rm

14.5.2	 Effects on comprehensive income
Effect on income statement:

Defined benefit retirement plans (refer note 14.5.4)  3.5  11.8 

Post-retirement healthcare plans (refer note 14.5.5)  9.0  9.2 

Defined contribution plans (refer note 14.5.6)  58.3  53.6 

Income statement charge  70.8  74.6 

Actuarial gains and (losses) included in other comprehensive income:

Defined benefit retirement plans  (6.9)  31.0 

Post-retirement healthcare plans  (5.0)  20.1 

 (11.9)  51.1

Actuarial gains and (losses) due to:

Demographic assumptions  7.3  7.8 

Financial assumptions  (37.8)  24.6 

Experience adjustments  18.6  18.7 

 (11.9)  51.1

14.5.3	 Amounts recognised in the balance sheet
Retirement benefit asset (refer note 14.5.4)  (105.4)  (106.8)

Present value of unfunded obligations as a liability (refer note 14.5.4)  2.0  2.1 

Present value of post-retirement healthcare benefits (refer note 14.5.5)  77.1  68.6 

Retirement benefit liability  79.1  70.7 
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14.5.4	 Defined benefit retirement plans

2021
Rm

2020
Rm

Present value of funded obligations  431.5 490.3 

Fair value of plan assets  (598.8)  (624.4)

Asset ceiling limit applied in terms of IAS 19  61.9  27.3 

Retirement benefit asset  (105.4)  (106.8)

Total movement in retirement benefit asset
Present value at the beginning of the year  (106.8) (79.0)

Income statement charge  3.3  11.8 

Current service cost  15.2 15.6 

Past service cost –  1.6 

Risk and expenses  1.8  1.9 

Net interest income  (13.7) (7.3)

Actuarial (gains) and losses included in other comprehensive income  6.9 (31.0)

Contributions paid during the year  (8.8) (8.6)

Present value at the end of the year  (105.4)  (106.8)

Total movement in unfunded obligations as a liability
Present value at the beginning of the year  2.1  2.1 

Income statement charge – interest  0.2  0.2 

Actuarial (gains) and losses included in other comprehensive income – –

Contributions paid during the year  (0.3)  (0.2)

Present value at the end of the year 2.0 2.1

14.	 Directors and employees continued
14.5	 Retirement benefits continued
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14.	 Directors and employees continued
14.5	 Retirement benefits continued
14.5.4 	Defined benefit retirement plans continued

2021
Rm

2020
Rm

Total present value of defined benefit obligations
Beginning of the year  490.3  494.8 

Current service cost  15.2  15.6 

Past service cost –  1.6 

Interest cost  45.0  48.4 

Employee contributions  0.6  0.7 

Benefit payments  (77.8)  (39.7)

Actuarial (gains) and losses included in other comprehensive income  (41.8)  (31.1)

End of the year  431.5  490.3 

Fair value of defined benefit plan assets
Beginning of the year  624.4  595.8 

Employee contributions  0.6  0.7 

Employer contributions  8.8  8.6 

Interest income  61.2  57.8 

Risk and expenses  (1.8)  (1.9)

Benefit payments  (77.8)  (39.7)

Actuarial (gains) and losses included in other comprehensive income  (16.6)  3.1 

End of the year  598.8  624.4 

Asset ceiling limit applied in terms of IAS 19
Beginning of the year  (27.3)  (22.0)

Interest income  (2.5)  (2.1)

Actuarial (gains) and losses included in other comprehensive income  (32.1)  (3.2)

End of the year  (61.9)  (27.3)

Plan assets
The major categories of plan assets as a percentage of the fair value of the total plan assets are as follows:

2021 2020

Cash (%)  8.2  13.8 

Bonds – Listed (%)  18.6  14.6 

Equity – Listed (%)  43.7  42.5 

International equity – Listed (%)  23.8  20.9 

International bonds – Listed (%)  1.0  0.5 

Other (%)  4.7  7.7 

 100.0  100.0 

The defined benefit funds are final salary defined benefit plans. These schemes are valued by an independent 
actuary on an annual basis in terms of IAS 19 using the projected unit credit method. The latest valuation was 
carried out as at 1 January 2021.

The above defined benefit retirement plan asset was subject to the asset ceiling as determined in IFRIC 14 being the 
maximum economic benefit arising from a future unconditional right to a refund and from reductions in future 
contributions in excess of the minimum funding requirement. The effect of the application of the asset ceiling was 
to reduce the defined retirement plan asset by R61.9 million (2020: R27.3 million).

The employer’s future contribution is set on an annual basis in consultation with the fund’s actuary. 
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14.	 Directors and employees continued
14.5	 Retirement benefits continued
14.5.4 	Defined benefit retirement plans continued

Accounting policy
A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the group pays fixed contributions into a separate 
entity. The group has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold 
sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to employee service in the current and prior periods. 
A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that is not a defined contribution plan.

Typically defined benefit plans define an amount of pension benefit that an employee will receive on retirement, 
dependent on factors such as age, years of service and compensation.

The group operates a number of defined benefit and defined contribution plans, the assets of which are held in 
separate trustee-administered funds. These plans are funded by payments from employees and group 
companies, taking into account the recommendations of independent, qualified actuaries. The defined benefit 
obligation is assessed annually by a qualified actuary, in terms of IAS 19, using the projected unit credit method.

The asset and liability recognised in the balance sheet in respect of defined benefit pension plans is the present 
value of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period less the fair value of plan assets.  
The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit 
method. The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future 
cash outflows using interest rates of government bonds that have terms to maturity approximating the terms  
of the related pension obligation.

Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are 
charged or credited to other comprehensive income in the period in which they arise. Past-service costs  
are recognised immediately in the income statement.

Significant accounting estimates and judgements
The underlying actuarial assumptions of the retirement benefit asset and liability with a sensitivity analysis are 
set out below:

2021 2020

Principal actuarial assumptions:
Discount rate (%)  10.4  9.8 

Inflation rate (%)  6.4  6.3 

Future salary increases (%)  7.4  7.3 

Future pension increases (%)  6.4  6.3 

The weighted average duration of the actuarial liability is 12.1 years (2020: 12.2 years).

Sensitivity analysis 
The effect of an increase and decrease in the following assumptions on the present value of the obligation are 
shown in the table below:

% Change in present  
value of obligation

Assumption % Variation 2021 2020

Discount rate +1 (10.3) (10.5)

-1 11.6 12.4

Salary increases +1 2.3 2.6

-1 (3.0) (2.6)

Pension increases + 1 8.4 9.4

-1 (8.2) (8.4)

Mortality +1 year (2.7) (2.0)

-1 year 2.1 2.9

�The above sensitivity analyses are based on a change in an assumption while holding all other assumptions 
constant. In practice, this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the assumptions may be correlated.
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14.	 Directors and employees continued
14.5	 Retirement benefits continued
14.5.4 	Defined benefit retirement plans continued

Significant accounting estimates and judgements continued
Assumptions regarding future mortality experience are based on advice, published statistics and experience.  
The average life expectancy in years of a pensioner retiring at age 65 on valuation date is as follows:

2021 2020

Male (years) 11.9  12.6 

Female (years) 13.8  14.6 

Actual return on plan assets (%) 7.0  9.7 

2021
Rm

2020
Rm

Expected contributions to the defined benefit plans for the next annual reporting period  7.8  8.4 

Actuarial risks
The risks faced by Lewis as a result of the defined benefit retirement plans are set out below:

Investment risk is the risk of a fall in the asset values of the fund. This market risk to which the funds are exposed 
may affect the solvency level of the funds. This is reduced via an investment in a diverse portfolio of assets and a 
variety of asset managers.

Inflation risk is the risk that salary increases are higher than expected or that inflation itself is higher than expected 
which then impacts the pension increases, increasing the liabilities. The risk is mitigated via investment in real assets 
which in the long run are expected to match the increases in liabilities.

The funds have a mismatch risk as a change in the bond yields will have the effect on the liabilities of the fund 
which are not necessarily matched by an equivalent change in the assets. The risk is substantially covered by the 
surplus assets in the fund and establishment of a solvency reserve.

Liquidity risk is the risk of not having sufficient cash to pay for withdrawals, pensions and expenses of the fund.  
This may be a risk for the Lewis Stores Group Pension Fund due to it being a closed fund.

Longevity risk is the risk that pensioners live longer than expected. This risk has not been significant in the current 
membership profile.

The funds are exposed to legislative changes which are closely monitored by the fund’s consultant to enable 
timeous action to be taken to mitigate any changes that emerge.

14.5.5	 Post-retirement healthcare benefits

2021
Rm

2020
Rm

Present value of post-retirement healthcare benefits liability  77.1 68.6 

Movement in post-retirement healthcare liability 
Present value of liability at the beginning of the year  68.6 85.1 

Charged to income statement  9.0 9.2 

Current service cost  0.5 0.7 

Interest cost  8.5 8.5 

Actuarial (gains) and losses included in other comprehensive income  5.0 (20.1)

Employer benefit payments  (5.5) (5.6)

Post-retirement healthcare benefits liability  77.1 68.6 

	 The liability was valued as at 31 March 2021 by a qualified actuary in accordance with the requirements of IAS 19. 
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14.	 Directors and employees continued
14.5	 Retirement benefits continued
14.5.5 	Post retirement healthcare benefits continued

Accounting policy
The group has an obligation to provide post-retirement medical aid benefits by subsidising medical aid 
contributions of certain retired employees and ex-gratia pensioners who joined the group prior to August 1997.

The entitlement to these benefits is conditional on the employee remaining in service up to retirement age.  
The expected costs of these benefits are accrued over the period of employment using the same accounting 
methodology as used for defined benefit pension plans. Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience 
adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are charged or credited to equity in other comprehensive 
income in the period in which they arise. These obligations are valued annually by independent qualified 
actuaries.

Significant accounting estimates and judgements
The underlying assumptions of the post-retirement healthcare benefit liability with a sensitivity analysis are set 
out below:

Principal actuarial assumptions: 2021 2020

Health care inflation rate (%)  9.0  9.1 

CPI inflation (%)  7.0  7.1 

Discount rate (%)  11.9  13.0 

Average retirement age (years)  63  63 

The weighted average duration of the actuarial liability is 11.6 years (2020: 10.9 years).

Sensitivity analysis
The effect of an increase and decrease in the following assumptions on the present value of the obligation are 
shown in the table below:

% Change in present  
value of obligation

Assumption % Variation 2021 2020

Discount rate +1 (9.1) (8.6)

-1 10.9 10.2

Healthcare cost +1 10.9 10.3

-1 (9.3) (8.8)

Expected retirement age +1 year (1.7) (1.5)

-1 year 1.6 1.6

The above sensitivity analyses are based on a change in an assumption while holding all other assumptions 
constant. In practice, this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the assumptions may be correlated.
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14.	 Directors and employees continued
14.5	 Retirement benefits continued
14.5.5 	Post retirement healthcare benefits continued

Actuarial risks
The risks faced by Lewis as a result of the post-retirement healthcare obligation can be summarised as follows:

Inflation: The risk that future CPI inflation and healthcare cost inflation are higher than expected and uncontrolled.

Longevity: The risk that pensioners live longer than expected and thus their healthcare benefit is payable for longer 
than expected.

Open-ended, long-term liability: The risk that the liability may be volatile in the future and uncertain.

Future changes in legislation: The risk that changes to legislation with respect to the post-employment healthcare 
liability may increase the liability for Lewis.

14.5.6	 Defined contribution plans

2021
Rm

2020
Rm

Defined contribution plan costs  58.3 53.5 

Accounting policy
For defined contribution plans, the group pays contributions to these separately administered funds on a 
mandatory basis. The group has no further payment obligations once the contributions have been paid.  
The contributions are recognised as employee benefit expense when they are due. Prepaid contributions are 
recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the future payments is available.

15.	 Taxation
2021

Rm
2020

Rm

Taxation per income statement
South Africa  161.4  97.2 

Foreign  10.1  (6.8)

 171.5  90.4 

Comprising:

Normal taxation  124.3  34.7 

Current year  123.6  66.4 

Prior year  0.7  (31.7)

Deferred taxation  47.2  45.7 

Current year  57.0  12.1 

Prior year  (9.8)  33.6 

Withholding tax –  10.0 

 171.5  90.4 



Statutory  
information

Primary 
statements

Notes to annual  
financial statements

Company annual 
financial statements

Appendices to the  
audit committee report

Lewis Group Limited:
Consolidated financial statements continued
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

LEWIS GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2021 76

2021
Rm

2020
Rm

Tax rate reconciliation
Profit before taxation  604.4 272.8 

Taxation calculated at a tax rate of 28% (2020: 28%)  169.2  76.4 

Differing tax rates in foreign countries  4.3  2.6 

Disallowances  37.1  14.0 

Exemptions  (30.0)  (14.5)

Prior years  (9.1)  1.9 

Withholding tax –  10.0 

Taxation per income statement  171.5  90.4 

Effective tax rate (%)  28.4  33.1 

Taxation disclosed as:

Current tax asset  (48.8)  (54.9)

Current tax liability  84.8  21.9 

 36.0  (33.0)

Taxation (paid)/refunded per cash flow statement
Amount receivable at the beginning of the year  33.0  102.9 
Amount charged to the income statement for normal tax and 
withholding tax  (124.3)  (44.7)

Amount payable/(receivable) at the end of the year  36.0  (33.0)

 (55.3)  25.2 

Deferred taxation as per balance sheet
Balance at the beginning of the year  (142.8)  (152.2)

Movement for the year attributable to:

Income statement debit  47.2  45.7 

IFRS 16 transitional adjustments –  (36.6)

Deferred tax on fair value adjustment in other comprehensive income  7.3  (13.5)

Deferred tax on retirement benefit remeasurements  (3.3)  13.8 

Balance at the end of the year  (91.6)  (142.8)

This balance comprises
Capital allowances (including right-of-use assets) 238.1  272.5 

FVOCI debt investments  (10.9)  (18.2)

Lease liabilities (227.4)  (273.7)

Debtors’ allowances  9.7  (6.5)

Income and expense recognition  (18.5)  (7.9)

Assessed loss (6.0)  (58.5)

Other provisions  (76.6)  (50.5)

Balance at the end of the year  (91.6)  (142.8)

Disclosed as:

Deferred tax asset  (112.2)  (166.1)

Deferred tax liability  20.6  23.3 

 (91.6)  (142.8)

	� Deferred tax assets relate to provisions which are not deductible for tax purposes. The deferred tax asset will be 
reversed as these provisions are released. The group has concluded that the deferred tax asset will be recoverable 
using estimated future taxable income based on approved budgets for the entities.

15.	 Taxation continued
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15.	 Taxation continued

Accounting policy
Current and deferred taxation
The tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the income statement, except to the 
extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. 

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at 
balance sheet date in the countries where the company and its subsidiaries operate and generate taxable 
income. The group evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable 
legislation and regulations are subject to interpretation. Appropriate provisions are established on the basis  
of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred taxation, using the liability method, is provided on temporary differences between the taxation base 
of an asset or liability and its carrying value. Deferred taxation is not accounted for if it arises from initial 
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the 
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred taxation is calculated at current or 
substantively enacted rates of taxation at balance sheet date. A deferred tax asset is raised to the extent that  
it is probable that sufficient taxable profit will arise in the foreseeable future against which the asset can  
be realised. 

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current 
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income tax assets and liabilities relate to income 
taxes levied by the same authority in the same taxable entity.

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except for 
deferred income tax liability where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by the 
group and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

Deferred tax is done on a net basis for IFRS 16 right-of-use assets and lease liabilities.

Significant accounting estimates and judgements
The tax and deferred tax liabilities and assets are calculated using considered interpretations of the tax laws of 
the jurisdictions in which the group operates. 
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16.	 Depreciation, amortisation and impairment

Notes
2021

Rm
2020

Rm

Depreciation

Right-of-use assets 17.2  239.7  271.8 

Property. plant and equipment 18  50.6  66.1 

Amortisation

Intangible assets 19  13.0  11.0 

Impairment

Right-of-use assets 17.2  33.8  26.6 

Write-off

Goodwill 20  5.9 – 

 343.0  375.5

Refer to below notes for the accounting policies and significant estimates and judgements:

Note reference

Depreciation

Right-of-use assets 17

Property. plant and equipment 18

Amortisation

Intangible assets 19

Impairment

Right-of-use assets 17

Impairment of non-financial assets 23.1

Write-off

Goodwill 20
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17.	 Leases
2021

Rm
2020

Rm

17.1	 Lease liabilities recognised 
Opening balance  837.9 – 

Recognised on adoption of IFRS 16 –  856.1 

Reallocated to restoration provision (refer to note 7) –  (33.4)

Additions and renewed leases 239.3  269.3 

Expired, renegotiated and modified leases  (3.8)  2.1 

Rent concessions  (13.4) – 

Principal portion of lease liabilities  (254.2)  (256.2)

Interest on lease liabilities  66.0  71.5 

Lease liability payments  (320.2)  (327.7)

Closing balance 805.8  837.9 

Analysed as follows: 805.8  837.9 

Non-current  556.0  611.1 

Current 249.8  226.8 

17.2	 Right-of-use assets
Retail premises
Opening balance  693.7 – 

Recognised on adoption of IFRS 16 –  726.2 

Additions and renewed leases 239.3  269.3 

Expired, renegotiated and modified leases  (3.2)  (3.4)

Remeasurement of restoration provision  (7.9)  – 

Rent concessions  (13.4) –

Depreciation  (239.7)  (271.8)

Net impairment  (33.8)  (26.6)

Closing balance 635.0  693.7 
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17.	 Leases continued
17.3	 Liquidity risk 
	 The maturity analysis of undiscounted liabilities are as follows:

0 to 12
 months 

Rm

1 to 2 
years

Rm

3 to 5
 years

Rm

>5 
years

Rm
Total

Rm

2021
Liabilities 
Lease liabilities 249.8  190.0  285.2  80.8 805.8
Interest on lease liabilities  49.3  33.7  44.3  7.9  135.2 
Extension options(1)  130.9  128.2  340.0  184.8  783.9 

2020

Liabilities 

Lease liabilities  226.8  203.3  306.7  101.1  837.9 

Interest on lease liabilities  86.0  40.3  46.3  11.9  184.5 

Extension options(1)  124.0  124.2  333.9  177.9  760.0 

	 (1) �Undiscounted payments comprise extension options not included in the lease liabilities. These extension options have not been included in 
the lease liabilities as it is not reasonably certain that they will be exercised.

17.4	 Short-term and low value leases

2021
Rm

2020
Rm

Expense relating to short-term and low value leases (included in other operating costs)  19.9  11.3

The total cash outflow in respect of lease liability payments is R320.2 million (2020: R327.7 million).

Accounting policies
The group leases various properties such as stores, storerooms, warehouses and offices. Lease agreements are 
generally entered into for fixed periods of one to five years and may include further extension options. Leases are 
recognised as a lease liability and a corresponding right-of-use (“ROU”) asset at the date of commencement of 
the lease agreement.

Lease liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement 
The lease liability will be measured at the present value of the future lease payments discounted over the lease 
term using the group’s relevant incremental borrowing rate as the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily 
determinable. Future lease payments comprise fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments), 
less any lease incentives receivable. Future lease payments include lease extension options, where the option to 
exercise the extension is reasonably certain.

Subsequent measurement
Subsequent to initial recognition, the lease liability will be reduced by the lease payments made net of interest 
charged. The interest from the unwinding of the lease liability will result in a charge to the income statement 
over the period of the lease term.

The group remeasures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related ROU asset) 
whenever:

A lease agreement is modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, in which 
case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate.

Low value leases 
At inception of a lease, the group assesses the value of the leased item. If the value of the item does not exceed 
the group’s threshold, the group recognises payments on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Short-term leases
Short-term leases are defined as leases where the lease period is less than or equal to 12 months. The group 
recognises payments on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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Accounting policies continued
Right-of-use assets
Initial recognition and measurement 

The ROU asset is initially measured at cost, comprising the initial lease liability, prepaid lease payments,  
initial direct costs and restoration costs, less any lease incentives received.

Subsequent measurement
Subsequent to initial recognition, the ROU asset will be depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter  
of the lease term and the estimated useful life of the ROU asset.

Impairment of right-of-use assets
ROU assets are tested for impairment whenever circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may exceed 
its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and 
value-in-use. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds  
its recoverable amount.

Significant accounting estimates and judgements
Incremental borrowing rate 
The group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in the lease, therefore it uses the incremental 
borrowing rate to measure lease liabilities. 

The incremental borrowing rate is defined as the rate of interest that the group would have to pay to borrow 
over a similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the 
ROU asset in a similar economic environment. The relevant incremental borrowing rate will be determined 
based on average borrowing rates sourced from the group’s financial institutions. These rates are based on  
a series of inputs including market rates and risk adjustments which reflects the individual company and 
country risk profiles.

The group’s portfolio of qualifying leases has a weighted average borrowing rate of 8.03% (2020: 8.96%).

Variable lease payments 
Variable lease payments relate to:

•	 Lease agreements with negotiable extension options which provides for the lease payment to be negotiated 
at the time of renewal of the lease.

•	 Lease agreements containing variable payment terms that are linked to turnover from leased stores.  
These variable payments account for less than 5% of total property lease payments and are recognised in 
profit or loss in the period in which the condition that triggers those payments occurs. 

Timing of lease payments
The timing of the lease payments have been taken into account in the discounted cash flow model used to 
calculate the lease liabilities.

Lease extension options
Lease agreements are typically made for fixed periods of one to five years and may include extension options. 
These options are used to maximise operational flexibility in terms of securing retail premises. The exercising  
of an extension option may result in renegotiation of existing lease payment terms.

Future lease payments include lease extension options, where the option to exercise the extension is reasonably 
certain. Management applies their judgement and considers all facts and circumstances in assessing the 
likelihood of exercising such options, based on strategic importance and profitability of each store.  
For warehouses, management will assess whether the lease extension option is reasonably certain with 
reference to the stores which the warehouse services. A lease extension option will automatically be included 
for storerooms that are linked to the stores it services.

Where it is found to be reasonably certain that the options will be exercised, the fixed and negotiable options 
will be dealt with in the following manner: 

•	 For fixed extension options (the lease terms for the extension period are defined in the lease agreement), 
the last lease payment with a fixed escalation rate is used to calculate the future lease payments.

•	 The negotiable extension option provides for the lease terms to be negotiated at the time of exercising  
the option. For the purpose of the calculation of the future lease payments, the actual rent at the 
commencement date of the lease is used for every year in the extension period. Where subsequent material 
adjustments are agreed, both the lease liability and the ROU asset will be adjusted accordingly.	

17.	 Leases continued
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Significant accounting estimates and judgements continued
Rental concessions
The group received rental concessions on some of its leases during the Covid-19 hard lockdown period when 
stores were closed. The amendment to IFRS 16 provides an optional practical expedient to lessees allowing the 
concession to be recognised as an immediate saving in rent expense.  

The group has elected not to apply this practical expedient but rather to treat the rent concessions received as 
a lease modification and has therefore processed an adjustment against the lease liability and ROU asset.

Lease components
Leases may include payments for maintenance activities such as common area maintenance, security and 
cleaning services or other goods or services transferred to the lessee. The additional services received are 
treated as non-lease components and expensed to the relevant category.

Low value leases
At inception of a lease, the group assesses the value of the leased item. The total amount of low value leases is 
insignificant at the reporting date. Low value leases comprises of leased IT equipment.

Initial recognition of right-of-use assets
The ROU asset is initially measured at cost, comprising the initial lease liability, prepaid lease payments,  
initial direct costs and restoration costs, less any lease incentives received.

Impairment of right-of-use assets 
ROU assets are tested for impairment whenever circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may exceed 
its recoverable amount. As the ROU assets are not able to generate their own cash flows independent from 
other assets, the group considers the Cash-Generating Unit (“CGU”) to which the ROU asset belongs when 
testing for impairment. The CGU to which the ROU asset belongs are the individual stores. Each CGU comprise 
assets typically including the debtors’ book, inventory, fixed assets and the ROU asset. The identified CGUs do 
not include goodwill or intangible assets. Impairment indicators include the profitability of the stores after head 
office cost allocations as well as significant changes to the economic environment in which the store operates.

For the current reporting period, Covid-19 was deemed to be an impairment indicator, therefore the group 
performed an impairment test across all stores.

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the CGU’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable 
amount. The recoverable amount is determined using a value-in-use calculation.	

Value-in-use is calculated using a discounted cash flow model whereby expected cash flows for individual 
stores are determined in accordance with the principles contained within IAS 36. The following assumptions  
are applied:

•	 The cash flow projections for each store is assessed based on forecasted information that is informed by 
past experience of management and the expected performance of the store. The projections at the end of 
the reporting period is based on management’s best estimate of the economic conditions that will exist over 
the next three years.

•	 An average sales growth of 4.5% (2020: 5.5%) over the three-year period was applied. The forecast takes 
into account the impact of the Covid-19 lockdown regulations in terms of the expected deterioration in sales 
growth over the next year as well as the subsequent recovery over the following two years. A terminal value 
growth rate of 6% (2020: 4%) was applied to stores expected to remain open post the expiry of the existing 
lease term.

•	 Collection rates were determined with reference to the previous three year’s average collections and 
debtors’ values. 

•	 The growth in the operating expenses approximate an inflationary increase.

•	 Lease payments included in the lease liability are excluded from the value-in-use calculation.

•	 The weighted average cost of capital (“WACC”) adjusted for specific risks of the underlying assets, used in 
the value-in-use calculation, was 21% (2020: 19%).

Impairment is allocated to the assets included in the CGU on a pro rata basis, based on their carrying value as a 
proportion of the total carrying value of the CGU. Based on the above, the net impairment charge for the year 
was calculated at R33.8 million (2020: R26.6 million).

17.	 Leases continued
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18.	 Property, plant and equipment

Land and 
buildings  Vehicles  

 Furniture,
 fixtures and
 equipment  Total  

Rm Rm Rm Rm

As at 31 March 2021
Opening net carrying value  123.8  105.7  94.9  324.4 

Cost  141.2  288.1  288.9  718.2 
Accumulated depreciation  (17.4)  (182.4)  (194.0)  (393.8)

Additions  3.1  39.8  71.8  114.7 
Disposals at carrying value  (0.3)  (1.8)  (0.4)  (2.5)
Depreciation  (1.2)  (28.4)  (21.0)  (50.6)

Closing net carrying value  125.4  115.3  145.3  386.0 

Cost  143.9  309.5  313.3  766.7 
Accumulated depreciation  (18.5)  (194.2)  (168.0)  (380.7)

As at 31 March 2020

Opening net carrying value  111.7  104.2  83.0  298.9 

Cost  127.8  280.9  406.9  815.6 

Accumulated depreciation  (16.1)  (176.7)  (323.9)  (516.7)

Additions  13.4  35.4  50.0  98.8 

Disposals at carrying value –  (5.2)  (2.0)  (7.2)

Depreciation  (1.3)  (28.7)  (36.1)  (66.1)

Closing net carrying value  123.8  105.7  94.9  324.4 

Cost  141.2  288.1  288.9  718.2 

Accumulated depreciation  (17.4)  (182.4)  (194.0)  (393.8)

	 A register of the group’s land and buildings is available for inspection at the company’s registered office.

Accounting policy
Property, plant and equipment (“PPE”) is carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 
The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at each balance sheet 
date. 

Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. Subsequent 
costs are capitalised when it is probable that future economic benefits will arise and the cost can be measured 
reliably. All other expenditure is recognised through profit and loss. 

Assets are depreciated to their residual value, on a straight-line basis, over their estimated useful lives.

Gains and losses on disposals of property, plant and equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds to 
the carrying amount and are recognised in the income statement.

Significant accounting estimates and judgements
The estimated useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each balance sheet date taking cognisance of 
historical trends for that class of asset and the commercial and economic realities at the time. The estimated 
useful lives of the assets in years are:

Buildings	 50 years

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 	 3 to 10 years 

Vehicles 	 4 to 8 years

Land  	 Not depreciated  
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19.	 Intangible assets
19.1	 Trademarks 

2021
Rm

2020
Rm

Opening net carrying value  104.8  111.3 

Cost  131.2  131.2 

Accumulated amortisation  (26.4)  (19.9)

Additions – –

Disposals – –

Amortisation  (6.5)  (6.5)

Closing net carrying value  98.3  104.8 

Cost  131.2  131.2 

Accumulated amortisation  (32.9)  (26.4)

Accounting policy
Separately acquired trademarks are shown at historical cost.

Trademarks acquired in a business combination are recognised at fair value at acquisition date. Trademarks 
have a finite useful life and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using 
the straight-line method to allocate the cost of trademarks over their estimated useful lives.

Significant accounting estimates and judgements
The estimated useful life of trademarks is 20 years. 

19.2	 Software

2021
Rm

2020
Rm

Opening net carrying value  15.8  11.0 

Cost  59.2  49.9 

Accumulated amortisation  (43.4)  (38.9)

Additions  6.6  9.3 

Disposals – –

Amortisation  (6.5)  (4.5)

Closing net carrying value  15.9  15.8 

Cost  65.8  59.2 

Accumulated amortisation  (49.9)  (43.4)

Accounting policy
Software is depreciated to their residual value, on a straight-line basis, over their estimated useful lives. 

Significant accounting estimates and judgements
The estimated useful life of software is three years.
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20.	 Goodwill
2021

Rm
2020

Rm

Opening net carrying value  187.6  187.6 

Write-off  (5.9) –

Other  0.7 –

Closing net carrying value  182.4  187.6 

Cost  182.4  187.6 

Accumulated impairment – –

Accounting policy
Goodwill arises at date of acquisition, being the excess of the purchase consideration and the fair value of the 
non-controlling interest, over the attributable fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities, and is initially 
carried at cost. Goodwill is subject to an annual impairment test or more frequently if events or changes in 
circumstances indicate a potential impairment. Goodwill is written down to the recoverable amount, which is 
the higher of value-in-use and the fair value less costs to sell. This impairment is recognised immediately as an 
expense. The impairment of goodwill is not reversed. Gains and losses on disposal of an entity include the 
carrying value of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

A bargain purchase being an excess in the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the purchase 
consideration at the date of acquisition, is recognised immediately in the income statement.

Significant accounting estimates and judgements
At 31 March 2021, the closing balance consisted of goodwill that arose on the acquisition of UFO in 2018. 

The test for impairment of goodwill was performed by external valuers for the current and prior years.  
The recoverable amount of goodwill is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value-in-use. The valuer 
used the fair value less costs to sell method in both the current and prior year. 

The fair value less costs to sell valuation approach includes the cash flows of the existing stores as well as the 
planned new store expansion over the five-year forecasted period.

The valuation to determine the recoverable amount of goodwill was performed at Level 3 (in accordance with 
IFRS 13) which means that the valuation was derived using the discounted cash flow method (“DCF method”). 
The assumptions underlying the DCF method are as follows:

•	 Sales growth was based on existing stores (existing store growth being 6.4% (2020: 8.3%)) and planned 
store expansions with a 6.0% (2020: 5.0%) growth used in the terminal value.

•	 Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation (“EBITDA”) margin is in line with the three-year 
historic average margin of between 8.7% and 10.2% (2020: between 10% and 11%).

•	 Weighted average cost of capital (“WACC”) was calculated at 17.1% (2020: 19.3%).

•	 A further marketability discount of 5.0% (2020: 5.0%) was applied to arrive at the enterprise value.

The recoverable amount of goodwill was assessed as follows: 

WACC-1% WACC WACC+1%
R’000 R’000 R’000

2021 
Enterprise value  394 048  358 106  328 160 
Operating assets other than goodwill  (135 819)  (135 819)  (135 819)

Recoverable amount  258 229  222 287  192 341 

No impairment was required as the recoverable amount was R222.3 million. 
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20.	 Goodwill continued

Significant accounting estimates and judgements continued
WACC-1% WACC WACC+1%

R’000 R’000 R’000

2020 

Enterprise value  401 585  371 583  345 571 

Operating assets other than goodwill  (130 556)  (130 556)  (130 556)

Recoverable amount  271 029  241 027  215 015 

No impairment was required as the recoverable amount was R241.0 million.

Sensitivity of Terminal Growth Assumption
As the terminal growth has a significant impact on the enterprise value, the sensitivity of this assumption is 
reflected below:

5%
R’000

6%
R’000

7%
R’000

2021
Enterprise value  336 745  358 106  383 709
Operating assets other than goodwill  (135 819)  (135 819)  (135 819)

Recoverable amount  200 926  222 287  247 890

4%
R’000

5%
R’000

6%
R’000

2020

Enterprise value  354 486  371 583  391 242

Operating assets other than goodwill  (130 556)  (130 556)  (130 556)

Recoverable amount  223 930  241 027  260 686



Statutory  
information

Primary 
statements

Notes to annual  
financial statements

Company annual 
financial statements

Appendices to the  
audit committee report

Lewis Group Limited:
Consolidated financial statements continued
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

LEWIS GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2021 87

21.	 Group consolidation

Accounting policies
Basis of consolidation 
Subsidiaries are all entities over which the group has control. The group controls an entity when the group is 
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect 
those returns through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control  
is transferred to the group. They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is applied for business combinations. The consideration for an acquisition 
is measured as the fair value of the assets transferred, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or 
assumed at the date of the exchange. Acquisition related costs are expensed as incurred. Identifiable assets 
acquired, liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their 
fair values at the acquisition date. The excess of the consideration and the amount of the non-controlling 
interest, over the fair value of the net identifiable assets, is recorded as goodwill. If the amounts are less than 
the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised directly in the 
income statement as a bargain purchase. 

The group recognises a non-controlling interest in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis,  
either at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s net identifiable assets.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains and losses (unless the transaction provides evidence 
of an impairment of the transferred asset) between group companies are eliminated. The accounting policies 
and the year-ends of material subsidiaries are consistent throughout the group.

Common control transactions are business combinations in which the combining entities are ultimately 
controlled by the same entity prior to the combination. The assets and liabilities of the combining entities are 
not adjusted to fair value but reflected at their carrying amounts at the date of the transaction. The difference 
between the consideration paid/transferred and the net asset value acquired is accounted for in retained 
earnings. No additional goodwill will be recognised as a result of a common control transaction.

Employee share trusts are consolidated. Shares in Lewis Group Limited held by subsidiaries and the  
Lewis Employee Incentive Scheme Trust are classified as treasury shares.

In the company’s financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost less impairment.  
Cost of investments includes directly attributable costs. 

Functional and presentation currency
(a) 	 Foreign currency translation

Items included in the financial statements of each of the group’s entities are measured using the currency 
of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (“the functional currency”). The 
consolidated and separate financial statements are presented in South African Rand, which is the 
company’s and group’s functional and presentation currency.

(b) 	 Group companies 

The results and financial position of foreign operations (none of which operate in a hyperinflationary 
economy) that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated into the 
presentation currency as follows:

•	 Assets and liabilities are translated at the closing rate at the date of the balance sheet.

•	 Income and expenses are translated at average exchange rates. 

•	 Resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign entities 
are recognised in other comprehensive income. On the sale of a foreign operation, the associated 
exchange differences are reclassified to the income statement, as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets 
and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.
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21.	 Group consolidation continued 
Currency risk – Net investment in foreign subsidiaries (FCTR)
The currency exposure is limited to the net investment in Botswana of R193.1 million (2020: R267.2 million), which 
includes a long-term loan account. The currency exposure is managed by keeping the net investment at a minimum 
practical level by remitting cash to South Africa on a regular basis through loan repayments and dividends.

Below is a sensitivity analysis of the effect of currency movements of 10% on the year-end value of our net 
investment in Botswana (foreign currency translation reserve):

2021
Rm

2020
Rm

Currency appreciates by 10%  17.7  23.4 

Currency depreciates by 10%  (17.7)  (23.4)

22.	 Interest in subsidiary companies
2021 2020 Restated

Nature of 

Carrying 
value of 

subsidiaries
Percentage

holding

Carrying 
value of 

subsidiaries
Percentage

holding

 business Rm % Rm %

Directly held
Lewis Stores (Pty) Ltd F  2 800.0  100  2 800.0  100 

Indirectly held
Incorporated in South Africa
Monarch Insurance Company Ltd I 

Kingtimm (Pty) Ltd(2) D

Lifestyle Living (Pty) Ltd D

United Furniture Outlets (Pty) Ltd(1) D

Incorporated in Botswana
Lewis Stores (Botswana) (Pty) Ltd F 

Lewis Insurance Services (Botswana) (Pty) Ltd D/M 

Lewis Management Services (Botswana) (Pty) Ltd(2)�� D

Incorporated in Eswatini 
Lewis Stores (Eswatini) (Pty) Ltd F 

Incorporated in Namibia
Lewis Stores (Namibia) (Pty) Ltd F 

Incorporated in Lesotho
Lewis Stores (Lesotho) (Pty) Ltd F 

Cost of subsidiaries  2 800.0  2 800.0 

Capital contribution in respect of share-based payments 238.5 214.2

Loans to subsidiaries:
Amounts due to subsidiary  (7.5)  (5.5)

Interest in subsidiaries 3 031.0 3 008.7

F	 Furniture retailer.

I 	 Insurance company.

M	 Management services company.

D 	 Dormant company.
(1) 	� In the prior financial year, Lewis Stores restructured its investment in UFO through a merger of the UFO business into Lewis Stores (Pty) Ltd 

in terms of section 113 and 115 of the Companies Act on 31 March 2020. The UFO business is now a division of Lewis Stores (Pty) Ltd and the 
UFO company is in the process of deregistration.

(2) 	 Company is in the process of deregistration.

Restatement
Refer note 11 of the company annual financial statements for the restatement of the capital contribution in respect 
of share-based payments and interest in subsidiaries.
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23.	 Other notes	

23.1	 Other accounting policies
Impairment of non-financial assets 
Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation, but tested annually for impairment. 
Assets that are subject to amortisation and depreciation are reviewed for impairment whenever circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an 
asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value-in-use. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which 
the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.

Current assets and liabilities 
Assets and liabilities with maturity terms of less than 12 months, are classified as current unless they form part 
of a normal operating cycle, in which case, they are also classified as current. 

23.2	 New standards and interpretations not yet effective
23.2.1	 IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

The IASB issued IFRS 17, Insurance Contracts, as a replacement to current standard, IFRS 4, which allows insurers to 
use their local GAAP. IFRS 17 defines clear and consistent rules that will significantly increase the comparability of 
financial statements.

Under IFRS 17, the general model requires entities to measure an insurance contract on initial recognition  
at the total of the fulfilment cash flows (comprising the estimated future cash flows, an adjustment to reflect the  
time value of money and an explicit risk adjustment for non-financial risk) and the contractual service margin.  
The fulfilment cash flows are remeasured on a current basis each reporting period. The unearned profit  
(contractual service margin) is recognised over the coverage period.

Aside from this general model, the standard provides the premium allocation approach. This simplified approach  
is applicable for certain types of contracts, including those with a coverage period of one year or less.

As part of the initial phase of the project, the group is currently reviewing all insurance and reinsurance contracts 
held, to determine whether the general model or the premium allocation approach would apply.

The new standard will become effective for the 2024 financial year with full retrospective adoption, therefore 
requiring the restatement of comparatives from 1 April 2022.

23.2.2	 Amendments to IFRS 16: Covid-19-related Rent Concessions 
The amendments are mandatory for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020, however, early 
adoption is permitted. The amendment provides an optional practical expedient for lessees from assessing whether 
a rent concession related to Covid-19 is a lease modification. The election of the expedient will result in the 
concession received being accounted for as a variable lease payment in the period in which the event or condition 
that triggers the reduced payment occurs, effectively bringing an immediate saving in the rent expense.

Consideration was given to the application of the above and the group has elected not to apply the optional 
practical expedient to rent concessions received.
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23.3	 Other income statement disclosures

2021
Rm

2020
Rm

Service fees received on accounts receivable (refer note 9.1)  361.2  349.5 

Fees payable: 
Investment management fee – insurance investments  1.5  1.7 

Outsourcing of IT function  102.0  103.7 

 103.5  105.4 

Auditors’ remuneration
Audit fees – current year  5.0   4.6 

Other services

– Audit related  0.3  0.3 

– Non-audit related  0.1  0.5 

 5.4  5.4 

23.4	 Covid-19 lockdown and its impact on the group’s trading
On 11 March 2020, the World Health Organization formally declared Covid-19 a pandemic. Government restrictions 
were imposed in South Africa on 27 March 2020, and shortly afterwards in other territories where the group trades, 
in an attempt to curb infection rates  and the inevitable spread of Covid-19. This included nationwide lockdowns 
that temporarily restricted trading across the group. 

Trading was significantly disrupted under the lockdown regulations with all stores being closed for April 2020.  
The slight easing of restrictions during the 2nd week of May 2020 saw some stores in the African territories being 
allowed to trade under strict regulation and on 18 May 2020, sales through electronic communication channels were 
allowed in South Africa. On 1 June 2020, all South African stores were allowed to trade with a full merchandise 
offering under strict compliance with Covid-19 safety protocols.

Management estimate that the group lost approximately R360 million in merchandise sales and R250 million  
in customer account collections resulting from the lockdown period.

While the Covid-19 lockdown had a material impact on the group’s trading performance in April and May,  
the resilience of the group’s business model was evident during this period. The group’s strong balance sheet 
ensured that the group did not need to access any borrowings  during the lockdown period, despite significant 
decline in cash flow when stores were closed or trading under restrictions. The group repaid all borrowings during 
June 2020 and ended the year in an unborrowed position. The Board has reviewed the cash flow forecast for the 
next 12 months and is of the opinion that the group has more than sufficient liquidity to adequately support its 
working capital requirements and consequently, is satisfied of the group’s ability to continue as a going concern  
for the foreseeable future.

23.5	 Post balance sheet events
There were no significant post balance sheet events that occurred between the year-end and the date of approval 
of the financial statements by the directors. 

23.	 Other notes continued 
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Lewis Group Limited:
Company statement of comprehensive income
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

Notes 
2021

Rm
2020

Rm

Revenue – Investment income  2  301.4  312.5 

Operating costs  (9.7)  (10.1)

Profit before taxation  3  291.7  302.4 

Taxation  4  (0.3)  (0.5)

Net profit and comprehensive income attributable to ordinary shareholders  291.4  301.9 

Company balance sheet
AS AT 31 MARCH 2021

 Notes 

2021

Rm

2020
Restated

Rm

2019
Restated

Rm

Assets
Non-current assets
Interest in subsidiaries  5  3 038.5  3 014.2  2 985.2

Current assets
Deposits at bank  8  53.0  21.9  18.2

Total assets  3 091.5  3 036.1  3 003.4

Equity and liabilities
Capital and reserves
Share capital and premium  6  1 917.9  2 030.5  2 132.2 

Share-based payments reserve  47.3  63.2  55.1 

Retained earnings  1 116.6  934.9  810.2 

 3 081.8  3 028.6  2 997.5 

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables  2.2  2.0  1.8 

Amounts due to subsidiary 10  7.5  5.5  4.1 

 9.7  7.5  5.9 

Total equity and liabilities	  3 091.5  3 036.1  3 003.4
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Lewis Group Limited:
Company statement of changes in equity
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

Note

Share and
 capital and

 premium 
Rm

Share-based
 payments 

reserve
Rm

Retained
 earnings

Rm
Total

Rm

Balance as at 1 April 2019 2 132.2 55.1 680.1  2 867.4 

Restatement 11 – –  130.1  130.1 

Restated balance as at 1 April 2019  2 132.2  55.1  810.2  2 997.5 

Net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders 301.9 301.9 

Dividends paid (198.1) (198.1)

Capital contribution in respect of share-based payments 29.0 29.0 

Transfer to retained earnings on vesting of share awards (20.9) 20.9 –

Share repurchase (101.7) (101.7)

Restated balance as at 31 March 2020 2 030.5 63.2 934.9 3 028.6 

Net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders  291.4  291.4 
Dividends paid (149.9)  (149.9)
Capital contribution in respect of share-based payments 24.3  24.3 

Transfer to retained earnings on vesting of share awards (40.2) 40.2 –
Share repurchase (112.6)  (112.6)

Balance as at 31 March 2021 1 917.9 47.3 1 116.6 3 081.8 

Company cash flow statement
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

Note
2021

Rm
2020

Rm

Cash flow from operating activities  

Cash utilised in operations 7  (9.5) (9.9)

Dividends received  300.4 310.7 

Interest received  1.0 1.8 

Taxation paid  (0.3)  (0.5)

 291.6 302.1 

Cash flow from financing activities
Dividends paid  (149.9)  (198.1)

Proceeds from loan to subsidiary  2.0  1.4 

Share repurchase  (112.6)  (101.7)

(260.5) (298.4)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  31.1  3.7 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  21.9  18.2 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year  53.0  21.9 
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Lewis Group Limited:
Notes to the company financial statements
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

1.	 Accounting policies
The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis and in accordance with IFRS and the 
requirements of the Companies Act. The accounting policies used in the preparation of these financial statements 
are set out as follows in the consolidated annual financial statements:

Note reference

Taxation 15

Interest in subsidiaries 21

Borrowings 6.1

Share capital and premium 13.4

Share-based payments 14.3

The company holds the following financial instruments:

Deposits at bank 8

Trade and other payables

Amounts due to subsidiary 10

2.	 Revenue – Investment income
2021

Rm
2020

Rm

Dividends received from subsidiary – Lewis Stores Proprietary Limited  300.4  310.7 

Interest received – Banks  1.0  1.8 

 301.4  312.5 

Accounting policy
Investment income is recognised as follows:

•	 Interest on investments is recognised on a time proportion basis taking into account the effective interest 
rate method on the assets.

•	 Dividends are recognised when the right to receive payment is established.

3.	 Operating profit
2021

R’000
2020

R’000

Stated after:

Audit fees – current year  124.0  88.0 

Directors’ fees (refer note 14.2 to the consolidated annual financial statements)  4 867.0  5 164.0 

4.	 Taxation
2021

Rm
2020

Rm

Taxation 0.3  0.5 

The rate of taxation on profit is reconciled as follows:

Profit before taxation  291.7 302.4 

Taxation calculated at a tax rate of 28% (2020: 28%)  81.7  84.7 

Exempt income (dividends received)  (84.1)  (87.0)

Disallowed expenses  2.7  2.8 

Taxation per income statement  0.3  0.5 
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5.	 Interest in subsidiaries
2021

Rm

2020
Restated

Rm

Shares at cost 2 800.0 2 800.0

Capital contribution for share-based payments 238.5 214.2

 3 038.5  3 014.2 

Full details are provided in note 22 in the consolidated annual financial statements.

Refer note 11 for the restatement.

6.	 Share capital and premium
2021

Rm
2020

Rm

Authorised
150 000 000 ordinary shares of 1 cent each 1.5 1.5 

Issued
71 535 913 (2020: 76 899 090) ordinary shares of 1 cent each  1.0  1.0 

Share premium  1 916.8  2 029.5 

Total share capital and premium  1 917.8  2 030.5

7.	 Cash utilised in operations
2021

Rm
2020

Rm

Profit before taxation  291.7  302.4 

Dividends received  (300.4)  (310.7)

Interest received – Banks  (1.0)  (1.8)

Increase in trade and other payables  0.2  0.2 

 (9.5)  (9.9)

8.	 Deposits at bank
2021

Rm
2020

Rm

At amortised cost  53.0  21.9 

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the company if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to 
meet its contractual obligations. The credit ratings of the financial institutions holding deposits on our behalf and 
those whose securities we hold are monitored on a regular basis. Deposits are placed with high-quality South 
African institutions.

The Moody’s credit rating and maximum exposure to credit risk for deposits per institution is detailed in the table 
below:

2021 2020 2021 2020

Financial institutions Long-term  Short-term Long-term  Short-term Rm Rm

RMB  Ba2  NP Ba1  NP  53.0  21.9 

Total  53.0  21.9

Stage 1 with no movement between stages. No amount for 12-month expected credit loss has been recognised as 
the amount is immaterial. 

Fair value	
The fair value of deposits approximates its carrying value as it is linked to market related interest rates.

Lewis Group Limited:
Notes to the company financial statements
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021



Statutory  
information

Primary 
statements

Notes to annual  
financial statements

Company annual 
financial statements

Appendices to the  
audit committee report

LEWIS GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2021 95

9.	 Guarantees
The company guarantees banking facilities to the value of R1 150 million (2020: R1 150 million) for its subsidiaries  
at various financial institutions. Based on a review of the cash flows forecast for the 2022 and 2023 financial year, 
no expected credit loss was recognised on these guarantees. The guarantees have been disclosed as part of the 
company’s liquidity risk below.

Credit risk 
While the maximum credit risk is the full extent of the facilities, the extent of the exposure at year-end is Rnil  
(2020: R922.1 million). Full details of the facilities are provided in note 6.1 in the consolidated annual financial 
statements. 

Liquidity risk
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities and the availability 
of funding through an adequate amount of committed facilities. Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying 
business, the group maintains flexibility in funding through the use of committed facility lines.  
Management monitors the group’s cash flows through the monitoring of actual inflows and outflows against 
forecasted cash flows and the utilisation of borrowing facilities. A quarterly analysis is presented to the  
Audit Committee. The company’s liquidity needs are catered for under the group’s central treasury function. 

Maturity profile of financial liabilities	
The maturity profiles of undiscounted financial liabilities are as follows:

0 to12 
months 

Rm

1 to 2 
years

Rm

3 to 5
 years

Rm

>5
 years

Rm
Total

Rm

2021
Trade and other payables  (2.2)  –    –    –    (2.2)
Amounts due to subsidiary  (7.5)  –    –    –    (7.5)
Financial guarantees(1)  (1 150.0)  –    –    –    (1 150.0)

 (1 159.7)  –    –    –    (1 159.7)

2020
Trade and other payables  (2.0)  –    –    –    (2.0)

Amounts due to subsidiary  (5.5)  –    –    –    (5.5)

Financial guarantees (1)  (1 150.0)  –    –    –    (1 150.0)

 (1 157.5)  –    –    –    (1 157.5)

(1)  This represents the maximum potential exposure to credit risk under financial guarantee contracts.

10.	 Related party
2021

Rm
2020

Rm

Amounts due to subsidiary
Lewis Stores (Pty) Ltd  7.5  5.5 

	 Amounts due have no fixed terms of repayment.

11.	 Restatement – Share-based payments
The capital contribution made by the company in respect of share-based payments for employees of its main 
subsidiary, Lewis Stores (Pty) Ltd (Lewis Stores) was understated by R151 million as a consequence of incorrectly 
accounting for the transfers out of the share-based payment reserve of Lewis Stores following the vesting of 
awards. The restatement had the following effect:

Interest in
 subsidiaries

Rm

Retained
 earnings

Rm

March 2019 – previously reported 2 855.1  680.1 
Restatement  130.1  130.1 

March 2019 – restated  2 985.2  810.2 

March 2020 – previously reported  2 863.2  783.9 
Restatement  151.0  151.0 

March 2020 – restated  3 014.2  934.9

Lewis Group Limited:
Notes to the company financial statements
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
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Lewis Group Limited:
Shareholders’ information 
AS AT 31 MARCH 2021

Shareholders’ spread

Number of
 shareholders

Number of
shares

Total % Total %

1 – 1 000 shares  1 406 63.20  350 120 0.48
1 001 – 10 000 shares  510 22.92  1 656 133 2.32
10 001 – 100 000 shares  202 9.08  6 817 034 9.53
100 001 – 1 000 000 shares  90 4.04  29 104 967 40.69
1 000 001 shares and over  17 0.76  33 607 659 46.98

Total  2 225 100.00  71 535 913 100.00

Distribution of shareholders as at 31 March 2021

Number of
 shareholders

Number of
shares

Total % Total %

Public:  2 213 99.47  70 146 901 98.06

Unit Trusts/Mutual Funds  28 464 237 39.79
Pension Funds  15 414 883 21.55
Other  26 267 781 36.72

Non-public:  12 0.53  1 389 012 1.94

Lewis Employee Incentive Scheme Trust  1 0.05  27 009 0.04
Directors:

Lewis Group Limited

Direct 2 0.09  545 791 0.76
Indirect 3 0.13  292 175 0.41

Lewis Stores Proprietary Limited

Direct 3 0.13  348 229 0.49
Indirect 3 0.13  175 808 0.24

 2 225 100.00  71 535 913 100.00
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Lewis Group Limited:
Shareholders’ information continued
AS AT 31 MARCH 2021

Major shareholdings as at 31 March 2021
According to the company’s register of disclosures of beneficial interests made by registered shareholders acting in a 
nominee capacity, and the disclosures made by fund managers in terms of section 56 of the Companies Act of 2008,  
the following entities owned in excess of 5% of the company’s shares as at 31 March 2021:

Number 
of shares

Total %

Beneficial shareholders:
Coronation Balanced Plus Fund (SA) 3 684 418  5.15 
Corolife Special Opportunities Portfolio (SA) 3 387 269  4.74 

By fund manager:
Coronation Fund Managers (SA) 21 158 866  29.58 
36One Asset Management (SA) 4 587 648  6.41 
Mianzo Asset Management (SA) 4 391 975  6.14 
Ninety One (SA) 3 960 600  5.54 

Geographical analysis of shareholders: %

Beneficial shareholders:
South Africa 65.3
United States of America and Canada 10.7
United Kingdom 2.1
Europe 5.8
Rest of World 16.1

100.0

By fund manager:
South Africa 74.6
United States of America and Canada 12.6
United Kingdom 3.9
Europe 6.8
Rest of World 2.1

100.0



Statutory  
information

Primary 
statements

Notes to annual  
financial statements

Company annual 
financial statements

Appendices to the  
audit committee report

LEWIS GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2021 98

Duncan Westcott (72)
BSc Economics, FCA (UK), CA(SA)
Independent non-executive director	
Chairperson of the Audit and Risk committees. Member of the Remuneration and Nominations committees.
Appointed as director on 1 December 2017

Directorships
Monarch Insurance Company Limited, Standard Bank Mauritius and Balwin Properties.

Expertise and experience
Accounting, financial and general business management. Duncan spent the majority of his full time career in the auditing 
profession where he fulfilled a number of leadership roles in the human resources and corporate finance functions in 
addition to his client facing responsibilities.

Specific contribution to the Board
Duncan is an experienced non-executive director on the Board and acts as the chairperson of the Audit and Risk 
committees. In addition, he is currently Chairman of the Standard Bank Mauritius Board. The group benefits from his 
training and wide-ranging experience in the retail, construction and financial services industries.

Daphne Motsepe (64)
BCompt, MBA
Independent non-executive director	
Member of the Audit, Risk, Remuneration, nominations, and Social, ethics and transformation committees.
Appointed as director on 1 June 2017

Directorships
Kapela Holdings (Pty) Limited, NEC XON Holdings (Pty) Limited, Trustee of Alexander Forbes Community Trust.

Experience and expertise
Daphne is an experienced banking executive and company director. She was formerly Chief executive of Absa card and 
unsecured lending at Absa Bank and also served as managing director of Postbank. She has previously served as  
non-executive director on the Boards of Investec Bank, Highveld Steel and Vanadium, Edcon, Mercantile Bank,  
Woolworths Financial Services, Rand Mutual Assurance and Thebe Investment Corporation. Her skills combine strategic, 
business and financial skills.

Specific contribution to the Board
Daphne’s Board experience includes serving as chairperson of Remuneration as well as Social ethics and transformation 
committees of other Boards and serving as a member of the Audit, Risk as well as Nominations/directors affairs 
committees.

Tapiwa Njikizana (45)
CA(SA) JSE Registered IFRS Advisor
Independent non-executive director	
(Zimbabwean)
Member of the Audit, Risk, Remuneration and Nominations committees.
Appointed as director on 19 August 2019

Directorships
W.consulting SA (Pty) Ltd

Experience and expertise
Tapiwa is an executive director at W.consulting SA (Pty) Limited. He has previously served as a non-executive director on 
the Board of Iliad Africa Limited and Mercantile Bank Holdings Limited. 

He was recognised for his contribution to the consulting industry receiving the “Top Consulting Professional” at the Sanlam 
South African Professional Services Awards – 2018.

Tapiwa has held roles in leading industry bodies and committees including as a member of the Accounting Practice 
Committee of SAICA, and as a member of the Financial Reporting Investigation Panel (formerly, GAAP Monitoring Panel) 
of the JSE.

Specific contribution to the Board
Tapiwa is an experienced non-executive director with expertise in the financial services sector including experience 
chairing audit and technology committees for other entities, as well as experience on the remuneration and nomination 
committees of the Company. 

Appendix A:  
Audit committee profiles
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Appendix B:  
Audit committee attendance

The number of audit committee meetings held during the year was affected by the national lockdown declared in terms of 
the Disaster Management Act, 2002 by the government on 27 March 2020. 

2020/2021 
Audit 

committee
 meeting

 attendance

Number of meetings 3

Non-executive directors
D Westcott(1) 3
Prof. F Abrahams(2) 3
A Bodasing(2) 3
D Motsepe(1) 3
T Njikizana(1) 3
H Saven(2) 3

Executive directors
J Enslin(2) 3
J Bestbier(2) 3

(1)   Attended as a member throughout the year
(2)   Attended as an invitee throughout the year



Non-executive directors: Hilton Saven (Independent non-executive chairman), Prof. Fatima Abrahams,  
Adheera Bodasing, Daphne Motsepe, Tapiwa Njikizana, Duncan Westcott

Executive directors: Johan Enslin (Chief executive officer)
Jacques Bestbier (Chief financial officer)

Company secretary: Ntokozo Makomba

Transfer secretaries: Computershare Investor Services (Pty) Ltd; 
Private Bag X9000, Saxonwold, 2132, South Africa
Rosebank Towers, 15 Biermann Avenue, Rosebank, 2196, South Africa.

Auditors: PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc.

Sponsor: UBS South Africa (Pty) Ltd

Debt sponsor: Absa Bank Limited, acting through its Corporate and Investment Banking Division

Registered office: 53A Victoria Road, Woodstock, 7925

Registration number: 2004/009817/06

Share code: LEW

ISIN: ZAE 000058236

Bond code: LEWI
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